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THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE
ATTENTION. If you are in any doubt about the action you should take or the
contents of this document you should consult your financial adviser, solicitor,
accountant or other independent financial adviser authorised under the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 as amended from time to time
(FSMA), who specialises in advising on the acquisition of, or subscription to,
shares and other securities.
This document comprises a prospectus (the “Prospectus”) relating to
InnovaDerma plc (the “Company or the Issuer”) and has been prepared in
accordance with the Prospectus Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (the
“FCA”) made under section 73A of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000
(as amended). A copy of this Prospectus once approved by the FCA will be filed
with the FCA and be made available to the public as required by section 3.2 of
the Prospectus Rules.
Applications will be made to the UK Listing Authority for all of the issued and to
be issued Ordinary Shares to be admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing
Authority (the “Official List”) (by way of a standard listing under Chapter 14 of the
listing rules published by the UK Listing Authority under section 73A of FSMA as
amended from time to time (the “Listing Rules”) and to the London Stock
Exchange plc (the “London Stock Exchange”) for such Ordinary Shares to be
admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed
securities (together, “Admission”).
The shares on issue prior to Admission (the “Existing Shares”) are currently
admitted to the Marché Libre of the Euronext Paris. The Issuer intends to delist
the Existing Shares from the Marché Libre within 60 working days of the Existing
Shares admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority (the “Official List”)
(by way of a standard listing under Chapter 14 of the listing rules published by
the UK Listing Authority under section 73A of FSMA as amended from time to
time (the “Listing Rules”) and to the London Stock Exchange plc (the “London
Stock Exchange”) for such Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on the
London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities (together,
“Admission”) . Admission of the Existing Shares is expected to become effective,
and dealings in the Shares are expected to commence on the London Stock
Exchange, at 8.00 a.m. (London time) on 2 August 2016. These dates and times
may be changed without further notice.
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Admission of the Subscription Shares is expected after the Offer Closing Date in
accordance with the Timetable of Principal Events in section 4.1 of this
Prospectus.
The Company and its Directors (whose names and functions appear in Part 13:
Directors, Senior Managers and Corporate Governance of this Prospectus),
accept responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best
of the knowledge of the Company and the Directors, who have taken all
reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this
Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to
affect its import.
Prospective investors should read the whole of this Prospectus and, in particular,
Part 2: Risk Factors for a discussion of certain risks and other factors that should
be considered in connection with an investment in the Shares.
Potential investors should consult their stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor,
accountant or other independent financial advisor before investing in the
Company. Potential investors should also consider the Risk Factors relating to
the Company set out on pages 27 to 39 of this document.
It is emphasised that applications are intended to be made for the Existing
Shares and (after close of the Offer) the newly issued Subscription Shares to
be admitted to the the Official List of the UK Listing Authority (the “Official List”)
(by way of a standard listing under Chapter 14 of the listing rules published by
the UK Listing Authority under section 73A of FSMA as amended from time to
time (the “Listing Rules”) and to the London Stock Exchange plc (the “London
Stock Exchange”) for such Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on the
London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities (together,
“Admission”).
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INNOVADERMA PLC
(Incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 9226823 and registered as a public
limited company under the Companies Act 2006)
Offer for Subscription of up to 2,000,000 Ordinary Shares of £0.05 pence each at an Offer Price
expected to be between 150 pence and 450 pence per Ordinary Share, and Admission of up to
2,000,000 Ordinary Shares to the Official List by way of Standard Listing under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules, and
to trading on the London Stock Exchange Main Market for listed securities,
and
Admission of 10,238,970 Ordinary Shares to the Official List by way of Standard Listing under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules,
and
to trading on the London Stock Exchange Main Market for listed securities
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Offer for subscription
Number of Shares available (Offer Size)

Between 666,667 and
2,000,000

Offer Price (per share)

Between 150 pence and 450
pence per share.

Type of shares

Ordinary

Ordinary Share capital of the Issuer
following close of the Offer assuming
full subscription of the Offer Shares:
By Number

1. If the Offer size is set at the

Number

12,238,970

Number

10,905,637

Amount

£18,358,455

Amount

£49,075,367

Maximum of 2,000,000 Shares

2. If the Offer size is set at the
666,667 Shares
By Amount
3. If the Offer size is set at
2,000,000 Shares, and the
Offer price is set at the
minimum of 150 pence per
Share.
4. If the Offer size is set at
666,667 Shares, and the Offer
price is set at the maximum of
450 pence per Share.

Offer Open Date

2 August 2016

Offer Close Date

10 October 2016

There is no aggregate minimum subscription and the Offer is not conditional. The subscription list for
the Offer Shares will open on the Offer Open Date and may be closed at any time thereafter, but not
later than 3pm on the Offer Close Date unless, at the discretion of the Directors, it is extended beyond
that date. The terms and conditions and procedures for application are set out in this Prospectus and
the Application Form is attached to this Prospectus. Application will be made for the Subscription
Shares to be admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority (the “Official List”) (by way of a
standard listing under Chapter 14 of the listing rules published by the UK Listing Authority under
section 73A of FSMA as amended from time to time (the “Listing Rules”) and to the London Stock
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Exchange plc (the “London Stock Exchange”) for such Ordinary Shares to be admitted to trading on
the London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities (together, “Admission”)
after the Offer is closed.
This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy Shares in any
jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful and, in particular, is not for distribution in the
United States, Canada, Australia, the Republic of South Africa, or Japan. The Shares have not been
and will not be registered under the applicable securities laws of any of the aforementioned countries
and may not be offered or sold, subject to certain exceptions, in or to residents or nationals of such
countries. The distribution of this Prospectus in other jurisdictions may be restricted by law and therefore
persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes should inform themselves about and observe
any such restrictions.
In addition to paper copies of this Prospectus being available at the Issuer’s London Office, this
Prospectus, as well as announcements in relation to it and the Issuer, will be published on the Issuer’s
Website at http://www.innovadermaplc.com. The electronic version of this document will be in identical
form form to the paper version, particularly in relation to all content of the document, except that minor
layout differences may arise as is typical between a paper and electronic copy of a document.
Investors should only rely on the information contained in this document. No person has been
authorised to give any information or make any representations in relation to the Company other than
those contained in this document and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be
relied upon as having been so authorised by the Company, its Directors, or any of their Representatives.
The Company will comply with its obligation to publish a supplementary prospectus containing further
updated information required by law or by any regulatory authority but assumes no further obligation to
publish additional information.
Application will be made to the FCA for all of the Shares, issued and to be issued, to be admitted to
the standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and to London Stock Exchange for such
Shares to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s main market for listed securities.
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1.

Summary
Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as ‘Elements’. These elements are
numbered in Sections A – E (A.1 – E.7).
This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of
securities and Issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be
gaps in the numbering sequence of the Elements.
Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of
securities and Issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the
Element. In this case a short description of the Element is included in the summary with the
mention of ‘not applicable’.

Section A – Introduction and warnings
A.1

Warning

Warning that:
•

this summary should be read as an introduction to the
prospectus;

•

any decision to invest in the securities should be based on
consideration of the prospectus as a whole by the investor;

•

where a claim relating to the information contained in this
prospectus is brought before a court, the plaintiff investor
might, under the national legislation of the Member States,
have to bear the costs of translating the Prospectus before
the legal proceedings are initiated; and

•

Civil Liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled
the summary including any translation thereof, but only if the
summary is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read
together with the other parts of the prospectus or it does not
provide, when read together with the other parts of the
prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when
considering whether to invest in such securities.

A.2

Subsequent resale of

Not applicable. No resale of securities is sought by the Issuer.

securities or final
placement of securities
through financial
intermediaries
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Section B – Issuer
B.1

The legal and

InnovaDerma PLC, UK Company Number 9226823

commercial
name of the
Issuer.
B.2

The domicile and The Issuer was incorporated as InnovaDerma PLC in England and Wales
legal form of the

on 19 September 2014.

Issuer, the

The principal legislation under which the Issuer operates is the Companies

legislation under Act 2006, to the extent in force, and regulations made thereunder. The
which the Issuer

liability of the members is limited.

operates and its
country of
incorporation.
B.3

Issuer’s:

The main operating company of the InnovaDerma Group, InnovaDerma Aus

(a)

operations & NZ Pty Ltd (InnovaDerma ANZ), was incorporated on 26 August 2013 to

(b)

principal

acquire the global distribution rights for the Leimo Hair-loss Treatment

activities,

System range of ‘at home’ male & female hair loss treatments (Leimo

products

Business) from the previous distributors. It acquired the Leimo Business on

and

31 August 2013 and as at the date of the last audited accounts it contributed

services

approximately 90% of the InnovaDerma Group’s gross revenue.

(c)

(d)

principal
markets

InnovaDerma ANZ has also acquired a range of further assets which are
complementary to the Leimo range and set out in further detail below.
InnovaDerma PLC was incorporated on 19 September 2014 to become the
holding company for InnovaDerma ANZ and the other companies in the
InnovaDerma Group, for the purpose of listing them on a recognised stock
exchange. These acquisitions were completed on 29 May 2015 so that all of
those companies became and remain wholly owned subsidiaries of
InnovaDerma PLC with the exception of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd (which was a
wholly owned subsidiary until 1 December 2015, at which time 20% of that
company was sold to third parties). The company was listed on the GXG
Main Quote in London on 20 March 2015 and on the Marché Libre of the
Euronext Paris SA on 6 May 2015. The GXG Main Quote market closed on
18 August 2015 and is no longer in operation. The Marché Libre is currently
the primary trading exchange for the Issuer’s Shares.
The Leimo Business operated by InnovaDerma ANZ has been in operation
for over 9 years (7 of which years were prior to it being acquired by
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InnovaDerma ANZ) and has clients in over 40 countries, and so is expected
to provide a stable base revenue for the InnovaDerma Group. The
transactions which follow are intended to both broaden and deepen the
InnovaDerma product range, and significantly increase the revenues and
profits of the business operated by the InnovaDerma Group overall.
On 1 October 2013 InnovaDerma ANZ acquired the Australian and New
Zealand distribution rights for Pollogen non-invasive, aesthetic skin-care
treatments from Pollogen Ltd. Pollogen Ltd, an Israeli company, is amongst
one of the largest and most well-known companies operating in the clinically
proven anti-ageing sector. The Pollogen product range accounted for
approximately ten percent of the InnovaDerma Group’s gross revenue at the
date the last audited accounts were issued.
On 9 April 2015 the Issuer acquired the Assets of PROS International
Company Limited (PROS) in exchange for the transfer to PROS of 626,400
Shares. The assets of PROS include all of the intellectual property rights in
relation to the Leimo range of products for which InnovaDerma ANZ already
held the global distribution rights.
On 29 May 2015 InnovaDerma PLC acquired 100% of the issued share
capital of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd for a purchase price of $50,000 (it should be
noted that on 1 December 2015 the Issuer disposed of 20% of its holding in
Skinny Tan to third parties, and accordingly the Issuer now owns 80% of the
issued share capital). Skinny Tan Pty Ltd is a company which develops,
manufactures, distributes and sells a self-tanning product under the trade
mark ‘Skinny Tan’. Based on unaudited and unverified accounts provided
immediately prior to the purchase by Skinny Tan Pty Ltd the business
generated $1,320,000 in sales for a profit of $3,500 in the year from 1 July
2013 to 30 June 2014 and $560,335 for a loss of $74,486 in the nine
months from 1 July 2014 to 30 March 2015. At the time the 31 December
2015 unaudited accounts were compiled Skinny Tan appeared to have
operated as a profitable business unit and contributed to the overall net
profit of the InnovaDerma Group, however as the net profit margin for that
period is only 3.6% and the figures are unaudited the Skinny Tan result
should only be treated as preliminary at this stage. The Board of
InnovaDerma expects that now that the acquisition has been substantially
integrated into the InnovaDerma Group it will be able to grow both the
revenue and profit figures for the Skinny Tan Business.
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The acquisition of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd expands InnovaDerma’s product
range, and gives it access to the extensive Skinny Tan reseller network in
Australia, New Zealand, UK, Europe and South Africa.
The Board do not consider that there will be any further acquisitions over the
next 12 months.
The Company is currently implementing a global strategy, as a result of
securing exclusive agreements with major distributors to create a
comprehensive, world-wide distribution network for the Leimo product
range. In Australia alone this has already resulted in the doubling of the
number of retail, reseller accounts for Leimo over the past twelve months.
As the Leimo and Skinny Tan distribution networks are highly
complementary both networks are expected to continue to grow rapidly over
the next twelve months.
InnovaDerma’s flagship product, Leimo, is an approved product to treat
mild to moderate hair loss and has received approval from the Ministry of
Food and Drug Safety (MFDS), in Korea, is included on the Australian
Register of Therapeutic Goods (ARTG) by TGA (Therapeutic Goods
Administration of Australia) and the equivalent Medsafe (New Zealand
Department of Health) database (WAND) as a product for treating male and
female hair loss.

B.4a Industry trends
affecting Issuer

Androgenic alopecia, the technical name for common hair loss, affects both
sexes and is estimated to affect approximately 30% of women (female
pattern hair loss) and 60% of men (male pattern hair loss).

B.5

If the Issuer is

The Issuer is the parent company of InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd which

part of a group, a operates the primary InnovaDerma Business. It is also the parent company
description of the of InnovaDerma NZ Ltd, InnovaDerma Philippines Inc, InnovaDerma
group and the

International Limited, InnovaDerma UK Ltd and Innova Science Inc, all of

Issuer's position

which are currently inactive but will be used in due course to operate

within the group. separate divisions of the InnovaDerma Group’s business.
Skinny Tan Pty Ltd was acquired on 29 May 2015 as the company that
operates the Skinny Tan Business.
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All of the subsidiaries are wholly owned by Issuer, with the exception of
Skinny Tan Pty Ltd of which, the Issuer owns 80% (it should be noted that
until 1 December 2015 the Issuer owned 100% of the issued share capital
but then disposed of 20% of its holding to third parties, and accordingly the
Issuer now owns 80% of the issued share capital of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd).

InnovaDerma PLC
UK Coy No: 9226823
InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd
Australian Coy No: 165 472 015
InnovaDerma Philippines Inc
Philippine Coy No: CS201434020
InnovaDerma NZ Ltd
NZ Coy No: 505 6800
InnovaDerma UK Ltd
UK Coy No: 9028508
InnovaDerma International Limited
HK Company Registry No.1984312
Skinny Tan Pty Ltd, Australian Coy
No: 156 002 103

Innova Science, Inc. United States,
Delaware Coy No: 5720260

B.6

Notifiable

The following table shows all shareholders with interests of greater than 4%

interests under

in the Issuer. Please note that values are rounded to two decimal places.

Issuer’s national
laws
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Investor Name

Percent

Percent

Shareholding of

Shareholding Issuer

Issuer (prior to offer)

(after at full
subscription
assuming that the
Offer size is set at
2,000,000 Shares,
and a minimum Offer
price of 150 pence
per Share

Zaymar Investments

58.6%

49.02

6.12%

5.12%

Percent

Percent

Shareholding of

Shareholding Issuer

Issuer (prior to offer)

(after at full

Pty Ltd
PROS International
Company Limited

Investor Name

subscription
assuming that the
Offer size is set at
666,667 Shares, and
a minimum Offer
price of 450 pence
per Share
Zaymar Investments

58.6%

55.01

6.12%

5.74%

Pty Ltd
PROS International
Company Limited

The major Shareholders have the same voting rights as all other
Shareholders. There are no additional rights associated with the Shares
which have any effect on control of the Issuer. There are no measures in
place to prevent the rights of the majority shareholders being abused.

B.7

Key historical

As the Issuer was only incorporated in September 2014 its historical

financial

financial information is limited, however, provides a robust view into the

information

InnovaDerma Business and the Group as a whole. The information below
drawn from the accounts of InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd, the primary
operating entity of the InnovaDerma Group, is considered by the Board to
be relevant to the prospective investors understanding of the historical
performance of the InnovaDerma Business.
Condensed Statement of Profit or Loss for InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty
Ltd
Period from 1 July 2014 to

Period from 26 August
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Revenue

31 December 2014

2013 to 30 June 2014

(Audited)

(Audited)

AU$

AU$
447,705

654,139

Cost of sales

(142,323)

(195,289)

Gross profit

305,382

458,857

Marketing expenses

(284,270)

(201,823)

Administrative expenses

(226,082)

(250,279)

Other expenses

(3,571)

(14,462

Loss before tax

-

7,707

Operating (loss)/profit

(208,541)

-

(Loss)/profit before tax

(208,541)

-

-

-

-

7,707

(208,541)

-

-

-

(208,541)

7,707

(5,676)

(70)

Tax expense
Loss for the period
attributable to members
of the company
Net (loss)/profit for the
period attributable to
members of the Company

Other comprehensive
income
Total comprehensive
(loss)/profit for the period
attributable to members
of the Company

Basic & diluted earnings
per share

Condensed Statement of Financial Position for InnovaDerma Aus & NZ
Pty Ltd
31 December 2014

30 June 2014

(Audited)

(Audited)

AU$

AU$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

820,088

42,507

Trade and other receivables

100,430

21,064

Inventory

212,580

97,930

Other assets
Total current assets

24,211
1,157,309

Non-current assets
Other assets
Intangible assets

161,501
-

2,662

-

358,319

358,319
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Total non-current assets
Total assets

360,981

358,319

1,518,290

519,820

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Other payables
Total current liabilities

346,758

99,077

-

428,350

41,783

-

388,541

527,427

Non-current liabilities

-

Borrowings

1,333,157

Total non-current liabilities

1,333,157

-

Total liabilities

1,721,698

527,427

Net (liabilities/assets)

-

7,607

Equity
Issued Capital
Shares
Accumulated losses

-

100

100

-

(203,508)

7,707

Total Equity

7,607

(Deficit in shareholders’
funds)/total equity and
reserves

(203,408)

-

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income for InnovaDerma PLC
Period from 19

Period from 1

September 2014 July 2015 to 31
Note

to 30 June 2015 December 2015
(Audited)

(Unaudited)

AU$

AU$

1,047,651

3,260,387

Cost of sales

(345,733)

(1,118,831)

Gross profit

701,918

2,141,556

Marketing expenses

(849,347)

(1,055,026)

Administrative expenses

(431,862)

(344,215)

Revenue

7

Depreciation expenses

(917)

Wages and salaries

(184,947)

462,473

Listing expenses

(136,056)

(-)

Other expenses

(40,725)
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Operating profit/(loss)

(900,294)

238,200

Profit/(Loss) before tax

(900,294)

238,200

-

-

(900,294)

238,200

(7,707)

-

Tax expense

Net profit/(loss) for the period
attributable to members of the
Company

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive profit/(loss)

238,200

for the period attributable to
members of the Company

(908,001)

Basic & diluted loss per share
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(0.12)

(0.03)

Condensed Statement of Financial Position for InnovaDerma PLC
31 December 2014

30 June 2015

31 December 2015

(Audited)

(Audited)

(Unaudited)

AU$

AU$

AU$

Current assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

820,088

212,618

receivables

100,430

112,142

Inventory

212,580

341,794

645,313

24,211

69,411

-

1,157,309

735,965

2,043,083

Trade and other

Other assets

316,601
1,082,169

Total current
assets
Non-current
assets
Property, Plant

15,592

and Equipment
Other assets
Intangible assets

2,662

19,807

10,258

358,319

3,418,479

3,427,879

360,981

3,438,286

3,453,729

1,518,290

4,174,251

5,496,812

346,758

788,322

1,416,300

-

688,063

995,505

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other
payables
Borrowings
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Other payables

41,783

-

-

388,541

1,476,385

2,411,805

1,333,157

-

-

Total current
liabilities
Non-current
liabilities
Borrowings
Total noncurrent liabilities

1,333,157

-

-

Total liabilities

1,721,698

1,476,385

2,411,805

(203,408)

2,697,866

3,085,007

100

2,479,468

268,409

Net Assets/
(Liabilities)
Equity
Issued Capital
Shares
Share premium

2,492,674

Merger reserve

(1,308,057)

Foreign exchange

(7,707)

reserve
Accumulated
losses
Other Equity

(203,508)

(958,512)

(720,312)

-

1,176,910-

-

(203,408)

2,697,866

3,085,007

Total Equity and
Reserves/
(Deficit in
Shareholders
Funds)

There have been no significant changes to the financial condition and
operating results of the Group since 31 December 2015, the last financial
period for which audited interim financial information has been published.
The material changes to the Issuer and the Group during the periods for
which historical financial information has been provided include:
-

26 August 2013 InnovaDerma ANZ was incorporated

-

31 August 2013 InnovaDerma ANZ acquires the Leimo Business

-

1 October 2013 InnovaDerma ANZ acquires the Pollogen
distribution rights

-

19 September 2014 InnovaDerma PLC incorporated and acquires
InnovaDerma ANZ

-

9 April 2015 InnovaDerma PLC acquires the PROS IP

-

29 May 2015 InnovaDerma PLC acquires Skinny Tan Pty Ltd
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B.8

Selected key pro PROS Acquisition
forma financial
information

On 9 April 2015, InnovaDerma PLC completed the acquisition of the Assets of PROS
International Company Limited (PROS) in exchange for the transfer to PROS of 626,400
Shares which had a market value of €1,785,240 on 9 April 2015.
On 29 May 2015, InnovaDerma PLC, completed the acquisition of 100 per cent of the issued
shares of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd (Skinny Tan) for a purchase price of $50,000 (it should be noted
that on 1 December 2015 the Issuer disposed of 20% of its holding in Skinny Tan to third
parties, and accordingly the Issuer now owns 80% of the issued share capital).
While later financial information for the Issuer is included in this prospectus it is unaudited
information and the Board has included the information below as it provides an overview based
on the last audited financial information of the Issuer.
Statement of Profit/Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the

Pro-Forma

Pro forma

Pro forma

Pro forma

period from

Adjustment

adjustment

adjustment

adjustments for

Post ProForma
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for

for Skinny

for Skinny

consolidation of

Adjustment

September

acquisition

Tan Pty Ltd

Tan Pty Ltd

Skinny Tan Pty

for the

2014 to 30

of the assets

results 19

acquisition

Ltd

period from

June 2015

of PROS

September

costs

(Audited)

International

2014 – 28

September

Company

May 2015

2014 to 30
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Limited

June 2015

$
$

$

Revenue

1,047,651

-

402,578

-

-

1,450,229

Cost of sales

(345,733)

-

(325,002)

-

-

Gross profit

701,918

-

77,576

-

-

-

-

-

Marketing

(849,347)

-

(36,865)

-

-

(886,204)

(431,662)

-

(110,846)

-

-

(542,708)

-

-

-

-

(184,947)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(670,735)
779,494

expenses
Administrative
expenses
Depreciation
expenses
Wages and

(184,947)

Salaries
Listing

(136,056)

-

Operating loss

(900,294)

-

loss before tax

(900,294)

-

(136,056)

expenses

Tax Expense

Net loss for

-

(900,294)

-

-

(70,127)
-

-

-

(70,127)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(70,127)

-

-

(970,421)

(970,421)

-

(970,421)

the period
attributable to
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members of
the Company

Other

-

-

-

(7,707)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(908,001)

-

(70,127)

-

-

-

-

-

(0.12)

-

(70)

-

-

(7,707)

comprehensiv
e income

Total

(978,128)

comprehensiv
e loss for the
period
attributable to
members of
the Company

Basic & diluted

(0.13)

loss per share
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Because of its nature the pro forma financial information addresses a
hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not represent the Issuer’s actual
financial position or results.
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B.9

Where a profit

Not applicable. No profit forecast or estimate has been made.

forecast or
estimate is
made, state the
figure.
B.10 Audit report

The audit reports are unqualified.

qualifications
B.11 Working capital
In the opinion of the Issuer the Group does not have sufficient working
capital to meet its present requirements, that is for at least the next 12
months following the date of this Prospectus. The Issuer requires the
proceeds of the Subscription Offer to fully implement the strategy detailed in
this Prospectus.
If the Issuer raises insufficient capital pursuant to the capital raising process
outlined in this Prospectus it will slow the expansion of the InnovaDerma
Business by decreasing the funds available for product development,
marketing and sales expenditure. This is likely to have a detrimental effect
on the revenue and profits of the issuer.
The Issuer has sufficient capital to ensure it can continue to operate at its
current level of activity for at least twelve months, and to pay the costs
associated with the Offer and listing process as and when they fall due,
however it requires the full proceeds of the Subscription to provide the
business with the capital for the Issuer to fully execute the growth strategy
that is detailed in this prospectus.
The Issuer has no currently available funding that would allow it to replace
the capital to be raised under the Offer and proceed to fully execute its
growth strategy.
The Offer is not conditional on a minimum amount being raised, and
accordingly it is possible that the Offer will close without being fully
subscribed. In the event that the Offer is not fully subscribed the funds will
be allocated first to the offer and the listing process. Once these expenses
have been paid the allocation of funds will be subject to Board discretion but
is expected to be distributed between all of the categories listed in the Use
of Funds table below
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broadly in accordance with their proportions.
All of the categories in the Use of Funds table can be implemented to a
greater or lesser degree, so investment in them is scalable and will have a
correspondingly proportional impact on the business. The R&D function in
particular can be undertaken directly or through collaborative processes with
partner organisations whereby the funds required can be reduced if this
proves necessary.
Use of Funds

Estimated Amount
Fully Subscribed Offer

•

Acquisitions – integration and growth

£750,000

costs of recent acquisitions.
•

R&D – particularly design,

£750,000

development and approval of laser
helmet to supplement and/or replace
laser comb technology.
•

Marketing – accelerated media

£400,000

strategy for faster market penetration
and revenue.
•

Inventory Increase and Cash Buffer

£850,000

•

Cost of offer and listing process

£250,000

Total

£3,000,000

Section C - Securities
C.1

Securities on offer

When admitted to trading, the Ordinary Shares will be registered
with, International Securities Identification Number (ISIN)
GB00BT9PTW34. The Ordinary Shares will, on Admission, comprise
the entire issued share capital of the Company.
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C.2

Currency of the

Pound Sterling (£)

securities issue.
C.3

Pre-Offer Shares on

As of the date of this Prospectus the Issuer has no limits on its

issue

authorised share capital, the shareholders have expressly approved
the issue of up to a total of 19,596,400 ordinary shares, of which
10,238,970 are issued and fully paid. The Shares have a nominal
value (par value) of £0.05. There are no restrictions on the of the
Offer Shares.
The shares are freely transferable, fully paid and free from any liens,
and any restriction on the right transfer.

C.4

Rights attaching to the

Subject to any limitations imposed by third parties such as CREST

Shares

and Euroclear, the Subscription Offer Shares include the right to
attend company meetings of shareholders, vote, and receive
dividends and rank equally with the existing Shares of the Issuer.

C.5

A description of any

There are no restrictions on the Offer Shares.

restrictions on the free

The shares are freely transferable, fully paid and free from any liens,

transferability of the

and any restriction on the right transfer.

securities.
C.6

Shares subject to

Application will be made to the FCA for all of the Shares, issued and

application for

to be issued, to be admitted to the standard listing segment of the

admission to trading

Official List of the FCA and to London Stock Exchange for such
Shares to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s
main market for listed securities.
Upon being approved for admission to trading on the London Stock
Exchange the Issuer will commence the process of having the
shares delisted from the Marche Libre segment of the Euronext
Paris. If the exchange is satisfied that the relevant criteria are met
then the delisting process is expected to take approximately 60 days,
however delisting applications are handled on a case by case basis
by the Euronext Paris and their success and timing is ultimately
dependent on that organisation and is not in the control of the Issuer.

C.7

Dividend policy.

No dividend policy has currently been agreed or tabled by the Board.
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Section D - Risks
D.1

Key risks relating to the
Issuer and its industry

If the Issuer raises insufficient capital pursuant to the capital raising
process outlined in this Prospectus it will slow the expansion of the
InnovaDerma Business by decreasing the funds available for
product development, marketing and sales expenditure. This is
likely to have a detrimental effect on the revenue and profits of the
issuer.
If regulatory requirements change for product registration in one or
more of the InnovaDerma markets the Issuer may have to withdraw
specific products from markets where regulation cannot be dealt
with, and this will result in an associated decrease in revenues and
profits.
The anticipated benefits of the Issuer’s acquisition strategy may not
materialise, which may have a negative impact on anticipated future
revenue and profit levels.

The new assets and businesses that the Issuer has recently
acquired or seeks to acquire may bring with them operational and
legal risks which were not evident from the pre-acquisition due
diligence undertaken by the Issuer. If this is the case then the Issuer
may be exposed to risks it has not anticipated and for which it is not
prepared, which in turn may result in one or more of increased costs,
decreased revenues, decreased profits all of which may impact
negatively on the value of the Issuer’s business.
The Issuer’s financial performance will be affected by variations in
the general economic environment, as well as general conditions
affecting the Issuer’s investments, such as a decrease in capital
values and weakening of sales revenue.
D.3

Key risks relating to the
Shares

There can be no assurance that an active trading market for the
Shares will develop, or if developed, can be sustained following the
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closing of the Offer. If an active trading market is not developed or
maintained, the
liquidity and trading price of Shares could be adversely affected.
On completion of the Issuer’s application to be admitted to the
London Stock Exchange Main Market, the market price of the
Ordinary Shares may fluctuate significantly due to a change in
sentiment in the market regarding the Company’s business, financial
condition or results of operations.
Such fluctuations may be influenced by a number of factors beyond
the Company’s control, including but not limited to the market’s
perception of the likelihood of completion of the Share Issue, actual
or anticipated changes in the Issuer’s performance or that of its
competitors, the expectations and recommendations of analysts who
cover the Company’s business and industry, regulatory changes
affecting the Issuer’s operations, large sales or purchases of the
Ordinary Shares (or the perception that such transactions may
occur) and general market and economic conditions.

Section E - Offer
E.1

Expenses relating to

The Issuer anticipates that upon full subscription of the Offer, the

Offer

Issuer will have raised £3,000,000 (with a price range of 150 pence
up to 450 pence, and an offer size of 2,000,000 down to 666,667
shares).
The costs of the Offer and the listing process on the London Stock
Exchange Main Market have been inextricably connected, but the
combined costs of the Offer and the listing on the London Stock
Exchange Main Market are not expected to exceed £250,000. The
net proceeds of the offer, if it is fully subscribed, are estimated to be
£2,750,000. The Issuer does not expect the costs to vary
significantly if the Offer closes without being fully subscribed.
The costs associated with the Offer will be paid by the Issuer, and
the Issuer has the resources to pay such costs even if the Offer
closes without having raised any capital.
The Company will receive the proceeds in respect of the subscribed
Shares on Offer.
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E.2a Reasons for the offer,
use of proceeds

This offer will be used primarily to accelerate the Group’s growth by
funding the integration of recent acquisitions, development of new
products, increased product marketing, larger inventory holdings (in
order to reduce cost of goods sold) and to pay the costs of the offer.
The funding of increased inventory holdings will also have a positive
impact on the working capital available to the Group in that it will
reduce the extent of the Issuer’s reliance on accounts receivable
payments being made promptly and in full.
The Offer is not conditional on a minimum amount of capital being
raised, and this should be taken into account when reviewing the
table which follows. The Issuer anticipates that upon full subscription
of the Offer, the Issuer will have raised £3,000,000 (with a price
range of 150 pence up to 450 pence, and an offer size of 2,000,000
down to 666,667 shares).

Use of Funds

Estimated Amount £
Fully Subscribed Offer

•

Acquisitions – integration

£750,000

and growth costs of recent
acquisitions
•

R&D – particularly design,

£750,000

development and approval of
laser helmet to supplement
and/or replace laser comb
technology
•

Marketing – accelerated

£400,000

media strategy for faster
market penetration and
revenue.
•

Cost of offer and listing

£250,000

process
•

Inventory Increase and Cash

£850,000

Buffer
Total

£3,000,000

In the event that the Offer is not fully subscribed the funds will be
allocated first to the offer and the listing process. Once these
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expenses have been paid the allocation of funds will be subject to
Board discretion but is expected to be distributed between all of the
categories listed in the Use of Funds table above broadly in
accordance with the proportions set out there.

E.3

Terms and conditions of

a. There is no aggregate minimum subscription and the Offer is

the Offer

not conditional.
b. Applications must be for at least 5,000 Shares and then in
multiples of 2,000 Shares.
c.

Under the Offer, all Offer Shares will be sold at the Offer
Price, which will be determined by the Issuer. It is currently
expected that the Offer Price will be within the Offer Price
Range of 150 pence per share and 450 pence per share.
The Offer Size will enable the Issuer to raise up to
£3,000,000, and the Offer size will be set once the Offer
Price is determined. Therefore, if an Offer price of 150 pence
per Share is set, (the minimum price in the range) then, the
Offer size will be set at 2,000,000 Shares. Alternatively if an
Offer price of 450 pence per Share is set (the maximum
price in the range) then, the Offer size will be set at 666,667
Shares.
d. The Offer price is expected to be between 150 pence and
450 pence per Share (Price Range). The Offer Price, is
expected to be announced on or about 31 August 2016 in
the Pricing Statement. The Pricing Statement, which will
contain, among other things, the Offer Price and Offer Size,
will be available online at www.innovaderma.com and
published in printed form and available free of charge at the
Company’s registered office at 27 Old Gloucester Street
London WC1N 3AX United Kingdom. It is currently expected
that the Offer Price and the Offer Size will be within the Price
Range and the Offer Size Range, respectively. A withdrawal
right arises if the Offer Price is above the Offer Price Range,
or if the Offer Size is above or below the Offer Size Range.
An announcement will be made via a Regulatory Information
Service and prospective investors will have a statutory right
to withdraw their offer to purchase Offer Shares pursuant to
section 87Q of the FSMA. The arrangements for withdrawing
offers to purchase Offer Shares would be made clear in the
announcement. Unless required to do so by law or
regulation, the Company does not envisage publishing any
supplementary prospectus or pricing statement until
announcement of the Offer Price and Offer Size.
e. The subscription list for the Offer Shares will open on 2
August 2016 (Offer Open Date) and may be closed at any
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time thereafter, but not later than 3pm on 10 October 2016
(Offer Close Date) unless, at the discretion of the Directors,
it is extended beyond that date.

Expected timetable of principal events
Event

Date

Publication of this document

25 July 2016

Admission of 10,238,970 Existing

8.00 a.m. on

Shares, commencement of dealings in

2 August 2016

ordinary shares
Offer open date

2 August 2016

Announcement of the Offer Price and

7.a.m. 31 August 2016

Offer Size, publication of the Pricing
Statement
Offer close date and notification of

10 October 2016

allocations of Ordinary Shares
CREST members' accounts credited in

8.00 a.m. on 24 October 2016

respect of Ordinary Shares
Admission of up to 2,000,000

8.00 a.m. on 24 October 2016

Subscription Shares, commencement
of dealings in ordinary shares
Share certificates despatched

31 October 2016

All references to time in this document are to London time,
unless otherwise stated.
The Pricing Statement will not automatically be sent to persons who
receive this document but it will be available free of charge at the
Company’s registered office at 27 Old Gloucester Street London
WC1N 3AX United Kingdom. In addition, the Pricing Statement will
(subject to certain restrictions) be published online at
www.innovaderma.com.
None of the Shares may be offered for sale or purchase or be sold or
delivered, and this Prospectus and any other offering material in
relation to the Shares may not be circulated, in any jurisdiction where
to do so would breach any securities laws or regulations of any such
jurisdiction or give rise to any obligation to obtain any consent,
approval or permission, or to make any application, filing or
registration.
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E.4

Material interests and

The following table demonstrates the notifiable interests (greater

conflicts

than 4 percent) in the Issuer, of Directors and managers within the
Issuer. Please note the values are rounded to two decimal places.

Percentage
Connection

Investor Name

shareholding of
Issuer (prior to
offer)

Haris

Zaymar

Chaudhry

Investments

58.6%

Percentage shareholding of Issuer
(after offer at full subscription,
assuming that the Offer size is set at
2,000,000 Shares, and a minimum
Offer price of 150 pence per Share)
49.02

Pty Ltd

Percentage
Connection

Investor Name

shareholding of
Issuer (prior to
offer)

Haris

Zaymar

Chaudhry

Investments

58.6%

Percentage shareholding of Issuer
(after offer at full subscription,
assuming that the Offer size is set at
666,667 Shares, and a minimum
Offer price of 450 pence per Share)
55.01%

Pty Ltd

E.5

Name of the person or

InnovaDerma PLC is the Issuer of the Shares. There are no lock-up

entity offering to sell the agreements in place or proposed in relation to the Issuer’s Existing
security.

Ordinary Shares or the Offer Shares.

Lock-up agreements:
the parties involved;
and indication of the
period of the lock up.
E.6

Dilution resulting from

The Existing Ordinary Shares will represent approximately between

Offer

84.00% (if the Offer size is set at 2,000,000 Shares, and a minimum
Offer price of 150 pence per Share is set) and 94.00% (if the Offer
size is set at 666,667 Shares, and a maximum Offer price of 450
pence per Share is set) of the total issued Ordinary Shares in the
event that the Offer is fully subscribed.

E.7

Estimated expenses

Not applicable; there are no expenses charged to the investor by the

charged to the investor

Issuer.

by the Issuer or the
offeror.
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2.

Risk Factors

The business activities of the Issuer are subject to various risks that may impact on the
future performance of the Issuer. Some of these risks can be mitigated by the use of
safeguards and appropriate systems and controls, but some are outside the control of
the Issuer and cannot be mitigated. There are a number of risk factors that investors
should consider and seek independent advice on, before deciding whether or not to
invest in Shares. The material risk factors are included below.
The following list of risk factors are those considered to be material risks by the Board
and ought not to be taken as an exhaustive list of the risks faced by the Issuer or by
investors in the Issuer. The following factors may in the future materially affect the
financial performance of the Issuer and the value of the Shares offered under this
Prospectus. Therefore, the Shares to be issued pursuant to this Prospectus carry no
guarantee with respect to the payment of dividends, returns of capital or the market
value of those securities.
Potential investors should consider that an investment in the Issuer is high risk,
speculative, and should consult their professional advisers before deciding
whether to apply for Shares pursuant to the Offer contained in this Prospectus.

2.1

Risk factors relating to the Issuer and its industry

2.

Economic

2.1.1

The InnovaDerma Group consists of companies located in Australia, the UK,
Hong Kong, New Zealand, the United States of America, and the Philippines
and services markets in those and other countries. Changes in Australia, the
United Kingdom and world economic conditions generally may adversely affect
the financial performance of any one or more of the members of the
InnovaDerma Group, and therefore the Issuer. Factors such as inflation,
currency fluctuations, interest rates, industrial disruption and economic growth
may impact on future operations and earnings.

2.1.2

Insufficient capital raised
The Issuer requires proceeds of the Subscription to provide the business with
the capital for the Issuer to comprehensively execute the growth strategy that is
detailed in this prospectus.
If the Issuer raises insufficient capital pursuant to the capital raising process
outlined in this Prospectus it will slow the expansion of the InnovaDerma
Business by decreasing the funds available for product development, marketing
and sales expenditure. This is likely to have a detrimental effect on the
revenue and profits of the issuer.
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Investors should note that the Offer is not conditional on raising minimum net
proceeds and so an investor in the Issuer cannot be certain that the Issuer will
be able to execute its growth strategy as set out in this document despite the
Offer closing.
2.1.3

Limited history and new ventures
The Issuer was incorporated as InnovaDerma PLC in England and Wales on 19
September 2014. The principal legislation under which the Issuer operates is
the Companies Act 2006, to the extent in force, and regulations made
thereunder. The liability of the members is limited.
The Issuer has only relatively recently completed the acquisition of
InnovaDerma ANZ, which is the main operating entity in the Group.
InnovaDerma ANZ in turn had only completed the acquisition of the Leimo
Business approximately one year before that. InnovaDerma ANZ is also
engaged in ongoing market and product development activities which tend to
have up-front costs and result in deferred revenues, depressing both the
revenue and profitability of the Group in the short term. Accordingly, the Issuer
and the Group have an insufficient operating history for a reliable forecast of
their trading prospects to be made.
The prospects of the Issuer must be considered in light of the risks, expenses
and difficulties frequently encountered by investing in companies developing
products, particularly in heavily regulated industries such as the
commercialisation of clinical products, which are subject to commercial
uncertainties relating to regulatory applications and approvals processes.
If the Issuer and its senior management cannot adequately address the
uncertainties and risks associated with its limited history and in any new
ventures that it pursues, this may have a significant detrimental impact on the
operations and profitability of the Issuer and the Group.

2.1.4

Competition
InnovaDerma ANZ competes with other companies, including well resourced
companies in its industry. These competitors will likely have greater financial
and other resources than the Issuer, and as a result, may be in a better position
to compete for future business opportunities. Many of the Issuer’s competitors
compete directly with its products and services in the market place. There can
be no assurance that the Issuer can compete effectively with these competitors.

2.1.5

Consumer Behaviour
The Group operates in a discretionary consumer market which is heavily
dependent on consumer preferences, trends and behaviours. The preferences,
trends and behaviours may change over time in ways over which the Group
has no control, and which result in decreasing sales of the Group's products.

32

2.1.6

Regulatory– procurement and maintenance of approvals
In Australia, products with therapeutic claims such as those distributed by the
Issuer are classified and regulated as class II medical devices under the
Therapeutic Goods Act 1989 (Cth). The Therapeutic Good Administration
(TGA) is Australia’s national regulator of therapeutic goods, including class II
medical devices. Each such product must be entered (included) in the
Australian Register of Therapeutic Goods and be manufactured in accordance
with and consistently achieve a defined and approved set of process and
quality standards before it can be made available for sale in Australia.
Other regimes differ in the rigour and detail of their supervisory systems,
however some approval process is required in all of the countries in which the
Issuer or its subsidiaries operate.
As a result, there is a risk that the Group may be unable to develop and
manufacture products that meet all of the regulatory requirements in one or all
of the countries in which it wishes to market. As the regulatory requirements
change from time to time the Group must actively ensure approvals are
maintained. Failure to obtain necessary approvals or maintain such approvals
may cause the Group to stop selling the products to such markets, increase
costs, or frustrate delivery to such markets; and consequently have a material
detrimental impact on the Issuer’s performance.

2.1.7

Product Quality
In the event that there are any issues with the Group's raw materials,
manufacturing processes or supply chain there may be faults with the Group's
products resulting in a product that is undesirable or harmful to consumers.
Such contamination could result in a negative reaction from or health problems
for consumers and damage to the value of the Group’s brands and goodwill
more generally.
Any such issues could have a serious impact on the sales of the Group's
products, potentially across the entire product range, with a resulting drop in
revenues and profits for the Group.

2.1.8

Product Development
The Group currently has a relatively small number of products in a limited
number of markets, and so the revenue will be affected if one of these products
or markets encounters problems. Such problems could include demographic
trends, macro-economic conditions, regulatory changes or changing customer
preferences/
Due to the inherent risks involved in creating new technology and products,
there is also a risk that development costs will be overspent or spent without
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resulting in a successful product, resulting in increased capital requirements,
which may cause delays or cancellation of the release of products.
2.1.9

Cost of remaining competitive
One of the competitive advantages claimed by the Company, and on which
many of its sales targets are based, is the superior performance of its product.
Competitors may release products that make these claims redundant and
additional development expenditure may be required to maintain the market
positioning and market share.

2.1.10

Varying jurisdiction and laws
The business supplies its products in a number of jurisdictions. These
jurisdictions are the subject of different legal systems and laws. If the business
or its personnel are not conversant with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the
products are being delivered, liability may attach to the Issuer, the Group or its
personnel, as the case may be, and cause delay, losses or other impediments
to the continued operation of the business in one or more jurisdictions. This
may have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s profits, its trading results, its
balance sheet and its financial position.

2.1.11

Raw materials procurement costs
The Company is using a variety of materials in order to achieve the
performance characteristics of its products. While the manufacturing processes
have been secured, there are risks that materials will not be available at an
acceptable cost, on time or at all, resulting in failure to meet performance
specifications, or inability to manufacture product to schedule.

2.1.12

Underachieving sales performance risk
Due to the nature of the market for hair loss treatment and anti-ageing skincare
the perceived value and desirability of the product may be affected by press
reports, reviews, competitor advertising and other unknown factors. This could
affect the ability of the Company to achieve its sales targets.

2.1.13

Underachieving acquisitions
The anticipated benefits of the Issuer’s acquisition strategy may not materialise,
which may have a negative impact on anticipated future revenue and profit
levels.

2.1.14

Unforeseen risks from acquisitions
The new assets and businesses that the Issuer has recently acquired may
bring with them operational and legal risks which were not evident from the preacquisition due diligence undertaken by the Issuer. If this is the case then the
Issuer may be exposed to risks it has not anticipated and for which it is not
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prepared, which in turn may result in one or more of increased costs,
decreased revenues or decreased profits, all of which may impact negatively on
the value of the Issuer’s business.

2.1.15

Dependence on key personnel
The Company is heavily reliant on key personnel (Haris Chaudhry). The
Issuer’s future depends, in part, on its ability to attract and retain key personnel.
It may not be able to hire and retain such personnel at compensation levels
consistent with its existing or intended compensation and salary structure. Its
future also depends on the continued contributions of its executive
management team and other key management and technical personnel, the
loss of whose services may be difficult to replace.

2.1.16

Distance from existing and planned markets
The business operates in a number of markets, and is planning on ventures
into many additional markets. Both existing and planned markets can be long
distances away from the Group’s manufacturing and distribution centres. Such
distances require staff and suppliers to travel for extended periods and can be
subject to delays, cancellations and other factors which may prevent the
business from delivering products and services to clients in a timely fashion, or
at all. Delays and cancellations may have immediate or ongoing consequences
for the customers and the business relationship with them. As a result, this may
have an adverse effect on the Issuer’s profits, its results, its balance sheet and
its financial position.

2.1.17

Failure of marketing campaigns to deliver revenue
InnovaDerma relies heavily on its marketing and advertising campaigns in
multiple jurisdictions and a variety of media through which client leads are
secured and sales are generated. There is a risk that one or more of these
avenues fails to deliver the expected lead volume, which would mean
marketing expenses (one of the major expenses of the Group) are not offset by
an accompanying revenue increase and that both revenues and profits would
decrease accordingly.

2.1.18

Risk of personal injury
While the Board is not aware of any personal injury resulting from a product
range currently (or formerly) distributed by the Group, the possibility remains
that one or more people might experience moderate or serious side effects
from using products of the Group. Such an issue could result in litigation,
product recall or both and could have a major impact on the Groups financial
performance.
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2.1.19

Unforeseen increases in R&D expenses
The group is aiming to develop significant additions to its product range through
internal research and development and through acquisition of owners of
suitable intellectual property assets. There is a risk that the expenses required
for development or purchase of such intellectual property could exceed the
amount budgeted for such activities to the point that either the development or
purchase becomes so expensive that the profit is reduced by a material
amount, or the entire process is no longer viable which is likely to result in a
decrease in revenues in the mid to long term.

2.1.20

Theft of intellectual property
The group relies on its intellectual property to increase existing revenues, build
new revenue channels, partner with other entities to expand its retail presence
and to grow the business generally. One or more partners, distributors, staff or
third parties could misuse the Group’s intellectual property in order to compete
with the Group’s business activities. This could have the impact of reducing the
Group’s market share, revenues or profits, or involve the Group in protracted
and expensive litigation. All of these consequences would negatively affect the
financial position of the Group.

2.2

Risk factors relating to the Shares

2.2

Dividend risks

2.2.1

If one or more businesses operated by the Issuer or the Group are not profitable,
or the Group is not managed effectively so that profits made in one business must
be used to fund another, this may have an adverse effect on the Group as a
whole and the Issuer may not be profitable. Consequently, the Issuer would not
be able to pay, and shareholders may not receive, dividends.
Pursuant to the dividend policy, the Issuer may determine that it will not pay
dividends at any time or any future time. Consequently, the shareholders would
not receive dividends for the affected period or future period as the case may be.
As at the date of this Prospectus no dividend policy has been tabled or agreed by
the Board.

2.2.2

No Prior market for shares
While the Issuer's shares have not been previously listed on a regulated market,
they have been listed on the GXG Main Quote from 20 March 2015 to 18 August
2015, and on 6 May 2015 were listed on the Marché Libre. The GXG Main Quote
closed on 18 August 2015 and is not a full public exchange, however it did allow
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for the creation of a market in the listed company's shares. Despite being listed
on the GXG Main Quote there was no material trading of the Issuer's Shares
through that exchange and in the opinion of the Board there has been no effective
market for the Shares prior to listing on the Marché Libre.

2.2.3

Post Offer Share Price may fluctuate considerably
In recent years, the stock markets have experienced significant fluctuations that
often have had nothing to do with the results of the companies whose shares
have been traded thereon. Market fluctuations and economic conditions in the
current economic environment may increase the volatility of the Shares. The
market for the Shares may be influenced by economic and market conditions and,
to varying degrees, interest rates, currency exchange rates and inflation rates in
other European and other industrialised countries.
As a result, the price of the Shares following the Offer may be highly volatile.
Factors that may affect the share price include:
a. developments that impact the financial results of the Issuer and fluctuations in
the financial results of the Issuer;
b. changes in market expectations about the valuation of the Issuer;
c. investors' assessments of the Issuer as well as changes in the valuation of its
competitors and the industries and markets in which it operates;
d. investors' perception as to the success and impact of this Offer and the
strategy described in this Prospectus;
e. changes in general conditions in the economy or the financial markets and
other developments affecting the Issuer, its subsidiaries or its competitors;
and
f. potential litigation or regulatory action involving the Issuer and/or its
subsidiaries or industry sectors influencing the businesses of the Issuer
and/or its subsidiaries.
There can be no assurance that events in France, the United Kingdom, Australia,
Asia or elsewhere will not cause market volatility or that such volatility will not
adversely affect the price of the Shares or that economic and market conditions
will not have any other adverse effect.

2.2.4

Sale of substantial numbers of shares following the Subscription Offer
Sales of a substantial number of Shares in the public market following the Offer,
or the perception that these sales might occur, could adversely affect the
prevailing market price for the Shares and materially impair the Issuer’s future
ability to raise capital through offers of Shares or securities relating to the Shares.
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2.2.5

Trading Risks -liquidity
The Issuer cannot guarantee that an active trading market for the Issuer’s
Ordinary Shares will develop or, if developed, can be sustained following the
completion of the Subscription, or that the market price of the Ordinary Shares
will not decline below the Subscription Price thereafter.
The trading price of the Issuer’s Ordinary Shares may be subject to wide
fluctuations in responses to many factors such as stock market fluctuations,
general economic conditions or changes in political sentiment that may adversely
affect the market price of the Ordinary Shares, regardless of the Group’s actual
performance or the conditions in the Group’s key markets. If an active trading
market is not developed or maintained, the liquidity and trading price of the
Ordinary Shares could be adversely affected.

2.2.6

Investors may not be able to realise returns on their investment in Shares
within a period that they would consider to be reasonable

Investments in Shares may be relatively illiquid. There may be a limited number
of Shareholders and this factor, together with the number of Shares expected to
be issued pursuant to the Subscription, may contribute both to infrequent trading
in the Shares on the London Stock Exchange and to volatile Share price
movements. Investors should not expect that they necessarily would be able to
realise their investment in Shares within a period that they would regard as
reasonable. Accordingly, the Shares may not be suitable for short-term
investment. Admission should not be taken as implying that there will be an active
trading market for the Shares. Even if an active trading market develops, the
market price for the Shares may fall below the Subscription Price.

2.2.7

The proposed Standard Listing of the Shares will afford Investors a lower
level of regulatory protection than a Premium Listing
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Application will be made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to the standard
segment of the Official List. Although the Company will be required to comply with
Listing Principles 1 and 2 as set out in Chapter 7 of the Listing Rules, and whilst
the Directors intend to adhere to the standards of corporate governance set out in
the UK Corporate Governance Code, a standard listing will afford investors in the
Company a lower level of regulatory protection than that afforded to investors in a
company with a premium listing (which is subject to additional obligations under
the Listing Rules). In particular, the additional provisions set out in Chapters 6 to
13 of the Listing Rules relevant for companies with a premium listing of equity
securities will not apply to the Company. For example, for as long as the
Company has a standard listing, it is not required to comply with the provisions of,
amongst other things:
Chapter 7 of the Listing Rules, to the extent that they refer to the premium listing
principles;
Chapter 8 of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of a listing sponsor to
guide the Company in understanding and meeting its responsibilities under the
Listing Rules in connection with certain matters. The Company has not appointed
and does not intend to appoint a sponsor in connection with this document or
Main Market Admission;

Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules containing provisions relating to continuing
obligations including, amongst other things, requirements relating to the further
issues of shares and the ability to issue shares at a discount in excess of 10 per
cent.;
Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules regarding significant transactions;
Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules regarding related party transactions; and
Chapter 12 of the Listing Rules regarding purchases by the Company of its
Ordinary Shares.

2.2.8

Admission of the Ordinary Shares may not occur when expected
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Although the Company has applied for admission of the Ordinary Shares to the
standard segment of the Official List and to trading on the Main Market, and it is
expected that these applications will be approved, the Group can give no
assurance that such applications for admission to the Official List or admission to
trading on the Main Market will be approved by the FCA or the London Stock
Exchange or that such applications will be obtained in accordance with the
Group’s current expectations. See the “Expected Timetable of Principal Events
and Offer Statistics” on page 42 of this document for further information on the
expected dates of these events.

2.2.9

Trading risks – Dilution
Under English law, shareholders usually have pre-emption rights to subscribe on
a pro-rata basis for the cash issues of new shares. In the event that the Issuer
was to carry out such issues in the future, certain shareholders may not be able
to participate in such issue and would accordingly have their percentage interest
in the Issuer diluted.

2.2.10

Trading Risks – Shareholder Facility
As a means to raise short-term funds the Issuer may enter into arrangements with
one or more major shareholders to provide debt finance to the Issuer, to be
converted to equity at a future date on terms agreed between the Issuer and the
shareholder/s. The issue of shares in satisfaction of such debt facility will be
dilutive to the other shareholders and may have an impact on the volume and
price of shares traded on the London Stock Exchange.

2.2.11

General factors affecting value of shares
Further, share market conditions may affect the value of the Issuer’s quoted
securities regardless of the Issuer’s operating performance. Share market
conditions are affected by many factors such as:
a. general economic outlook;
b. interest rates and inflation rates;
c. currency fluctuations;
d. changes in investor sentiment;
e. the demand for, and supply of, capital; and
f. terrorism or other hostilities.

2.2.12

Public Relations and Capital Raising Activities
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The Issuer may engage in direct and indirect public relations and marketing
activities in relation to the Issuer, the Group, the InnovaDerma Business and the
Shares, including face to face, email and telephone activities.
The Issuer will take all reasonable steps to ensure that such activities are at all
times undertaken in compliance with local and regional laws and regulations,
whether they are provided by the Issuer directly or by third parties contracted by
the Issuer. However, in the event of a breach of applicable laws or regulations it is
possible that investors may be entitled to surrender acquired shares and have
their money returned, claim damages or access other legal remedies. Any public
action by investors to surrender their shares is likely to be negatively perceived by
the market and may have a detrimental impact on the market price of the Shares,
in addition to reducing the amount of capital available to the Issuer if successful.
2.2.13

Currency and exchange rate risks
The Issuer is based in the United Kingdom, however its primary trading subsidiary
is based in Australia. As a consequence, the Issuer’s revenues are currently
denominated in Australian dollars. The Issuer’s Shares are however denominated
in GBP, after the successful application to the Standard listing segment of the
Official List of the FCA and trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market
is completed.
The Issuer’s shares will be denominated in GBP. The exchange rates between
the GBP and the Australian Dollar currencies have fluctuated significantly in the
past are likely to do so in the future.
Large fluctuations in the comparable value of GBP and the Australian Dollar may
cause profits realised in Australia, in Australian dollars, to be of less value when
converted into GBP and so it is possible that a rise in the level of profits in
Australian Dollars could in fact result in a decrease in the level of profits in GBP.
As trading volume with other countries increases the relevant exchange rates for
those revenues may have a similar impact on the Issuer. The impact of such
unfavourable currency exchange rates may materially affect the Issuer’s financial
position and prospects and its ability to distribute dividends to its Shareholders.
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4.

Expected Timetable of Principal Events and Offer Statistics
4.1

Expected Timetable of Principal Events
The Issuer is seeking admission of the existing 10,238,970 Ordinary Shares
to the Standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and trading on
the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market on 2 August 2016.
Once the Offer is closed the Issuer will also be seeking admission of the
Subscription Shares (being up to 2,000,000 Ordinary Shares) to the
Standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and trading on the
London Stock Exchange’s Main Market within sixty days of the Offer
closing.
The Offer will proceed whether or not the initial admission (of the
10,238,970 existing Ordinary Shares) is successful.
Each of the times and dates is subject to change without further
notice.
Event

Date

Publication of this document

25 July 2016

Admission of 10,238,970 Existing Shares,

8.00 a.m. on

commencement of dealings in ordinary shares

2 August
2016

Offer open date

2 August
2016

Announcement of the Offer Price and Offer Size,

7.00 a.m. on

publication of the Pricing Statement

31 August
2016

Offer close date and notification of allocations of

10 October

Ordinary Shares

2016

CREST members' accounts credited in respect of

8.00 a.m. on

Ordinary Shares

24 October
2016
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Admission of up to 2,000,000 Subscription Shares,

8.00 a.m. on

commencement of dealings in ordinary shares

24 October
2016

Share certificates despatched

31 October
2016

All references to time in this document are to London time, unless
otherwise stated.
The Pricing Statement will not automatically be sent to persons who receive
this document but it will be available free of charge at the Company’s
registered office at 27 Old Gloucester Street London WC1N 3AX United
Kingdom. In addition, the Pricing Statement will (subject to certain
restrictions) be published online at www.innovaderma.com.
None of the Shares may be offered for sale or purchase or be sold or
delivered, and this Prospectus and any other offering material in relation to
the Shares may not be circulated, in any jurisdiction where to do so would
breach any securities laws or regulations of any such jurisdiction or give
rise to any obligation to obtain any consent, approval or permission, or to
make any application, filing or registration.

Offer Close date and subsequent dates may be brought forwards at the
discretion of the board.
4.2

Offer Statistics
Offer Price is expected to be between 150 pence and 450 pence per share.
Number of Ordinary Shares on issue prior to Offer 10,238,970.
Number of Ordinary Shares being offered in the Offer, up to 2,000,000.
Percentage of the Company’s issued share capital being offered in the
Offer is between16.34% (if the Offer size is set at 2,000,000 Shares, and a
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minimum Offer price of 150 pence per Share is set) and 6.12% (if the Offer
size is set at 666,667 Shares, and a maximum Offer price of 450 pence per
Share is set).
Estimated gross proceeds of the Offer receivable by the Company is
£3,000,000. Once the share price is set the number of Shares forming part
of the Offer will be calculated such that the gross proceeds of the Offer will
be £3,000,000 in the event that the Offer is fully subscribed. It should be
noted that the Offer is not conditional on a minimum level of capital being
raised and the Offer may close without being fully subscribed.
In the event the Issuer is successfully admitted to the standard segment of
the Official List of the FCA (the “Official List”) and to trading on the main
market of the London Stock Exchange plc (the “London Stock Exchange”)
for listed securities (together “Admission”) the formula for the Offer Price
will be calculated by applying a discount to the average closing share price
on the London Stock Exchange’s main market, on the Issuer’s twentieth
trading day. The amount of the discount is expected to be approximately
10% however will remain subject to the ultimate discretion of the Board.
In the event the Issuer is not successfully in seeking admission to the
standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and to trading on the
main market of the London Stock Exchange for listed securities, the Offer
shares will be priced at 150 pence.
Expected market capitalisation of the Company at the Offer Price is
expected to be between £18,358,455 and £49,075,367 and will be
determined once the Offer Price is set. By way of example, if the Offer
Price is set at a minimum Share price of 150 pence, then the Offer Size will
be set at 2,000,000, and the deemed market capitalisation of the Company
will be £18,358,455.
Alternatively if the Offer Price is set at the maximum share price of 450
pence, then the Offer Size will be set at 666,667 Shares, and the deemed
market capitalisation of the Company will be £49,075,367. The actual
market capitalisation of the Company at any given time will depend on the
market price of the Shares at that time. There can be no assurance that the
market price of a Share will be equal to or exceed the Offer Price.
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5.

Details of the Offer
5.1

5.1.1

Securities
Type and class of securities
The Shares, including the Offer Shares, are ordinary shares in the Issuer.
The Shares in the Issuer were created under the Act and are regulated by
the FSMA. The liability of the members of the Company is limited to the value
of their respective shareholding.
IMPORTANT INFORMATION
Presentation of financial information
InnovaDerma publish their financial statements in Euros (“€” or “Euro”). The
abbreviation “€m” represents millions of Euros. References to “Euros”, “EUR”
or “€” are to the single currency of the participating member states of the
European Union and references to “dollars”, or “AUS$” are to the lawful
currency of the Australia.
The financial information presented in a number of tables in this document
has been rounded to the nearest whole number or the nearest decimal place.
Therefore, the sum of the numbers in a table may not conform exactly to the
total figure given for that table. In addition, certain percentages presented in
the tables in this document reflect calculations based upon the underlying
information prior to rounding, and, accordingly, may not conform exactly to
the percentages that would be derived if the relevant calculations were based
upon the rounded numbers.
International Financial Reporting Standards
As required by the Act and Article 4 of the European Union IAS Regulation,
the financial statements of the Company and (for the purposes of this
Prospectus) are prepared in accordance with IFRS as endorsed and adopted
by the European Union and interpretations issued by the International
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB as endorsed and
adopted by the European Union.
Third party Information
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Investors are advised to read the whole of this document and not rely on only
part of it. The Directors confirm that, where information in this document has
been sourced from a third party, this information has been accurately
reproduced and, as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from
information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which
would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
General notice
Nothing contained in this document is intended to constitute investment,
legal, tax, accounting or other professional advice. This document is for your
information only and nothing in this document is intended to endorse or
recommend a particular course of action. You should consult with an
appropriate professional for specific advice rendered on the basis of your
situation.

CONSEQUENCES OF A STANDARD LISTING
APPLICATION HAS BEEN MADE FOR THE INNOVADERMA SHARES TO
BE ADMITTED TO THE STANDARD LISTING SEGMENT OF THE
OFFICIAL LIST OF THE FCA AND TRADING ON THE LONDON STOCK
EXCHANGE’S MAIN MARKET. A STANDARD LISTING PROVIDES
SUBSCRIBERS FOR AND PURCHASERS OF INNOVADERMA SHARES
WITH A LOWER LEVEL OF REGULATORY PROTECTION THAN THAT
PROVIDED TO INVESTORS IN COMPANIES WHOSE SECURITIES ARE
ADMITTED TO THE PREMIUM LISTING SEGMENT OF THE OFFICIAL
LIST, WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO ADDITIONAL OBLIGATIONS UNDER
THE LISTING RULES. IT SHOULD BE NOTED THAT NEITHER THE FCA
NOR THE LSE WILL HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO (AND WILL NOT)
MONITOR INNOVADERMA’S COMPLIANCE WITH ANY OF THE LISTING
RULES AND/OR ANY PROVISION OF THE MODEL CODE OR THOSE
ASPECTS OF THE DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY RULES WHICH
INNOVADERMA HAS INDICATED HEREIN THAT IT INTENDS TO
COMPLY WITH ON A VOLUNTARY BASIS, NOR TO IMPOSE SANCTIONS
IN RESPECT OF ANY FAILURE BY INNOVADERMA TO SO COMPLY.
The InnovaDerma Shares will be admitted to listing on the Official List
pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, which sets out the requirements
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for standard listings. InnovaDerma will comply with Listing Principles 1 and 2
as set out in Chapter 7 of the Listing Rules, as required by the FCA.
An applicant that is applying for a standard listing of equity securities must
comply with all the requirements listed in Chapter 2 of the Listing Rules,
which specifies the requirements for listing for all securities. Where an
application is made for the admission to the Official List of a class of shares,
at least 25 per cent. of shares of that class must be distributed to the public in
one or more EEA states. Listing Rule 14.3 sets out the continuing obligations
applicable to the issuer and requires that the issuer’s listed securities must
be admitted to trading on a regulated market at all times. The applicant must
have a minimum number of shares of any listed class (25 per cent.) in public
hands at all times in the relevant jurisdictions and must notify the FCA as
soon as possible if these holdings fall below the stated level. There are a
number of other continuing obligations set out in Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules that will be applicable to InnovaDerma.
These include requirements as to:
(a) forwarding of circulars and other documentation to the FCA for publication
through the national storage mechanism, and related notification to a
Regulatory Information Service;
(b) the provision of contact details of appropriate persons nominated to act as
a first point of contact with the FCA in relation to compliance with the Listing
Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules;
(c) the form and content of temporary and definitive documents of title;
(d) the appointment of a registrar;
(e) Regulatory Information Service notification obligations in relation to a
range of debt and equity capital issues; and
(f) compliance with, in particular, Chapters 4, 5 and 6 of the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules. As InnovaDerma is requesting a standard listing, it is
not required to comply with the provisions of, among other things:
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•

Chapter 6 of the Listing Rules containing additional requirements for
the listing of equity securities, which are only applicable for
companies with a premium listing;

•

Chapter 7 of the Listing Rules, to the extent that they refer to
Premium Listing Principles;

•

Chapter 8 of the Listing Rules regarding the appointment of a listing
sponsor to guide InnovaDerma in understanding and meeting its
responsibilities under the Listing Rules in connection with certain
matters. In particular, InnovaDerma is not required to appoint a
sponsor in relation to the publication of this Prospectus or Admission;

•

Chapter 9 of the Listing Rules containing provisions relating to
transactions, including, inter alia requirements relating to further
issues of shares, the ability to issue shares at a discount in excess of
10 per cent. of market value, notifications and contents of financial
information;

•

Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules relating to significant transactions
which requires shareholder consent for certain acquisitions;

•

Chapter 11 of the Listing Rules regarding related party transactions;
Chapter 12 of the Listing Rules regarding purchases by
InnovaDerma of its shares.

•

Under the Companies Act 2006, where InnovaDerma proposes to
purchase shares, it can only do so out of distributable profits of
InnovaDerma or out of the proceeds of a fresh issue of shares made
for the purpose of financing the purchase; and Chapter 13 of the
Listing Rules regarding the form and content of circulars to be sent to
shareholders.

A company with a standard listing is not currently eligible for inclusion in any
of the FTSE indices (i.e. FTSE 100, FTSE 250 etc.). This may mean that
certain institutional investors are unable to invest in the InnovaDerma
Shares.
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The Issuer will seek admittance of 10,238,970 Ordinary Existing Shares to
the Standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and trading on the
London Stock Exchange’s Main Market.
Immediately after the closing of the Offer the Issuer will seek admittance of
the Subscription Shares (expected to be between 666,667 and 2,000,000 in
number if the Offer is fully subscribed or, if the Offer is not fully subscribed,
such lesser number as were issued in the course of the Offer) to the
Standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and trading on the
London Stock Exchange’s Main Market. The Offer Close Date is 10 October
2016, however the Board may resolve to close the Offer at an earlier date in
which case the Issuer will seek admittance of the Subscription Shares
immediately after such earlier date.

Forward Looking Statement
Certain information contained or incorporated by reference in this
Prospectus, including any information as to the Combined Group’s strategy,
plans or future financial or operating performance constitutes “forwardlooking statements”. These forward-looking statements can be identified by
the use of terminology such as, “aims”, “anticipates”, “assumes”, “believes”,
“budgets”, “could”, “contemplates”, “continues”, “estimates”, “expects”,
“intends”, “may”, “plans”, “predicts”, “projects”, “schedules”, “seeks”, “shall”,
“should”, “targets”, “would”, “will” or, in each case, their negative or other
variations or comparable terminology.
Such forward looking statements are based on numerous assumptions
regarding InnovaDerma’s present and future business strategies and the
environment in which InnovaDerma, will operate in the future. By their nature,
such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors because they relate to events and depend on
circumstances which may or may not occur in the future.
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Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. The
actual results, performance or achievements of InnovaDerma, or industry
results, may be materially different from any future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. In
addition, even if actual performance, results of operations, internal rate of
return, financial condition, and the development of its financing strategies are
consistent with the forward looking statements contained in this Prospectus,
those results or developments may not be indicative of results or
developments in subsequent periods.
Key risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to
differ from those expected are set out more fully in the section of this
Prospectus headed “Risk Factors”. Investors should specifically and carefully
consider these factors, which could cause actual results to differ, before
making an investment decision. These forward looking statements speak
only as at the date of this Prospectus. To the extent required by the FCA, the
LSE or applicable law (including as may be required by the Prospectus
Rules, the Listing Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules),
InnovaDerma will update or revise the information in this Prospectus.
Otherwise, InnovaDerma expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to
release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward looking statements
contained in this Prospectus to reflect any change in expectations with regard
thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any
such statement is based. The statements above relating to forward-looking
statements should not be construed as a qualification on the opinion as to
working capital set out in this Prospectus.
5.1.2

Listing and Trading

5.1.2.1

Admission to London Stock Exchange Main Market
An Application has been made to the FCA and the London Stock Exchange
for the existing 10,238,970 Ordinary Shares to be admitted to the Standard
listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and to trading on the London
Stock Exchange’s Main Market. It is expected that Admission will take place
and dealings in the Existing will commence on the London Stock Exchange
at 8.00 a.m. (London time) on 2 August 2016. Settlement of dealings from
that date will be on a three-day rolling basis. These dates and times may be
changed without further notice.
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Immediately after the Offer Close Date (or such earlier date as the Board
resolves to close the Offer), application will be made to the FCA for the
Subscription Shares to be admitted to the Standard listing segment of the
Official List of the FCA and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main
Market. It is expected the Subscription Shares will be admitted to trading on
the London Stock Exchange fourteen days after the day on which the Offer is
closed. Settlement of dealings from that date will be on a three-day rolling
basis. These dates and times may be changed without further notice.
It is expected that the Subscription Shares allocated to investors pursuant to
its Subscription will be delivered in uncertificated form and settlement will
take place through CREST on Admission.
The inclusion of the Shares to trading on the London Stock Exchange Main
Market is subject to the relevant provisions within the UKLA Listing Rules, the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules, and the London Stock Exchange Rule
Book effective 1 September 2015.
As the London Stock Exchange is a regulated market the Issuer is bound by
the requirements applicable to companies listed on a regulated market.
Amongst other things this means that:
- The accounting requirements applicable to the Issuer are those which
apply to a UK public company (PLC);
- There is a 25% minimum public holding requirement; and
- Public disclosure and communication is governed by the mandatory
disclosure measures provided for under English law.
The Issuer is, however, currently subject to the provisions of the UK City Code
on Takeovers and Mergers notwithstanding the listing of its existing Shares on
the Marché Libre.
Upon being approved for admission to trading on the London Stock
Exchange the Issuer will commence the process of having the shares
delisted from the Marche Libre segment of the Euronext Paris. If the
exchange is satisfied that the relevant criteria are met then the delisting
process is expected to take approximately 60 days, however delisting
applications are handled on a case by case basis by the Euronext Paris and
their success and timing is ultimately dependent on that organisation and is
not in the control of the Issuer.
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5.1.2.2

Clearing Codes
The International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) is
GBOOBT9PTW34. The Euronext Paris ticker symbol is MLIDP. The London
Stock Exchange ticker symbol will also be MLIDP.
Any further clearing codes or identification numbers that apply to the Shares
will be published on the Website.

5.1.2.3

Paying Agent
As long as the Shares are listed on the Marché Libre the Issuer will maintain
a principal paying agent in France. The Issuer has appointed BNP Paribas
Securities Services to that role. It is emphasized that this application is
intended to be made for the Existing Shares and the newly issued Shares to
be admitted to the Standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and
trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market.
Upon being approved for admission to trading on the London Stock
Exchange the Issuer will commence the process of having the shares
delisted from the Marche Libre segment of the Euronext Paris. If the
exchange is satisfied that the relevant criteria are met then the delisting
process is expected to take approximately 60 days, however delisting
applications are handled on a case by case basis by the Euronext Paris and
their success and timing is ultimately dependent on that organisation and is
not in the control of the Issuer.
The Issuer will appoint SLC Registrars as the Principal Paying Agent in the
UK.

5.1.2.4

Expenses
The Issuer will pay all brokerage and placing fees associated with the Offer.
The Issuer will also pay incidental costs such as insurance, accounting, tax
advice and certain legal fees relating to the Issuer. While the costs of the
Offer and the listing process on the London Stock Exchange Main Market
have been inextricably connected, the Issuer estimates the combined costs
of the Offer and the listing will not exceed £250,000.

5.1.2.5

Form of the Shares, settlement and clearing
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Initially, no share certificates will be issued for the Offer Shares, and share
certificates will not be available for physical delivery to individuals in the
Offer. Delivery of the Offer Shares will be made in book-entry form through
the facilities of CREST and Clearstream.

5.1.2.6

Admission of Shares to CREST
The Articles permit the holding of Shares under the CREST system and the
Issuer will apply for the Offer Shares to be admitted to CREST with effect
from the date of admission, to trading and listing.
CREST is a paperless settlement procedure operated by Euroclear UK &
Ireland Limited enabling securities to be evidenced otherwise than by a
certificate and transferred otherwise than by a written instrument.
Accordingly, settlement of transactions involving the transfer of legal title to
Shares held in uncertificated form following admission to trading and listing
will take place within the CREST system.
CREST is a voluntary system. Following admission to listing and trading,
holders of Shares who wish to receive and retain share certificates will be
able to do so. However, it is not permitted for Share certificates to be issued
in respect of Shares which are simultaneously admitted to CREST.
Shareholders who wish to hold their Shares in certificated form would need to
withdraw their Shares from CREST and would not be able to settle
transactions in such Shares through CREST without first submitting the
certificates for dematerialisation into CREST.
No provision has been made for physical settlement of Shares held in
certificated form in connection with the Issuer’s listing and inclusion to trading
on the London Stock Exchange Main Market.

5.1.1.1

Transfer of Shares to CREST to Clearstream
The Issuer’s Existing Shares are listed on the Marché Libre. It is emphasized
that the Existing Shares and the newly issued Subscription Shares are to be
delisted from Marché Libre and admitted to the Standard listing segment of
the Official List of the FCA and trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main
Market.
Upon being approved for admission to trading on the London Stock
Exchange the Issuer will commence the process of having the shares
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delisted from the Marche Libre segment of the Euronext Paris. If the
exchange is satisfied that the relevant criteria are met then the delisting
process is expected to take approximately 60 days, however delisting
applications are handled on a case by case basis by the Euronext Paris and
their success and timing is ultimately dependent on that organisation and is
not in the control of the Issuer.

The Issuer expects this to take place within 60 working days of the Issuer’s
target admission date of 2 August 2016.
All the Subscription Offer Shares and Existing Shares will be delivered
through CREST to UK Custodians on behalf of Clearstream.

5.1.1.2

Representation and Form of Shares for trading in CREST
The interests in the Offer Shares will be traded in electronic form on the
London Stock Exchange. The UK Custodian will be the legal owner of the
Shares.
The interests in the Offer Shares will be traded in electronic form on the Entry
Standard. The UK Custodian will be the legal owner of the Shares in
accordance with the laws of England and Wales.
The Offer Shares being transferred into CREST and held by the UK
Custodian on behalf of Clearstream are traded in Clearstream by way of coownership in a global bearer certificate issued by Clearstream for the Offer
Shares.
The co-ownership in the global bearer certificate conveys to the co-owner
(i.e. the beneficial owner of the Shares held by the UK Custodian on behalf of
Clearstream), through his or her depositary bank and in proportion to his or
her share in the global bearer certificate, all rights arising from the Shares.
Cash dividends will be passed on by Clearstream to the co-owner in his or
her capacity as the beneficial Shareholder.
The same applies to the exercise and/or benefit of other shareholder rights,
such as subscription rights, stock dividends, and shares from stock splits.
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Any holder of Shares being admitted to CREST and traded through
Clearstream shall be entitled, at his or her expense, to have his or her
Shares delivered through his or her depositary bank to the UK Custodian, for
crediting them to the safe custody account of Clearstream against issuance
of corresponding co-ownership shares in the global bearer certificate.
In the event of any change in the number of Shares represented by the
global bearer certificate (e.g. in cases of deliveries to the safe custody
account, withdrawals from the safe custody account or allotment of Shares),
Clearstream shall amend the global bearer certificate accordingly.

5.1.1.3

Delivery of the Offer Shares to investors in the Offer
The Subscription Offer Shares will be credited by CREST to the accounts of
institutions (brokerage houses and depository banks) that participate in
Clearstream ("Clearstream Participants"). The Clearstream Participants, in
turn, will credit the Subscription Offer Shares to the accounts held with them
by investors in the Offer or by those investors' nominees in accordance with
settlement instructions placed by investors and in a manner and time as
instructed by the Issuer. Payment for the Offer Shares will be effected in
Pound Sterling.
Subsequent settlement of transactions made on the London Stock Exchange
Main Market for listed securities will be made in book-entry form through the
facilities of Clearstream only.

5.1.1.4

Holding of the Shares held through Clearstream
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Neither the Euroclear Participants (shown in the records of Clearstream), nor
the persons shown in the records of such Clearstream Participants as
owners of the Shares held through Clearstream will:
(a)

have the Shares registered in their names in the Issuer's register
of members;

(b)

receive physical delivery of definitive certificates evidencing their
interest in the Shares; or

(c)

be considered the registered holders of the Shares in accordance
with the laws of England and Wales.

Accordingly, such persons will not necessarily be considered as shareholders
for the purpose of the laws of England and Wales in respect of the Shares
they hold through Euroclear.
Instead, the UK Custodian will be entered in the Issuer's register of members
as the registered holder of such Shares and will, for the purpose of the laws
of England and Wales, be considered to have legal title to the Shares
(subject to the beneficial interests of investors who hold their Shares through
Clearstream).
In order to become the registered holder of the Shares they hold through
Clearstream, such investors would need to instruct the UK Custodian (or to
instruct the Clearstream Participant which holds their Shares through
Euroclear on their behalf to instruct the UK Custodian) to withdraw the
relevant number of Shares from Clearstream and CREST, and notify the
Issuer or its share registrar of the persons to whom physical share
certificates should be issued. However, such certificated Shares would not be
capable of settlement through Clearstream (nor CREST) and would need to
be resubmitted to CREST for dematerialisation and transfer to the UK
Custodian if that shareholder subsequently wished to be able to settle
transactions in those Shares through Clearstream.
5.1.1.5

Transaction on Shares effected on the London Stock Exchange
Investors who hold their Shares through Clearstream will be able to transfer
such Shares in accordance with the rules and procedures of Clearstream
only. Settlement (delivery and payment) of transactions on the London Stock
Exchange Main Market for listing securities will be effected through,
Clearstream only.

5.1.1.6

Voting rights and distributions under the Shares held through
Clearstream
In order to exercise voting rights in relation to their Shares, investors who
hold their Shares through Clearstream must send an instruction order to their
depositary bank which sends an instruction to Clearstream (or must instruct
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the Clearstream Participant which holds their Shares through Clearstream on
their behalf to send an instruction order to Clearstream) in respect of the
exercise of the voting right.
Clearstream will then notify the UK Custodian of the number of votes cast for
or against the relevant resolution and the UK Custodian will in turn exercise
such voting rights through CREST as the registered holder of the Shares.
The UK Custodian may be prepared to grant written letters of representation
to individual holders of Shares through Clearstream, enabling them to attend
and speak at a general meeting and to vote the Shares in which they are
interested.
Rights and entitlements attached to the Shares under the laws of England
and Wales, including rights and entitlements to distributions, to information,
to make choices and elections and to call for, attend and vote at meetings will
be passed on through Clearstream in the form in which they are received by
the UK Custodian together with any amendments and additional
documentation necessary to effect such passing-on. All distributions will be
made to the UK Custodian, in the first instance, as the registered holder of
the Shares, which will, in turn, pass them through Clearstream Participants to
the holders of the Shares held through Clearstream.
5.1.2

Currency
The Issuer’s functional currency is Australian Dollars. A considerable portion
of the InnovaDerma Group’s Revenue is denominated in currencies other
than the Australian Dollars, and that proportion is expected to increase
considerably over the period of validity of this Prospectus.
Exchange rate movements can affect comparability of the Issuer’s
operational results between accounting periods.

5.1.3

Rights

5.1.3.1

Dividends
Please refer to Section 14.1 for information relating to dividends.

5.1.3.2

Voting Rights
Each Share (including the Shares held through Euroclear) carries one vote at
shareholders meetings.
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5.1.3.3

Pre-emption rights
Under section 561 of the UK Companies Act, the Issuer may not allot:
(i) Shares in the Issuer; or
(ii) rights to subscribe for, or convert securities into, Shares in the Issuer
(together, "equity securities")
to a person on any terms unless it has made an offer to each person
who holds Shares in the Issuer to allot to him on the same or more
favourable terms a proportion of those securities that is as nearly as
practicable equal to the proportion in nominal value held by him of the share
capital of the Issuer. The Offer must state a period during which it may be
accepted of at least 14 days beginning with the date on which the Offer is
sent or supplied (in the case of offers made in hard copy form), sent (in the
case of offers made in electronic form) or published (in the case of offers
made by publication in the Gazette) and the Offer may not be withdrawn
before the end of that period.
The statutory pre-emption rights set out in section 561 of the UK
Companies Act do not apply to the allotment of bonus shares, the allotment
of equity securities for non-cash consideration or the allotment of equity
securities pursuant to an employees’ share scheme.
Where the Directors are authorised to allot Shares in the Issuer for
the purposes of section 551 of the UK Companies Act, the Issuer may by a
special resolution of the Shareholders authorise the Directors to allot equity
securities for cash consideration as if the statutory pre-emption rights under
section 561 of the UK Companies Act did not apply to such allotment. Such
authority may be granted by Shareholders for the same period as the
authority granted for the purposes of section 551 of the UK Companies Act or
such shorter period as the special resolution may specify.
On 28 November 2014 a special resolution was passed in a general
meeting of the Issuer to give the directors power to allot Shares up to an
aggregate nominal value of €1,959,636 in the period up to 27 November
2015, or the date of the next Annual General meeting whichever occurs first,
as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to any such allotment.
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5.1.3.4

Liquidation rights
Subject to any specific limitations imposed by the Offer, the holders of the
Shares will under general law be entitled to share in any surplus assets in a
winding up in proportion to their shareholdings.
The Board will have power in the name and on behalf of the Issuer to present
a petition to the court for the Issuer to be wound up.
If the Issuer is wound up, a liquidator may, with the sanction of a
special resolution and any other sanction required by the UK
Insolvency Act 1986 divide among the shareholders the whole or any
part of the assets of the Issuer.

5.1.4

Approval of Offer
The allotment of the Offer Shares was approved by the Board and by a
resolution of the Shareholders at general meeting on 28 November 2014.

5.1.5

Issue Date
The anticipated date of issue of the Offer Shares is 24 October 2016.

5.1.6

Restrictions on Transferability
There are a number of restrictions and other rules about the transferability of
shares in UK companies. Such restrictions and rules originate from a number
of sources and include:
(a) The UK Companies Act;
(b) The Takeover Code; and
(c) the general laws of the England and Wales.
Such laws may impose restrictions on the free transfer, or positive obligations
on Shareholders in particular circumstances, whether the Shareholder is a
resident of the UK or otherwise.
The Issuers shares will be freely transferable.
The Issuer recommends that Applicants obtain professional advice in relation
to the suitability of the Shares in this regard, as the Issuer is unable to
provide information relevant to every possible Applicant’s circumstances.
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5.1.7

Takeover Bids
There are no mandatory takeover bids and/or squeeze-out and sell out rules
in relation to the securities.
There have been no public takeover bids by third parties in respect of the
Issuer's equity, which have occurred during the last financial year or the
current financial year.

5.1.8

Taxes

5.1.8.1

Issuers responsibility for withholding taxes
The following paragraphs include advice received by the Directors on the
current tax position of shareholders who are resident or ordinarily resident in
the UK for tax purposes and holding Ordinary Shares beneficially as
investments. The statements below are intended only as a general guide and
do not constitute advice to any shareholder on his personal tax position and
may not apply to certain classes of investor who may be subject to special
rules (such as dealers in securities, insurance companies, charities,
collective investment schemes or pension providers). The comments are
based on current legislation and H.M. Revenue & Customs practice at the
date of this document.
Any investor who is in doubt as to their tax position or who is subject to
taxation in a jurisdiction other than the UK, should consult his or her own
professional advisers immediately.
Shareholders should note that the levels and bases of, and relief from,
taxation may change and that changes may affect benefits of investment in
the Issuer. This summary is not exhaustive and does not generally consider
tax relief or exemptions.

5.1.8.2

Taxation of dividends
The Issuer will not be required to withhold tax at source when paying a
dividend.
An individual shareholder who is resident in the UK for tax purposes and who
receives a dividend from the Issuer will generally be entitled to a nonrefundable tax credit which he may set off against his total income tax liability
on the dividend. The tax credit will be equal to 10 percent of the aggregate of
the dividend and the tax credit (the "gross dividend"), which is also equal to
one-ninth of the cash dividend received. A UK resident individual shareholder
who is liable to income tax at the starting or basic rate only will be subject to
tax on the dividend at the rate of 10 percent of the gross dividend, so that the
tax credit will satisfy in full any such shareholder's liability to income tax on
the dividend. A UK resident individual shareholder who is liable to income tax
at the higher rate of 40 percent will be liable to tax on the gross dividend at
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the rate of 32.5 percent. A UK resident individual shareholder liable to
income tax at the additional rate of income tax of 50 percent (broadly, an
individual with taxable income in excess of £150,000) will be liable to tax on
the gross dividend at the rate of 42.5 percent. After taking into account the 10
percent tax credit, such individuals will have to account for additional tax
equal to 22.5 percent of the gross dividend (which is also equal to 25 percent
of the cash dividend received) or 32.5 percent of the gross dividend
respectively (which is also equal to 36.1 percent of cash dividends received).
UK resident taxpayers who are not liable to UK tax on dividends, including
pension funds and charities, will not be entitled to claim repayment of the tax
credit attaching to dividends paid by the Issuer.
Subject to certain exceptions, a shareholder which is a company resident for
tax purposes in the UK and which receives a dividend paid by another
company resident for tax purposes in the UK will not generally have to pay
corporation tax in respect of it. Such shareholders will not be able to claim
repayment of tax credits attaching to dividends.
Persons who are not resident in the UK should consult their own tax advisers
concerning their tax liabilities on dividends received from the Issuer and on
whether they can benefit from all or part of any tax credit in the jurisdiction in
which they are resident.
5.1.8.3

Taxation of chargeable gains
If a shareholder disposes of any or all of his Ordinary Shares in the Issuer, he
may incur a liability to tax on chargeable gains depending upon the
shareholder's particular circumstances and subject to any available
exemptions and reliefs. Companies are entitled to indexation allowance
which may also reduce the chargeable gain.

5.1.8.4

Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax (SDRT)
No liability to stamp duty or SDRT will generally arise on the allotment and
issue of new Ordinary Shares for cash by the Issuer.

5.1.9

Shares held outside the CREST system
The conveyance or transfer on sale of the Ordinary Shares will usually be
subject to stamp duty on the instrument or transfer, generally at the rate of
0.5 percent of the amount or value of the consideration. Stamp duty is
charged in multiples of £5 and is rounded up. An obligation to account for
SDRT at the rate of 0.5 percent of the amount or value of the consideration
will also arise if an unconditional agreement to transfer the ordinary shares is
not completed by a duly stamped instrument of transfer before the
accountable date for SDRT purposes. The accountable date is the seventh
day of the month following the month in which the agreement for the transfer
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is made. Payment of the stamp duty will cancel the liability to account for
SDRT. It is the purchaser who is in general liable to account for stamp duty
or SDRT.
5.1.10

Shares held within the CREST system
The transfer of the Ordinary Shares in uncertificated form in the Euroclear
system will generally attract a liability to SDRT at the rate of 0.5 percent of
the amount or value of the consideration. The SDRT is payable on the
fourteenth day following the date of the unconditional agreement for the
transfer of the Ordinary Shares.
The above statements are intended as a general guide to the current stamp
duty and SDRT position. Certain categories of person are not liable to stamp
duty or SDRT and others may be liable at a higher rate as mentioned above
or may, although not primarily liable for the tax, be required to notify and
account for it under the Stamp Duty Reserve Tax Regulations 1986.
Special rules apply to agreements made by market intermediaries and to
certain sale and repurchase and stock borrowing arrangements. Agreements
to transfer Ordinary Shares to charities will not give rise to SDRT or stamp
duty.

5.1.11

Inheritance Tax
The inheritance tax status of individual Shareholders’ Ordinary Shares will
depend upon their personal circumstances. Shareholders should consult with
their professional advisers if they are concerned with the potential inheritance
tax implications of their shares in the Issuer.

5.2
5.2.1

Terms and Conditions of the Offer
a) The Offer will initially be extended to investors in the United
Kingdom. The Offer may be extended to other countries subject to
the Issuer first passporting this Prospectus to those countries
and/or meeting the relevant capital raising requirements in those
countries.
b) There is no aggregate minimum subscription and the Offer is not
conditional.
c) Applications must be for at least 5,000 Shares, and then in
multiples of 2,000 Shares, up to a maximum of 2,000,000 Shares
(or lesser number of Shares as is made available pursuant to the
Offer once the Offer Price is set).
d) The Offer Price is expected to be between 150 pence and 450
pence per Share. In the event the Issuer is successfully admitted to
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the standard segment of the Official List of the FCA (the “Official
List”) and to trading on the main market of the London Stock
Exchange plc (the “London Stock Exchange”) for listed securities
(together “Admission”) the formula for the Offer Price will be
calculated by applying a discount to the average closing share
price on the London Stock Exchange’s main market, on the Issuer’s
twentieth trading day. The amount of the discount is expected to be
approximately 10% however will remain subject to the ultimate
discretion of the Board.
e) In the event the Issuer is not successfully in seeking admission to
the standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and to
trading on the main market of the London Stock Exchange for listed
securities, the Offer shares will be priced at 150 pence.
f)

The subscription list for the Offer Shares will open 2 August 2016
(Offer Open Date) and may be closed at any time thereafter, but
not later than 3pm on 10 October 2016 (Offer Close Date) unless
extended by the Directors.

g) Under the Offer, all Offer Shares will be sold at the Offer Price,
which will be determined by the Issuer as set out above. It is
currently expected that the Offer Price will be within the Offer Price
Range of 150 pence per share, and 450 pence per share. The
Offer Size will enable the Issuer to raise £3,000,000, and the Offer
size will be set once the Offer Price is determined. Therefore, if the
Offer Price of 150 pence per Share is set, the Offer size will be set
at 2,000,000 Shares. Alternatively if the Offer Price of 450 pence
per Share is set, the Offer size will be set at 666,667 Shares.
h) The Offer price is expected to be between 150 pence and 450
pence per Share (Price Range). The Offer Price, is expected to be
announced on or about 31 August 2016 in the Pricing Statement.
The Pricing Statement, which will contain, among other things, the
Offer Price and Offer Size, will be available online at
www.innovaderma.com and published in printed form and
available free of charge at the Company’s registered office at 27
Old Gloucester Street London WC1N 3AX United Kingdom. It is
currently expected that the Offer Price and the Offer Size will be
within the Price Range and the Offer Size Range, respectively.

A
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withdrawal right arises if the Offer Price is above the Offer Price
Range or if the Offer Size is above or below the Offer Size Range.
An announcement will be made via a Regulatory Information
Service and prospective investors will have a statutory right to
withdraw their offer to purchase Offer Shares pursuant to section
87Q of the FSMA. The arrangements for withdrawing offers to
purchase Offer Shares would be made clear in the announcement.
Unless required to do so by law or regulation, the Company does
not envisage publishing any supplementary prospectus or pricing
statement until announcement of the Offer Price and Offer Size.
i)

The subscription list for the Offer Shares will open on 2 August
2016 (Offer Open Date) and may be closed at any time thereafter,
but not later than 3pm on 10 October 2016 (Offer Close Date)
unless, at the discretion of the Directors, it is extended beyond that
date.

5.2.2

There are no existing securities offered for sale as part of this Offer; all
securities offered for subscription are those that are issued in connection to
this offer.
The announcement to the public will be made on the day the offer opens.

5.2.3

The Offer is open for applications as of the Offer Open Date and may be
closed at any time thereafter, but no later than 3pm on the Offer Close Date
unless, at the discretion of the Directors, it is extended beyond that date.
Applications are subject to the terms and conditions contained in this
Prospectus, and as included in the Application Form.

5.2.4

Applications are irrevocable.

5.2.5

Once submitted applicants cannot withdraw subscriptions.
Moneys may be transferred to the Issuer as the Directors may determine
against allotment and issue of Offer Shares. If any application is not
accepted, the amount (if any) paid on application will be returned without
interest and in each case sent through the post at the Applicant’s risk.

5.2.6

Applications must be for at least 5,000 Shares, and then in multiples of
2,000 Shares, up to a maximum of 2,000,000 Shares
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5.2.7

Investors are permitted to withdraw applications once submitted. Such
withdrawal must be done within two working days from the date the
application is submitted. In the event that a supplementary prospectus is
published Investors are permitted to withdraw applications once submitted.
Such a withdrawal must be done within two working days from the date the
supplementary prospectus is published.
In addition, in the event that the Offer Price set by the Issuer, is above the
Price Range and/or the number of Ordinary Shares to be sold by the Issuer
is above or below the Offer Size Range, then applicants who have applied
for Ordinary Shares in the Offer would have a statutory right to withdraw
their offer to purchase Ordinary Shares in the Offer in its entirety pursuant
to section 87Q of FSMA before the end of a period of two Business Days
commencing on the first Business Day after the date on which an
announcement of this is published by the Issuer via a Regulatory
Information Service announcement (or such later date as may be specified
in that announcement).
The right to withdraw an application to purchase Ordinary Shares in the
Offer in the circumstances set out above will be available to all investors. If
the application is not withdrawn within the period stipulated in any
supplementary prospectus or announcement (as described above), any
offer to apply for Ordinary Shares in the Offer will remain valid and binding.
Investors wishing to withdraw their offer to purchase Ordinary Shares after
the publication of any supplementary prospectus or announcement (as
described above) must do so by:
• registering the withdrawal on the website www.innovaderma.com;
• lodging a written notice of withdrawal by hand with the Receiving Agent
(during normal business hours only) at Equiniti Limited at Corporate
Actions, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA;
or
• scanning a signed written notice of withdrawal and sending it by email to
the Receiving Agent at offer@equiniti.com.
In each of the cases above, such notification must provide (i) the investor’s
name, (ii) the investor’s address and postcode, (iii) the method by which the
investor submitted its application (i.e. whether by posting an Application
Form or by submitting an Online Application), (iv) the amount in Pounds
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Sterling of Ordinary Shares that such investor has applied for, and it must
be received by the Receiving Agent no later than the end of the period
stipulated in the supplementary prospectus or announcement (as described
above) (which will be at least a period of two Business Days commencing
on the first Business Day after the date on which the supplementary
prospectus or announcement, as the case may be, is published). Notice of
withdrawal given by any other means or which is deposited with or received
by the Receiving Agent after expiry of such period will not constitute a valid
withdrawal.
Any supplementary prospectus will be published in accordance with the
Prospectus Rules of the UK Listing Authority (and notification thereof will be
made to a Regulatory Information Service) but will not be distributed to
prospective investors individually. Any such supplementary prospectus will
be available in printed form free of charge at the registered office of the
Company until 14 days after Admission.
5.2.8

Full payment for an Application must either:
(i) accompany the Application Form by cheque; or
(ii) be made by direct bank transfer to the Receiving Agent’s bank
account as set out in the Application Form.
Timing of the Offer Shares allotment shall occur on clearance of the
cheque, receipt of the payment or the closing date of the Offer, whichever is
later.

5.2.9

The status of the Existing Shares and the status of the Offer for
Subscription will be published on the Website until 24 July 2017 which is
twelve months after the Prospectus Date.
The results of the Offer will be announced within two weeks of the close of
the Offer, on the Website. Subject to any changes to the timetable, this is
planned for 28 October 2016.

5.2.10

Under section 561 of the UK Companies Act, the Issuer may not allot
Shares in the Issuer; or rights to subscribe for, or convert securities into,
Shares in the Issuer (together, "equity securities") to a person on any terms
unless it has made an offer to each person who holds Shares in the Issuer
to allot to him on the same or more favourable terms a proportion of those
securities that is as nearly as practicable equal to the proportion in nominal
value held by him of the share capital of the Issuer. The Offer must state a
period during which it may be accepted of at least 14 days beginning with
the date on which the Offer is sent or supplied (in the case of offers made in
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hard copy form), sent (in the case of offers made in electronic form) or
published (in the case of offers made by publication in the Gazette) and the
Offer may not be withdrawn before the end of that period.
The statutory pre-emption rights set out in section 561 of the UK
Companies Act do not apply to the allotment of bonus shares, the allotment
of equity securities for non-cash consideration or the allotment of equity
securities pursuant to an employees’ share scheme.
Where the Directors are authorised to allot Shares in the Issuer for the
purposes of section 551 of the UK Companies Act, the Issuer may by a
special resolution of the Shareholders authorise the Directors to allot equity
securities for cash consideration as if the statutory pre-emption rights under
section 561 of the UK Companies Act did not apply to such allotment. Such
authority may be granted by Shareholders for the same period as the
authority granted for the purposes of section 551 of the UK Companies Act
or such shorter period as the special resolution may specify.
On 28 November 2014 a special resolution was passed in a general
meeting of the Issuer to give the directors power to allot up to 9,596,400
Shares in the period to 27 November 2015, or until the date of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Issuer whichever occurs first, as if section
561 of the Act did not apply to any such allotment.
5.2.11

The basis of allotment will be determined by the Directors in their absolute
discretion. The Directors reserve the right to:
a) reject any application, in whole or in part, to scale down any
applications, or to accept applications on a “first come, first served”
basis;
b) to effect one or more closings of the Offer;
c) to extend the period during which the subscription list remains
open; and
treat any application as valid and binding on an applicant even if the
Application Form is not complete

5.2.12

The securities are being offered internationally in one tranche. There is no
variance in categories of potential investors as all securities are being
offered simultaneously. All applications will be treated equally and no
preference will be given to any individual or category of applicant.

5.2.13

To the knowledge of the Issuer no existing shareholders have indicated that
they intend to subscribe in the offer. The Issuer is not aware of any person
that intends to subscribe for more than 5% of the offer.

5.2.14

Pre-allotment Disclosure:
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5.2.14.1

The Offer may be closed at any time, but no later than 3pm on the Offer
Close Date unless, at the discretion of the Directors, it is extended beyond
that date.

5.2.14.2

Multiple applications for Shares pursuant to the Offer by the same person
are permitted.

5.2.15

Applications are subject to the terms and conditions contained in this
Prospectus, and as included in the Application Form.

5.2.16

Pricing
The Offer Price for the shares is expected to be between 150 pence and
450 pence per Share.
In the event the Issuer is successfully admitted to the standard segment of
the Official List of the FCA (the “Official List”) and to trading on the main
market of the London Stock Exchange plc (the “London Stock Exchange”)
for listed securities (together “Admission”) the formula for the Offer Price
will be calculated by applying a discount to the average closing share price
on the London Stock Exchange’s main market, on the Issuer’s twentieth
trading day. The amount of the discount is expected to be approximately
10% however will remain subject to the ultimate discretion of the Board.
In the event the Issuer is not successfully in seeking admission to the
standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA and to trading on the
main market of the London Stock Exchange for listed securities, the Offer
shares will be priced at 150 pence.

5.3
5.3.1

Admission to Trading and Dealing Arrangements
The share capital of the Issuer is listed on the Marché Libre of the Euronext
Paris SA and the Shares may be freely traded on that exchange.
The Marché Libre is a multilateral trading facility which is governed by the
rules set out in the Marché Libre Organisation Memorandum dated 6
October 2014. It is not an EU Regulated Market (as defined by Article 1(13)
of Directive 93/22/EEC), and accordingly the provisions governing an EU
Regulated Market do not apply to the Issuer or its Shares.
The Issuer’s Existing Shares are listed on the Marché Libre. It is
emphasized that the Existing Shares are to be delisted from Marché Libre
and admitted to the Standard listing segment of the Official List of the FCA
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and trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market and trading on
the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market.
Upon being approved for admission to trading on the London Stock
Exchange the Issuer will commence the process of having the shares
delisted from the Marche Libre segment of the Euronext Paris. If the
exchange is satisfied that the relevant criteria are met then the delisting
process is expected to take approximately 60 days, however delisting
applications are handled on a case by case basis by the Euronext Paris
and their success and timing is ultimately dependent on that organisation
and is not in the control of the Issuer.

5.4
5.4.1

Expenses of the Issue/Offer
Expected gross proceeds of Offer: £3,000,000 assuming the Offer is fully
subscribed. The Offer size and price will be between 2,000,000 Shares at
the minimum Offer Price of 150 pence, and 666,667 Shares at the
maximum Offer Price of 450 pence, such that the Gross Proceeds of the
Offer will remain at £3,000,000.
Expected cost of combined Offer and listing process: £250,000
Expected net proceeds of Offer: £2,275,000.
The expenses of the offer and listing process can not readily be separated,
but together are not expected to exceed the stated amount.
It should be noted that the Offer is not conditional on a minimum amount of
capital being raised and the Offer may close without being fully subscribed.

5.5
5.5.1

Dilution
The amount and percentage of immediate dilution resulting from the offer.
The following tables illustrate the dilution of existing Shareholders, if all
Offer Shares are issued to new Shareholders and the Offer size and price is
either 2,000,000 Shares at the minimum Offer Price of 150 pence, or
666,667 Shares at the maximum Offer Price of 450 pence. The actual
dilution will be determined once the Offer Price is set, but will be at or
between those two levels.
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Subscription
Maximum
Subscription

Subscription
Maximum
Subscription
5.5.2

Type of
Shares
Ordinary

Type of
Shares
Ordinary

Pre-Offer
10,238,970

Pre-Offer
10,238,970

Offer

Total

Dilution

Shares

Shares

%

2,000,000

12,238,970

16.34%

Offer

Total

Dilution

Shares

Shares

%

666,667

10,905,637

6.12%

In the case that existing Shareholders participate in the Offer, such
Shareholders will be diluted to a lesser extent than demonstrated in the
table above.

5.6
5.6.1

Major Shareholders
The only Shareholders who hold a notifiable interest (greater than 4
percent) in the Issuer are those set out in the table below. The only
shareholder which has any connection to directors, senior management or
staff is Zaymar Investments Pty Ltd of which Haris Chaudhry (a director) is
the sole director and shareholder.
Percentage
shareholding of
Issuer (after offer at
Percentage
Connection

Investor Name

shareholding of
Issuer (prior to offer)

full subscription,
assuming that the
Offer size is set at
2,000,000 Shares,
and a minimum
Offer price of 150
pence per Share)

Haris Chaudhry

Zaymar Investments

58.6%

49.02%

6.12%

5.12%

Pty Ltd
N/A

PROS International
Company Limited

Percentage
Connection

Investor Name

shareholding of
Issuer (prior to offer)

Percentage
shareholding of
Issuer (after offer at
full subscription,
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assuming that the
Offer size is set at
666,667 Shares,
and a maximum
Offer price of 450
pence per Share)
Haris Chaudhry

Zaymar Investments

58.6%

55.01%

6.12%

5.74%

Pty Ltd
N/A

PROS International
Company Limited

The major Shareholders have the same voting rights as other
Shareholders, and there are no additional rights attached to their Shares.
There are no measures in place to prevent the rights of the majority
Shareholders being abused.

5.6.2

Except to the extent of the voting rights attaching to the major Shareholders
as outlined in Section 5.6.1 above the Issuer is not directly or indirectly
controlled by any party, and as at the date of this Prospectus the Issuer is
not aware of any circumstances likely to result in a change of control of the
Issuer.
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6.

Letter from the Executive Chairman

Letter from the Executive Chairman
I am pleased to introduce you to InnovaDerma™. Our company lies at the forefront in technological
innovation in the fast-growing 'at-home' and clinically proven treatments for hair loss, hair care selftanning and skin rejuvenation.
InnovaDerma is fast-expanding into new markets and growing the existing ones, while at the same
time in the process of developing some very exciting and new products for the global markets for
male and female hair loss. We aim to validate the new projects under development through the Food
and Drug Administration (FDA) in the USA during Q1 2016 and in other jurisdictions globally
immediately after that. We expect this to result in significant exposure, credibility and growth for our
other products and for the InnovaDerma™ group of companies as a whole.
Our key acquisition in Skinny Tan™ during Q2 2015 and subsequent deployment of a positive and
sound strategy and management to monetise that acquisition has resulted in regular revenues.
The company understands that its objective of achieving consistent growth in revenues and earnings
is contingent on its ability to gain access to partners, distributors and retailers to sell its products in
various territories globally. To deliver on this objective, InnovaDerma™ has acquired a number of
business assets which will contribute to the Company’s intellectual property, distribution network,
market intelligence and people resources along with the addition of top line revenue and earnings.
We believe that these acquisitions have the potential to provide very significant growth to the
company along with the access to high quality infrastructure and markets. The Board do not consider
that there will be any further acquisitions over the next 12 months.
Through our listing and capital raising, InnovaDerma will be able to realise its plans for new product
development and compliance in Europe and USA, acquisitions of new entities to achieve rapid growth
- as well as significantly enhancing its baseline revenue and earnings.
Our biggest asset is our agility through our scalable operations. We are able to increase the size of
our infrastructure at a significantly lower cost than any of our competitors globally through our network
of fully owned overseas subsidiaries, and utilising cost-effective support services. These operations
provide for an excellent platform that grows in real-time with the business and provides for a very
scalable client, partner and distributor support centre as we expand our operations in various new
territories throughout 2016 and beyond.
I believe that the InnovaDerma business will maintain firm growth within 12 months as our strategies
are actioned, our plans implemented, growth realised and new products developed along with the full
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integration of the new acquisitions. We look forward to our company becoming one of the fastest
growing and profitable entities in Personal Care. I look forward to sharing that journey with you in the
months and years to come.

Haris Chaudhry
Executive Chairman, InnovaDerma PLC
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7.

Information on the Company and the Group
7.1

7.1.1

Information About the Issuer
Background
The main operating company of the InnovaDerma Group, InnovaDerma Aus
& NZ Pty Ltd (InnovaDerma ANZ), was incorporated on 26 August 2013 to
acquire the global distribution rights for the Leimo range of ‘at home’ male &
female hair loss treatments (Leimo Business) from the previous distributors.
It acquired the Leimo Business on 31 August 2013 and as at the date of this
Prospectus the Leimo Business contributes approximately 90% of the
InnovaDerma Group’s gross revenue. The InnovaDerma Group has and will
continue to acquire a range of further assets which are complementary to the
Leimo range and set out in further detail below.
InnovaDerma PLC was incorporated on 19 September 2014 to become the
holding company for InnovaDerma ANZ and the other companies in the
InnovaDerma Group, for the purpose of listing them on a recognised stock
exchange. These acquisitions were completed on 28 November 2014 so that
all of those companies are now wholly owned subsidiaries of InnovaDerma
PLC, and the company was listed on the GXG Main Quote in London on 20
March 2015 and the Marché Libre of the Euronext Paris SA on 6 May 2015.
The GXG Main Quote market closed on 18 August 2015 and is no longer in
operation. The Marché Libre is the primary trading exchange for the Issuer’s
Shares. The Issuer operates solely as a holding company for the
InnovaDerma Group and does not conduct any other business.
The Leimo Business operated by InnovaDerma ANZ has been in operation
for over eight years (7 of which years were prior to it being acquired by
InnovaDerma ANZ). Prior to its acquisition by InnovaDerma ANZ the Leimo
Business had recorded average monthly revenue of AU$287,119 (July 2010
to June 2011), AU$189,010 (July 2011 to June 2012) and AU$98,005 (July
2012 to August 2013). These figures were extracted from the unaudited
management accounts for Leimo International Australia Pty Ltd and Norman
Enterprises Pty Ltd (the vendors of the Leimo Business) and have been
independently audited and confirmed by the InnovaDerma ANZ auditors,
Somes Cooke. Since the acquisition the monthly average revenue has been
$64,061 (26 Aug 2013 to 30 June 2014) and $74,617 (1 July 2014 to 31
December 2014).
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Prior to being acquired by InnovaDerma ANZ, the Leimo Business had been
in decline because the attention of the former owners had moved to other
business interests of theirs. However, it had (and has) clients in over 40
countries, and was expected to provide a stable base revenue for the
InnovaDerma Group with the injection of new energy and capital. In the
period following the acquisition of the Leimo Business it was stabilised,
transitioned to new management and has shown consistent and growing
revenues from the initial post-acquisition revenue level. Eighteen months is
too short to provide entirely reliable results, however based on the results of
that period the Board has expressed its confidence that the Leimo Business
revenues will not decrease and should show very solid growth over the
coming twelve months. Further, the Issuer will be aiming to restore the
business to its 2010/2011 revenue levels by the end of that period.
To achieve this level of growth the Issuer is not relying solely on organic
growth of the Leimo Business. The InnovaDerma Group has completed four
transactions as summarised below and is planning several more in order to
both broaden and deepen the InnovaDerma product range, and significantly
increase the revenues and profits of the business operated by the
InnovaDerma Group overall.
On 1 October 2013 InnovaDerma ANZ acquired the Australian and New
Zealand distribution rights for Pollogen non-invasive, aesthetic skin-care
treatments from Pollogen Ltd. Pollogen Ltd, an Israeli company, is amongst
the largest companies operating in the clinically proven anti-ageing sector.
The Pollogen product range currently accounts for approximately ten percent
of the InnovaDerma Group’s gross revenue.
On 23 July 2014 InnovaDerma ANZ executed an Asset Sale Agreement with
PROS International Company Limited to acquire the assets and intellectual
property which underpin the Leimo product range. That transaction was
subject to the Issuer listing on a recognised stock exchange at which time the
Issuer could exercise the purchase option. The acquisition was on a scrip
basis and resulted in the issue to PROS International Company Limited of
US$2m (approximately €1,785,240 at the time of the transaction) in ordinary
shares of the Issuer. On Sept 25, 2014 the Issuer exercised that option and
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acquired the Leimo intellectual property assets. Further details regarding that
transaction are set out below.
On 29 May 2015 InnovaDerma PLC acquired 100% of the issued share
capital of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd for a purchase price of $50,000 (it should be
noted that on 1 December 2015 the Issuer disposed of 20% of its holding in
Skinny Tan to third parties, and accordingly the Issuer now owns 80%).
Skinny Tan Pty Ltd is a company which develops, manufactures, distributes
and sells a self-tanning product under the trade mark ‘Skinny Tan’. Skinny
Tan Pty Ltd generated $1,320,000 in sales for a profit of $3,500 in the year
from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014 and $560,335 for a loss of $74,486 in the
nine months from 1 July 2014 to 30 March 2015. These figures are unaudited
and extracted the management accounts of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd as provided
by that company’s management at time of the acquisition. The Board of
InnovaDerma expects that now the acquisition has been fully integrated into
the InnovaDerma Group it will be able to grow both the revenue and profit
figures for the Skinny Tan Business.
Product Background
InnovaDerma currently specialises in a range of male and female hair loss
and anti-ageing treatments, and is aggressively growing its existing markets
and expanding into new ones. In addition to a well-established customer
base, brand recognition, intellectual property and a very robust operating
platform, it has the necessary clinical and regulatory approvals, ongoing
research and development work and strategic marketing initiatives to provide
it with a solid platform for rapid and sustained growth.
InnovaDerma’s flagship product, Leimo, has received approval from the
Ministry of Food and Drug Safety (MFDS), in Korea as an approved product
to treat mild to moderate hair loss and is also included on the TGA
(Therapeutic Goods Administration of Australia) and Medsafe (New Zealand
Department of Health) databases (ARTG and WAND respectively) as a
product for treating male and female hair loss. Leimo was additionally
successful in gaining inclusion onto the Australian Register for Therapeutic
Goods for treatment of mild to moderate Androgenic Alopecia (male pattern
baldness). Since 2006, over AU$20m worth of Leimo products has been
sold.
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The Company is currently implementing a global strategy for securing
exclusive agreements with major distributors to create a comprehensive,
world-wide distribution network for the Leimo product range. In Australia
alone this has already resulted in the doubling of the number of retail, reseller
accounts for Leimo over the past twelve months.
The InnovaDerma Group’s second key product range is distributed under
licence from an Israeli company, Pollogen Limited and sold under the
Tripollar brand. The range consists of ‘TriPollar stop’ which is designed to
treat wrinkles around the eyes, lips and neckline and ‘TriPollar pose’ which is
designed to work on the stomach, hips, thighs and arms. The underlying
technology is a patented cosmetic therapy application based on radio
frequency technology.

7.1.2

The legal name of the Issuer is InnovaDerma PLC, and it trades under that
name.

7.1.3

The Issuer was registered through Companies House, UK (Coy. No.
9226823) and its registered address is 27 Old Gloucester Street, London
WC1N 3AX, United Kingdom. Other contact details for the Issuer are
included in the Corporate Directory.

7.1.4

The Issuer was incorporated as InnovaDerma PLC in England and Wales on
19 September 2014.

7.1.5

The Issuer operates pursuant to the Companies Act 2006 and the UK
Companies Act 1985 (as amended).

7.1.6

Investments
The InnovaDerma Group has completed two significant investments since
the Issuer became the holding company for the Group.
The first investment was made in exchange for equity in the Issuer, and
relates to the acquisition of the assets of PROS International Company
Limited, which includes all of the intellectual property rights in relation to the
Leimo range of products for which InnovaDerma ANZ already held the global
distribution rights.
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The second investment was made for $50,000, and relates to the acquisition
of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd, which includes the Skinny Tan Business.
Further details regarding those transactions are set out below. The Board do
not consider that there will be any further acquisitions over the next 12
months.
7.1.6.1

PROS International Company Limited
On 23 July 2014 InnovaDerma ANZ executed an Asset Sale Agreement
(“Agreement”) with PROS International Company Limited (“Vendor”). Listing
of the Issuer’s Shares on the GXG Main Quote on 20 March 2015 satisfied
the final condition of that Agreement and the sale was completed on 9 April
2015.
The transaction comprised the issue of 626,400 Shares in the Issuer to the
Vendor in exchange for transfer of the following assets by the Vendor to
InnovaDerma ANZ (Assets):
1.

Product approvals in Russia (GOST), Korea (MFDS) and Europe
(CE Medical);

2.

Patents in the US (US 7,722,655 B2), UK (GB 2427557), Japan
(4374343), China (CN 1832779 B) and Korea (546080);

3.

Leimo Trademarks in the US (78797813), Europe (5273792),
Turkey (2008 23745) and Korea (40-0690537, 595511, 400690538);

4.

GMP Registration No. KTL-AB-100059;

5.

ISO 13485:2003 (Medical) Registration No. 10 0138 SJ

And more generally:
6.

All patents globally (registered and unregistered, expired and
current) including pending patents for Leimo Hair Laser Comb and
Leimo wet products including but not limited to Leimo Unisex Kit,
Leimo For Her kit and individual wet products;

7.

All clinical tests carried out by the Vendor for establishing the
efficacy of the Leimo treatment;

8.

All trademarks registered in the Republic of Korea and globally for
Leimo;

9.

All know-how including engineering, process, diagrams, visual or
audio intellectual property, sales and buy leads outside the
Republic of Korea for the comb and any other assets developed
by the Vendor and associated with Leimo since its inception;
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10. Any other material that might be construed as intellectual property
developed by the Vendor for hair loss treatment or aiding in hair
growth either in the Republic of Korea or globally; and
11. Any intellectual property in the Assets.
12. All rights to licence the Assets and appoint distributors for the
Assets on a local, regional or global basis.
The Agreement has not yet had any impact on the group’s revenues or
profits, but it is expected to increase both revenues and profits substantially
in coming years due to new sources of income from licensing and distribution
of the Assets through third parties.
7.1.6.2

Skinny Tan Pty Ltd
On 17 June 2015 InnovaDerma PLC executed a Share Sale Agreement
(“Agreement”) with the shareholders in Skinny Tan Pty Ltd (“Sellers”). The
purchase of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd by InnovaDerma PLC completed on 29 May
2015.
The transaction consisted of the payment of $50,000 by the Issuer to the
Sellers in exchange for transferring to the Issuer 100per cent of the issued
capital in Skinny Tan Pty Ltd (it should be noted that on 1 December 2015
the Issuer disposed of 20% of its holding in Skinny Tan to third parties, and
accordingly the Issuer now owns 80% of the issued share capital).

7.1.6.3

7.2
7.2.1

Business Overview

Principal Activities
InnovaDerma is a hair-loss treatment, haircare and skincare company focused on the
research, development and production of a range of life science products.
The company commenced business with the acquisition of the Leimo distribution rights
in Australian and New Zealand, and has now grown to own the global distribution rights
and the underlying intellectual property as well as distribution rights for the Pollogen
range of products.
1.

Market position
The InnovaDerma Group is still at a very early stage in the development of its
business. While the Leimo Business has been operational for many years, it was
only acquired by InnovaDerma ANZ in August 2013 and was not at the peak of its
activities at the time. Accordingly, while the Leimo brand and product range is
considered to be strong it still only occupies a very small part of the overall hair-
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loss treatment market. Based on performance to date the Board is of the view
that InnovaDerma is well positioned to grow the Leimo Business steadily and
rapidly.
Alongside the Leimo products InnovaDerma has introduced the Pollogen ‘stop’
and ‘pose’ products which complement the Leimo product range and have the
scope to contribute to the InnovaDerma Group’s revenues well beyond their
current level (ten percent of total revenue).
2.

Value creation driven by capital discipline & a focus on returns.
The InnovaDerma Group operates on a cash efficient business model in order to
maximise value for its shareholders and partners. A key component of this model
is utilising the Board and senior management’s extensive networks as well
as forming strategic alliances for key global distribution opportunities. One of the
significant advantages the company offers, aside from its intellectual property, is
that it is already shipping orders to customers and securing sales both
domestically and internationally.

3.

Management are owners not caretakers of assets.
The Board, senior management, and advisors to the board have all invested in
the company and hold shares. This commitment and vested interest by directors,
management and owners further validates the company in the eyes of
employees, customers, partners and investors. Haris Chaudhry is the Issuer’s key
person.

4.

Strong pipeline of high quality international distribution partners.
The Company has already established national distribution channels throughout
Australia, and the Leimo product was sold in UK through a network of distributors,
and in UAE through TV Shopping network prior to it being acquired by
InnovaDerma. One of the company's highest priorities for 2016 and onwards is to
expand its distribution into neighbouring countries where distribution channels are
not already present. Additionally, the company will leverage these established
distribution pipelines by introducing an expanded product range
into these international distribution channels to maximize global growth.
The Issuer is in negotiations with retailers in other jurisdictions to grow and
expand the Issuer’s business

5.

Marketing operations are scale-able with a predictable expenditure/return
model.
The Leimo product has shown continuous and reliable return on investment on
direct advertising and has delivered a significantly better-than-average return on
marketing investment. Over the past decade, the company has averaged in
excess of three to one increase in revenue for each dollar invested in advertising.
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With the increasing product portfolio incorporating newly developed Leimo For
Her and Leimo Instant Hair, this ratio is expected to reach in excess of four to
one.
6.

Growing balance sheet, IP, Product Portfolio and Branding.
The company will continues to expand its product portfolio beyond the existing
Leimo and Pollogen product ranges through the acquisition of businesses, entry
into suitable distribution/licensing/joint venture arrangements and by undertaking
internal research and development activities.

7.2.2

The InnovaDerma Business has been operated by an Australian private company,
InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd (Australian Company Number 165 472 015), since
August 2013 at which time that company acquired the Leimo Business. In September
2014 InnovaDerma PLC was incorporated to become the global holding company for
the InnovaDerma Business and to acquire all of the shares in InnovaDerma Aus & NZ
Pty Ltd for that purpose. On 28 November 2014 InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd
became a wholly owned subsidiary of InnovaDerma PLC.
Since August 2013 InnovaDerma ANZ has added the Pollogen non-invasive, aesthetic
skin-care treatments to its range, and has acquired the global intellectual property rights
(including patents and trade marks) on which the Leimo Business is based. InnovaDerma
will continue to focus on male and female hair loss and anti-ageing treatments.
InnovaDerma exports its products globally and the product range includes:
Leimo Brand:
- Leimo Therapy
- Leimo Thickening Conditioner
- Leimo Vitality Shampoo
- Leimo Instant Hair
- Leimo Personal Hair Laser
- Scalp and Body Exfoliating Spa
Pollogen Brand:
- POSE Preparation GEL
- POSE Starter Kit Black
- POSE Starter Kit White
- STOP After Treatment Cream
- STOP Preparation GEL
- STOP Starter Kit Black
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- STOP Starter Kit White
The LEIMO products were all developed by PROS International Company Limited, a
Korean company, and since 9 April 2015 all intellectual property in those products is
wholly owned by InnovaDerma.
The Pollogen products were all developed by Pollogen Ltd, an Israeli company, which
continues to own the intellectual property in those products. Since 1 October 2013
InnovaDerma has been marketing and selling those products pursuant to a distribution
agreement with Pollogen Ltd.
InnovaDerma has a broad range of products and technologies in which it has or aims to
have a direct or indirect interest, and which it will progressively bring to the market. A
key strength of the Company is that it has current revenue and earnings to ensure
sustainable growth while it continues its research and development program and
executes its strategic expansion program.
The company’s success to date can be attributed to quality product ranges and detailed
marketing strategies to steer the InnovaDerma products through the most effective
distribution channels. These attributes have enabled InnovaDerma to establish itself as
a fast-growing business in its market segment.

7.2.3

The InnovaDerma products fall into two categories – hair-loss and anti-ageing.
The hair-loss products currently consist of the Leimo product range. That range
includes a number of organic-based hair-loss products which can be used either
individually or in combination to address hair-loss issues, and can be further integrated
with the Leimo Personal Hair Laser to prevent the progression and recurrence of hair
thinning conditions by slowing down the build-up of Dihydrotestosterone in the scalp.
The anti-ageing treatments at the date of this prospectus consist of the Pollogen TriPollar
range of products, which in turn consist of the TriPollar STOP and TriPollar POSE ranges.
Both are anti-ageing relaxing treatments which significantly reduces wrinkles and fine
lines as well as improving skin texture. TriPollar STOP is intended for use on the face
and neck, while TriPollar POSE is intended for use on the rest of the body.

7.2.4

Principal Markets
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Androgenic alopecia, the technical name for common hair loss, affects both sexes and
is estimated to affect approximately 30% of women (female pattern hair loss) and 60%
of men (male pattern hair loss).
Hair loss in females in a relatively untapped market because the core focus for most
companies operating in this sector has been the male demographic. InnovaDerma’s
Leimo female hair loss treatment program (Leimo For Her) has been developed
specifically to target this female target market.
At this stage the trading data available to InnovaDerma is not sufficient to provide a
clear indication of the likely geographic distribution of its sales as the InnovaDerma
Business grows. InnovaDerma is focusing marketing and sales efforts on Australia,
Europe and the USA (in that order) because in all three markets there is still enormous
scope for sales growth. The Australian market is first because it was the focus of the
Leimo Business at the time it was acquired and is still producing over 90% of the Leimo
sales. The European market is second because it can be tackled on a step by step
basis, starting with the United Kingdom, and so will not overstretch the Group’s
resources. The US market is third because, while it is potentially the largest of the three
markets for the Group it is also the most competitive and the most expensive to fully
engage with.
The Leimo Business has already attracted orders from over 40 countries, however the
primary focus for the next two years will be on developing the three regions outlined
above to ensure that the opportunities in those markets are maximised.
The highest priorities in respect of business growth in the next twelve months are to
aggressively expand marketing initiatives, develop the existing product range and
intellectual property portfolio through internal research and development and accelerate
both of these through strategic marketing and business partnerships.
7.2.5

The development of products by the Issuer is governed by the Therapeutic Goods
Administration in Australia and by various health authorities in each country into which
the company will be importing or exporting. The company must ensure that each of its
products meets these strict regulations before it can be licensed to sell the products.
As all of the products offered by the company are intended for human application the
regulatory approvals in each region in which InnovaDerma operates are essential to its
core business.
To date the Issuer has either been provided with the approval by the relevant
intellectual property owner or obtained that approval itself. To the extent it had to obtain
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the approval itself it has had no difficulty with that process, and no regulatory authority
has raised any material issues about the Issuer's products or taken any steps which
could have led to an approval being withdrawn. From time to time the approval process
has however delayed entry into new markets.

7.2.6
It is difficult to obtain accurate figures for the overall market size because the sales
channels are diverse, the distribution networks can be complex, there are a number of
well resourced companies, and competitors. The competitor organisations typically do
not make their financial information publically available. However, the Board can say
there is fragmented market place. While there are competitors to InnovaDerma’s Leimo
product range. Some competitors do not have direct access to market share, to exert
direct market dominance. However, some well resourced companies, who wield
significant market power, have the resources to enter the market and exert market
dominant type pressures on the Issuer. Therefore, the Issuer is aware of challenges
which may arise. However, the Issuer does not expect to encounter any direct
resistance to growing the Leimo Business as a result of a competitor seeking to protect
its market share, at present.
InnovaDerma has a well-developed marketing and sales strategy which to date has
meant that money spent on marketing and sales activities has achieved a very
consistent and predictable revenue increase. Again the Board is not aware of any
impact from competitors on the ratio between these two factors; other than the general,
background tension that a competitive environment generates.
In the time the Group has been involved with the Leimo and Pollogen product ranges
there have been no medical or safety issues of any kind raised by consumers or third
parties, and the Board is not aware of any prior to the Group taking on those products.
While this is not a unique competitive advantage, it does enhance the appeal of the
Group’s products to consumers and puts the Group into a more prestigious category of
retailers in this market.

7.3
7.3.1

Organisational Structure
The following description of the InnovaDerma Group is to be read in
conjunction with the organisation chart below.
The Issuer is the parent company of InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd which
operates the primary InnovaDerma Business. It is also the parent company of
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InnovaDerma NZ Ltd, InnovaDerma Philippines Inc, InnovaDerma
International Limited and InnovaDerma UK Ltd, all of which are currently
inactive but will be used in due course to operate separate divisions of the
InnovaDerma Group’s business.
Skinny Tan Pty Ltd was acquired on 29 May 2015 as the company that
operated the Skinny Tan Business.
The Issuer, as the ultimate holding company with 100% effective ownership
of all subsidiaries (with the exception of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd of which it holds
80% as a result of 20% of its holding to third parties, on 1 December 2015
the Issuer owns 80% of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd) in the InnovaDerma Group, can
control the subsidiaries and is positioned to receive the benefit of the profits
generated by the Group as a whole.

InnovaDerma PLC
UK Coy No: 9226823

InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd
Australian Coy No: 165 472 015

InnovaDerma Philippines Inc
Philippine Coy No: CS201434020

InnovaDerma NZ Ltd
NZ Coy No: 505 6800

InnovaDerma UK Ltd
UK Coy No: 9028508

InnovaDerma International Limited
HK Companies Registry No.1984312

Skinny Tan Pty Ltd, Australian Coy
No: 156 002 103

Innova Science, Inc. United States,
Delaware Coy No: 5720260
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7.4
7.4.1

Property, Plant and Equipment
The business holds no major items of property, plant or equipment. All otherAI:
assets are set out in the historical financial statements as provided.
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method, on the following
bases:
Computer equipment

30%

Motor vehicles

20%

Fixture, fittings and equipment

30%

Trademarks and Licenses:
Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost.
Trademarks and licences acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Once utilisation commences, trademarks
and licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the cost of trademarks and licences over their estimated useful lives
of 15 to 20 years.

7.5
7.5.1

Capital Resources

Short Term: The Issuer continues to re-invest profits from the company’s trading
revenues to support organic expansion through increased marketing and product
development. If capital raising and listing costs are excluded from the calculation
then the company is now profitable, and as a result of recent capital raising
efforts it has significant cash reserves. Accordingly, it expects to have sufficient
cash flow to enable organic growth to be sustained at current rates.
Long Term: A successful listing on to the Standard listing segment of the Official
List of the FCA and trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market
will assist the company to access external financial resources for the purpose of
accelerating the growth of the InnovaDerma Business.

7.5.2

The sales revenue for the past 12 months (as shown in the audited financial report)
has been derived principally from the Australian market. In the months proceeding
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the 30 June audited accounts, the Australian market is still the Issuer’s principal
market.
The international growth strategy is actively being implemented and the Board is
very pleased with the rapid progress of that work. Particularly to the extent that it
expects it to reshape the business over the next twelve months. However, the
international growth strategy has not yet made a significant impact on the
financial results to date.
Establishing a presence in key regional markets will enable InnovaDerma to
drive marketing activities either directly or in partnership with distribution
companies in the most appropriate channels. In addition, relationships with
regulatory agencies would be closer and strengthened enabling issues to be
resolved in much shorter timeframes. Product training and technical support for
distribution companies would be deliverable in a more responsive way along with
the proactive task of identifying new product opportunities.
The Company has examined a number of business models for securing,
developing and maintaining international markets. The Company will in most
circumstances operate a direct sales process with a globally centralised
customer support centre and a multi-pronged marketing strategy. The
sophisticated marketing processes developed and used by InnovaDerma will be
localised as necessary, however this is unlikely to require significant change to
the underlying sales and distribution mechanisms as these have already been
tested and found appropriate in many different countries.
Overall, InnovaDerma aims through organic growth and acquisition to become a
major player in the hair-loss sector with a complimentary business in the antiageing market. InnovaDerma will maintain its current, strong hair-loss sector
focus, however it will also seek to expand its product portfolio in order to
maximise efficiencies, make the most of its strong brand portfolio and reduce the
impact of any decrease in sales in one or more product lines.

7.5.3

The company has established a strong track record of value creation driven by AI
capital discipline and a focus on returns. The company credits this to key
management being owners of the Issuer’s shares and not just caretakers of
assets. As a result, the group has strong support from management and
founding shareholders to meet its current capital raising requirements.
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7.6
7.6.1

Research and Development

Research costs are not viewed as separable from marketing and development
AI
costs. As such, all of these costs are expensed as incurred and are not separately
accounted for in the Issuer's books of account.

7.7
7.7.1

Trend Information

The Issuer has been experiencing significant uncertainty in its cost of goods,
including the cost of manufacturing of its products (where applicable) as a result
of the weakening Australian dollar, together with a general increase in Australian
labour costs. The Issuer will respond to this trend to ensure its impact on the
Group’s profitability will be contained. To that end the Issuer is actively reviewing
a combination of options including moving manufacturing to a lower cost country,
continuing to focus on hiring staff in lower cost regions outside of Australia and
ensuring the Group’s contracts are negotiated in currencies other than Australian
dollars.
As many of the Group’s goods are already manufactured by third parties outside
Australia and the Group is already actively expanding its operations outside of
Australia the Issuer is confident that the Group will not experience great difficulty
adapting to these changes and they are not expected to have significant impact
on the Group’s financial performance.
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8.

Persons Responsible, Directors, Senior Management and Corporate
Governance
8.1

8.1.1

Directors' Responsibility

The Directors of the Issuer whose names appear in Section 8.2 of this
Prospectus and the Issuer accept responsibility for the information
contained in this Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge of the Directors
and the Issuer (who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is
the case), the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance
with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.
KSI(WA), whose details are set out in section 3, is responsible for the
financial information included in section 14 of this Prospectus: the
accountants’ report on the pro forma financial statement regarding the
acquisition of the assets of PROS International Company Limited by
InnovaDerma PLC on 9 April 2015 and the acquisition of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd
on 29 May 2015. It is the responsibility of KSI(WA) to form an opinion, as
required by paragraph 7 of Annex II of the Prospectus Directive Regulation,
as to the proper compilation of the pro-forma financial information and to
report that opinion to the company. To the best of its knowledge (having
taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information
contained in these parts of this Prospectus for which it is responsible is in
accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.
Somes Cooke is responsible for their opinion on the financial information
included in section 13.2 of this Prospectus: the audited financial statements
for InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd for the period 26 August 2013 through 30
June 2014; and in section 13.3 of this Prospectus: the audited financial
statements for InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd for the half-year to 31
December 2014. To the best of its knowledge (having taken all reasonable
care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in these parts
of this Prospectus for which it is responsible is in accordance with the facts
and contains no omission likely to affect its import.

8.2
8.2.1

Directors' and Senior Management Details, Advisors and Conflicts
Name:

Mr Haris Chaudhry, FAIM MAICD

Function:

Executive Chairman

Background:

A serial business developer with a 17 year career
creating new business opportunities and expanding
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existing ones throughout the globe, Haris has delivered
excellent outcomes whilst working in senior business
development and executive roles and as an
entrepreneur.
Haris created the InnovaDerma group of businesses in
2013 through the acquisition of assets, products,
distribution platforms and Intellectual Property (IP) in
multiple companies and aggregated them under
InnovaDerma PLC in September 2014. He set about on
an aggressive growth strategy for the InnovaDerma
group through the development of new products,
acquisition of global IP for the core product range
(LEIMO) and in setting up hundreds of new distribution
points throughout Australia and around the globe.
Prior to that Haris worked as Director for Global
Partnerships & Business Development for Carbon
Planet Limited (a Public company), a world leader in
carbon economy with emissions reductions projects
around the globe. Haris identified and secured country
partnerships and projects in Malaysia, Singapore,
Indonesia, Bangladesh, Pakistan, Jordan, Brazil,
Columbia, Mozambique and Azerbaijan.
Haris also worked for Rocksoft Limited (a Public
Company) as Director for Asia-Pacific where he set up
business distribution and channel distribution partners
throughout Asia-Pacific and in Europe, and in Senior
Business Development roles with Upstream, a fully
owned subsidiary of Fuji-Xerox Australia.
Haris is the founder & Executive Director of Climate
Ventures, Director for Farris Marketing Concepts and
founder & Non-Executive Chairman for Pak Energy &
Agro Ventures (a recycling & oil refining operation
turning landfill into fuel).
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He is a Fellow of Australian Institute of Management
and a member of Australian Institute of Company
Directors and lives in Melbourne.

Name:

Mr Garry Geert Lemair, FAICD

Function:

Director

Background:

With a 40 year career spanning leadership, executive
and board roles with some of the largest corporates
including global Fortune 500 companies, Garry is an
experienced visionary executive and leader. He has an
immensely rich background and skill set gained
through driving change and delivering excellent
shareholder value whilst working across Asia, Europe
and Americas.
Garry served as Senior Vice President & Director for
Citibank for Asia, Board member for Diners Club
International, CEO & Regional Director for Pepsi Co/
KFC, President Asia Pacific for Fluor Daniels,
Managing Director Asia-Pacific for Taubmans/
Coultaulds, President Asia-Pacific for TRS Staffing and
as an Interim CEO and Director for a JV created by
Westpac, CBA and ANZ banks.
He is currently a board member of multiple ASX listed
companies including Adcorp Australia Limited and
Mariner Corporation Limited and is a Chairman of
Lemair International, Grenada International and the
fast-growing firms Webprofits Pty Ltd and Telegate Pty
Ltd.
Garry is a Fellow of Australian Institute of Company
Directors and lives in Sydney.

Name:

Mr Joe Bayer, FCPA GAICD

Function:

Executive Director

Background:

Joe has over 2 decades of executive experience
gained in healthcare, pharmacy, consumer products,
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M&A and capital raising areas. He has worked globally
in senior executive roles for some of the largest
consumer and healthcare companies including CSR,
Faulding, Mayne Health and Fletchers.
Joe also served as Chairman for Cynergy Health
(Australia) for 2 years.
Until recently he was an Executive Director of Cygenta
Capital & Advisory and Chief Executive Officer for Kain
Corporate & Commercial Lawyers.
Joe is a Fellow of CPA Australia and a Graduate of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors and lives in
Adelaide.

Name:

Mr Rodney Turner, MBT GAICD

Function:

Director

Background:

Rodney has over 20 years operational and strategic
experience in the clinical & regulatory affairs and
quality management environment with deep experience
in global compliance and technology. He possesses indepth skills and prior experience in developing product
and regulatory strategies for market access and
consumer goods such as OTC (over the counter),
prescription medicines and all classes of medical
devices including many products within the
dermatology sector. He has held senior leadership
roles in a diverse range of companies.
Rodney currently serves as Head of ANZ Regulatory
Affairs for Sandoz Pty Ltd (one of the largest global
Pharmaceutical companies) and worked previously
with iNova Pharmaceuticals, Valeant Pharmaceuticals,
Ventracor, Gambro & Fresenius-Kabi Australia.
Rodney lives in Sydney and is a Graduate of Australian
Institute of Company Directors.
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Name:

Mr Nick Lindsay

Function:

Company Secretary

Background:

Nick Lindsay is a corporate lawyer and a director of
Elemental CoSec. Nick is responsible for the delivery
of the governance, secretarial and corporate legal
functions at Elemental CoSec and works with a range
of UK and international public companies on their initial
listings and ongoing compliance.
Elemental CoSec are one of the leading company
secretarial firms in London, providing company
secretarial, administrative and corporate services to a
range of companies, law firms and accountancy firms.

Name:

Mr Clifford Giles

Function:

Non Executive Director

Background:

Clifford Giles is a Founder & Managing Director of IPO
Capital Partners Ltd (IPO Capital), a pre-IPO
investment firm based in London, United Kingdom.
Clifford’s background is in financial services focused
on equity markets and strengths lie in capital raising
for small and medium enterprises. His scope includes
insight, commercial rigour, product position, end to
end delivery of product roll out to introducing capital
at any stage of an enterprises trading cycle.
Highlights from his career include executive and
leadership roles with Reed Business Publishing, Asia
Pacific.
Founder of imove, a developer of web-based change
of address applications for publishing houses and
other mass mailers, listing the company in 2001.
Founder of SportsCredit, a financial product enabling
elite athletes to borrow against their on-field contracts
to accelerate wealth aspiration. Most recently,
founder of IPO Capital Partners, a pre-IPO
investment firm providing capital to innovative and
high growth enterprises committed to listing on a
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recognised exchange. Clifford has built IPO Capital
Partners from start-up in early 2012 through to
funding and listing numerous companies with a
combined market capitalisation in excess of £200m
and now focused on extending funding to a wider
global business community through partnerships.

8.2.2

There are no actual or potential conflicts of interest regarding the persons set
out in Section 8.2.1, as between their duties to the Issuer and their private
interests and other duties other than as set out in section 8.5 below, namely
those conflicts of interest relating to Haris Chaudhry in his capacity as a
director, shareholder and creditor of the Issuer.
By way of example, it is possible that Mr Chaudhry could be involved in a
board decision regarding whether to repay funds from the Issuer to him (or
entities associated with him) by way of loan repayment, or the distribution of
funds to the shareholders by way of dividend, or the retention of funds by the
Issuer for use in the course of the Issuer’s business. This may require him to
abstain from the decision making process as a director to prevent a conflict of
his duties as a director of the Issuer with the pursuit of his interests as a
shareholder or creditor

8.3

Remuneration and Benefits

In relation to the last full financial year for those persons referred to in Section 8.2.1 above:
8.3.1

Directors’ remuneration in its various forms was agreed by Board resolution, not
formalised by contracts at this stage, and these arrangements will continue until
re-visited by either party. Thus, there has been no specification of termination
benefits for directors at this time.
Amount of emoluments & compensation for first twelve month period of
appointment of each director to the Board.

Director Name

Salary

Superannuation

Consultancy

Total

Fees
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Haris

$150,0000

$15,000

Nil

$165,000

Joseph Bayer

$35,000

$3,500

Nil

$38,500

Garry Lemair

$35,000

$3,500

Nil

$38,500

Rodney Turner

$30,000

$3,000

Nil

$33,000

$0

$0

Nil

$0

Chaudhry

Clifford Giles
8.3.2

The Issuer has not entered into any service contracts with the persons set out
in Section 8.2.1 which provide for benefits upon termination of employment
beyond those which arise as a matter of the ordinary operation of law.

8.4
8.4.1

Board Practices

The Directors are reviewed at each annual general meaning and up for
reappointment by the Issuer's Shareholders, in accordance with the
Company's articles of association.

8.4.2

The Audit Committee will assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities
with regard to financial reporting, external and internal audits and controls,
including reviewing the Issuer's annual financial statements, reviewing and
monitoring the extent of the non-audit work, internal controls and risk
management systems. The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving
the annual report and accounts and the half-yearly reports will remain with the
Board.
Audit, Remuneration, Nomination and Disclosure Committees
As envisaged by the UK Corporate Governance Code, the Board has
established Audit, Remuneration, Nomination and Disclosure Committees.
(A) Audit Committee
The Audit Committee has responsibility for, among other things, the monitoring
of the financial integrity of the financial statements of the Group and the
involvement of the Group’s auditors in that process. It focuses in particular on
compliance with accounting policies and ensuring that an effective system of
internal financial controls is maintained. The ultimate responsibility for
reviewing and approving the annual report and accounts and the half-yearly
reports remains with the Board. The Audit Committee will normally meet at
least twice a year at the appropriate times in the reporting and audit cycle.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee cover such issues as
membership and the frequency of meetings, together with requirements for
quorum and notice procedure and the right to attend meetings. The
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responsibilities of the Audit Committee covered in the terms of reference are:
external audit, internal audit, financial reporting and internal controls and risk
management. The terms of reference also set out the authority of the
committee to carry out its responsibilities.
The Audit Committee’s terms of reference require that it comprise two or more
independent Non-Executive Directors, and at least one person who is to have
significant, recent and relevant financial experience.
The Audit Committee currently comprises Rodney Turner and Joseph Bayer.
The committee is chaired by Rodney Turner.
(B) Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee has responsibility for the determination of the
terms and conditions of employment, remuneration and benefits of each of the
Chairman, Executive Directors, members of the executive and the company
secretary, including pension rights and any compensation payments, and
recommending and monitoring the level and structure of remuneration for
senior management and the implementation of share option or other
performance-related schemes. The Remuneration Committee will meet at least
once a year.
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee cover such issues as
membership and frequency of meetings, together with the requirements for
quorum and notice procedure and the right to attend meetings. The
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee covered in its terms of
reference are: determining and monitoring policy on and setting levels of
remuneration, early termination, performance-related pay and pension
arrangements; authorising claims for expenses from the Directors; reporting
and disclosure of remuneration policy; share schemes (including the annual
level of awards); obtaining information on remuneration in other companies;
and selecting, appointing and terminating remuneration consultants. The terms
of reference also set out the reporting responsibilities and the authority of the
committee to carry out its responsibilities.
The Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference require that it comprise two
or more independent Non-Executive Directors.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises Garry Lemair and Rodney Turner.
The committee is chaired by Garry Lemair.
(C) Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is responsible for considering and making
recommendations to the Board in respect of appointments to the Board, the
Board committees and the chairmanship of the Board committees. It is also
responsible for keeping the structure, size and composition of the Board under
regular review, and for making recommendations to the Board with regard to
any changes necessary.
The Nomination Committee’s terms of reference deal with such issues as
membership and frequency of meetings, together with the requirements for
quorum and notice procedure and the right to attend meetings. The
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee covered in its terms of reference
include: review of the Board composition; appointing new Directors;
reappointment and re-election of existing Directors; succession planning,
taking into account the skills and expertise that will be needed on the Board in
the future; reviewing time required from Non-Executive Directors; determining
membership of other Board committees; and ensuring external facilitation of
the evaluation of the Board. The Nomination Committee will meet at least once
a year.
The Nomination Committee’s terms of reference require that it comprise two or
more independent Non-Executive Directors.
The Nomination Committee comprises Joseph Bayer and Garry Lemair. The
committee is chaired by Joseph Bayer.
(D) Disclosure Committee
The Disclosure Committee is responsible for, among other things, helping the
Company make timely and accurate disclosure of all information that it is
required to disclose under its legal and regulatory obligations arising as a
result of the listing of the Ordinary Shares on the London Stock Exchange. The
Disclosure Committee will meet at such times as shall be necessary or
appropriate.
The Disclosure Committee’s terms of reference deal with such issues as
membership and frequency of meetings, together with the requirements for
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quorum and notice procedure and the right to attend meetings. The
responsibilities in the terms of reference of the Disclosure Committee relate to
the following: determining the disclosure treatment of material
information; identifying insider information; assisting in the design,
implementation and periodic evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures;
monitoring compliance with the Company’s disclosure procedures and share
dealing policies; resolving questions about the
materiality of information; insider lists; reviewing announcements dealing with
significant developments in the Company’s business; and considering the
requirements for announcements in case of rumours relating to the Company.
The Disclosure Committee’s terms of reference require that it comprise two or
more independent Non-Executive Directors.
The Disclosure Committee comprises Joseph Bayer and Nick Lindsay. The
Committee is chaired by Joseph Bayer.

8.4.3

The Issuer complies with the U K Corporate Governance Code.
InnovaDerma ANZ complies with all aspect of the corporate governance
regime that applies to it in Australia, and the other subsidiaries comply with
their respective local corporate governance regimes.
Neither the Issuer, InnovaDerma ANZ nor any other member of the
InnovaDerma Group has been the subject of any regulatory orders or inquiries.

8.5
8.5.1

Related Party Transactions

The related party transactions entered into with the Issuer during the period
covered by the historical financial information and up to the date of this
Prospectus are set out below in compliance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS):
Haris Chaudhry is a director of the Issuer and controls a major shareholder of
the Issuer. He has from time to time not drawn his full salary entitlement, and
the undrawn amount has been allocated to a loan account with the Issuer. As
at the date of this Prospectus that loan account has a balance of $173,154of
which $95,066relates to unpaid salary. Working capital finance has from time
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to time been provided by Haris Chaudhry and that constitutes the balance of
the $173,154 loan account after allowing for the unpaid salary, being $78,088.
The total amount of the loan is unsecured, there is no interest payable, there is
no term on the loan amount, and the loan is repayable on demand.

Zaymar Investments Pty Ltd is a related entity of Haris Chaudhry, a director of
the Issuer. Zaymar Investments Pty Ltd is a major shareholder of the Issuer. It
has advanced $631,866 to the Issuer. The total amount of the loan is
unsecured, and there is no interest payable.
Farris Marketing Concepts Pty Ltd is a related entity of Haris Chaudhry, a
director of the Issuer. Farris Marketing Concepts Pty Ltd has advanced
$151,495 to the Issuer. The total amount of the loan is unsecured, there is no
interest payable, there is no term on the loan amount, and the loan is
repayable on demand.
Joe Bayer is a director of the Issuer and has advanced $25,000 to the Issuer.
The total amount of the loan is unsecured, there is no interest payable, there is
no term on the loan amount, and the loan is repayable on demand.
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9.

Reasons for the Offer, Use of Funds
9.1

9.1.1

Reasons for Offer and Use of Funds

This Offer seeks to raise the funds required to assist the InnovaDerma Group
to pay for the costs of integration of recent acquisitions, developing new
products and commercializing recently acquired IP, marketing the
InnovaDerma products and increasing the inventory levels and cash reserves.
The funds will also be used to pay for the cost of the offer and listing process.
A failure to raise the required capital will have an impact on the rate of
business growth but will not affect the underlying sustainability of the business.

Upon full subscription of this offer the Issuer will have raised £3,000,000.
Allowing for completion of the immediate growth plans as laid earlier in this
prospectus.
Use of Funds

Estimated Amount
Fully Subscribed Offer

•

Acquisitions – integration and growth

£750,000

costs of recent acquisitions.
•

R&D – particularly design,

£750,000

development and approval of laser
helmet to supplement and/or replace
laser comb technology.
•

Marketing – accelerated media

£400,000

strategy for faster market penetration
and revenue.
•

Inventory Increase and Cash Buffer

£850,000

•

Cost of offer and listing process

£250,000

Total

£3,000,000

Integration of Recent Acquisitions
To take a significant leap into the largest and the most lucrative markets of
Europe and Americas, InnovaDerma is gaining access to high quality and wellestablished distribution network to channel its products through ensuring a
fast-tracked access to the European market for its flagship products.
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InnovaDerma aims to utilize the capital raised through this offering in
accelerating the integration of these acquisitions and supporting their growth,
which is expected to lead to an immediate positive impact on its top line
revenue, distribution footprint and Intellectual Property. Once the acquisitions
are fully integrated it is expected that they will grow steadily and should result
in the company having a truly global outlook, footprint and diversified product
strategy which will enhance its ability to increase revenue, earnings,
Intellectual Property and distribution base manifolds.
It should be noted that both acquisitions were completed prior to the issue of
this Prospectus. The funds raised through this prospectus are not required to
fund the acquisitions in any way, however some of the proceeds from the
capital raising will be directed towards accelerating their integration and
growing the business opportunities which those acquisitions represent. The
Board is committed to ensuring that acquisitions will not put excessive strain
on the existing cash-flows and capital reserves of the InnovaDerma business,
and will ensure the integration process is undertaken in a measured way which
maintains the Group cash-flows. If the proceeds of the capital raising under
this Prospectus are sufficient to enable significant investment in one or both of
the acquisitions, then the Board expects their full integration to be faster and
their growth in revenue and profits in the businesses to be very strong.

Development of New Products
The global hair loss treatment market over the past decade has been moving
gradually towards easy to use, highly effective and widely available products
with least / no side-effects and over the past few years has seen the
development of laser-helmets (iGrow, Theradome) which have replaced
handheld combs (similar to Leimo) offering quicker, easier and more effective
treatment options for 50% of the world’s population suffering from hair loss.
InnovaDerma has been evaluating a number of options available to it to
transform the technology it pioneered 10 years ago (by combining Laser and
LED into a world’s first product for hair loss treatment using 2 technologies into
a single hand held device) into a wearable and even more effective Laser
Helmet which it aims to design and develop for immediate approval through
FDA.
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Through a series of discussions, research and planning the company believes
that it can bring a helmet that will be effective (in over 98% of the people
suffering hair loss) within 12 months and approved through US’ FDA to treat
male and female hair loss.
The capital raised will be channelled immediately into the finalized design and
prototype along with immediate initiation of clinical studies and or usability
studies to demonstrate its efficacy and believes that based on 2 other products
receiving approval from FDA for treating hair loss that it will be able to offer a
better, highly effective product with even better value proposition to half the
world hair loss market.
Marketing
InnovaDerma aims to develop highly effective and fresh marketing collateral,
strategies and assets which it believes will significantly enhance its ability to
deliver its message of offering one of the world’s best solutions for men and
women suffering hair loss through its Leimo product range; and in enhancing
its distribution of TriPollar Stop and Pose to become the ‘at-home’ industry
benchmark for skin rejuvenation and body contouring.
The marketing campaign will consist of fresh television commercials, high
impact video and online content, public relations campaigns, media time, and
performance driven media strategies (assets). The marketing campaign will:
(a)

Promote that the products are the only alternative to high-cost
clinic based treatment options for millions of Australians and New
Zealanders;

(b)

Replicate the above process in English speaking markets
throughout the UK, South Africa, and Canada; and

(c)

Then move its focus to a number of countries in Asia and the
Middle East.

Marketing and advertising of the products which the Group now has access to
as a result of the recent acquisitions will also form part of the Group’s
marketing strategy commencing progressively over the next twelve months.

Inventory Increase and Cash Buffer
InnovaDerma can enhance its gross profit simply through buying better.
Specifically, the Issuer can increase its gross profit by 5% of its turnover by
pre-purchasing six months’ worth of stock based on forward estimates
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(including anticipated increases resulting from the expansion of its sales and
distribution activities).
The Issuer has confirmed with the manufacturers that if order sizes increase
significantly then the manufacturer can provide discounts of 10%-20.
Subsequently the company is aiming to increase its buying-power and reduce
costs per unit in order to achieve better margins.
Furthermore, the Issuer aims to have significant cash reserves available to
enable it to fulfil the cash requirements associated with high growth strategies
to gain additional market share, new staff, further distribution points and a
need for enhanced infrastructure.

Less than full subscription
In the event that the Offer is not fully subscribed the funds will be allocated first
to the offer and the listing process. Once these expenses have been paid the
allocation of funds will be subject to Board discretion but is expected to be
distributed between all of the categories listed in the Use of Funds table above
broadly in accordance with the proportions set out there.
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10. Selected Financial Information
10.1 Revenue Summary
10.1.1

Historical

Historical

ID ANZ

P&L for the

P&L for the

Period 1

period from 1

period from

July 2014

July 2015 to

19

to 31

31 December

September

December

2015

2014 to 30

2014

(Unaudited)

June 2015

(Audited)

ID ANZ
Period 26
August
2013 to 30
June 2014
(Audited)

(Audited)

AU$

AU$

AU$

Revenue

3,260,387

1,047,651

400,172

654,139

Cost of sales

(1,118,831)

(345,733)

(127,367)

(195,282)

Gross profit

2,141,556

701,918

272,805

458,857

Marketing

(1,055,026)

(849,347)

(280,730)

(201,823)

(431,862)

(290,239)

(250,279)

(321,003)

(977)

(14,462)

(900,294)

(299,141)

(7,707)

(900,294)

(299,141)

(7,707)

-

-

-

expenses
Administrative

(344,215)

expenses
Depreciation

AU$

917

expenses
Wages and

(462,473)

salaries
Listing expenses
Other Expenses

(40,725)

Operating Profit/
(Loss)

238,200

Profit/ (Loss)

238,200

before tax
Tax expense

-

Net profit/ (loss)
for the period
attributable to

238,200

(900,294)

-

(7, 707)

-

-

(908,001)

(299,141)

(7,707)

(0.12)

(2,991)

(70)

members of the

(299,141)

(7,707)

Company

Other
comprehensive
income
Total
comprehensive
profit/ (loss) for
the period
attributable to
members of the
Company

Basic & diluted
loss per share

238,200

0.02
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10.2 Asset and Liability Summary
10.2.1

InnovaDerma
PLC
Financial
Position as at 31
December 2015
(Unaudited)

InnovaDerma

InnovaDerma

ID ANZ

PLC Financial

PLC Financial

Financial

Position as at

Position as at

Position as at 30

30 June 2015

31 December

June 2014

(Audited)

2014

(Audited)

(Audited)

AU$

AU$

AU$

AU$

Current assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

212,618

42,507

316,601
820,888

Trade and other
receivables
Inventory
Other assets

Total current assets

1,080,669
645, 813
-

2,043,083

112,142

341,794
69,411

735,965

100,430

212,580
24,211

1,157,309

21,064

97,930
-

161,501

Non-current assets

Property, plant and

15,592

Equipment
3,427,879
Intangible assets

Other assets

10,258

Intangible assets

3,427,879

19,807

3,418,479

2662

358,319

-

358,319
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Total non-current assets

Total assets

3,453,729

3,438,286

5,496,812

4,174,251

1,416,300

788,322

360,918

1,518,290

358,319

519,820

Current liabilities

Trade and other
payables

388,541

99,077

955,505
Borrowings

Total current liabilities

688,063

-

428,350

2,411,805

1,476,385

955,505

-

1,333,157

-

-

-

1,333,157

-

Total liabilities

2,411,805

1,476,385

Net (Assets/Liabilities)

3,085,007

2,697,866

388,541

527,427

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings

Total non-current
liabilities

1,721,698

(203,408)

527,427

(7,607)

Equity

Shares
Share premium

2,628,409
2,479,468

100

100

2,492,674
(1,308,057)

Merger reserve

(7,707)
Foreign exchange
reserve
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Accumulated losses

(720,312)

Other Equity

(958,512)

1,176,910

(203,508)

-

(7,707)

-

(Deficit in shareholders
funds)/ Total equity and
reserves

3,085,007

2,697,866

(203,408)

(7,607)
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10.3 Employees
10.3.1

Over the twelve month period leading up to the date of this Prospectus
the Issuer employed 16 full-time staff (including the executive director)
and between 2 and 3 temporary and casual staff. The majority of the
activities of the Issuer are outsourced to third parties, so full-time staff
are principally engaged in internal administrative activities of the Issuer
and in management of third party contractors. Casual staff are retained
primarily to assist with establishing retail distribution and various sales
channels in new markets.

10.3.2

Staff other than the directors do not hold any shares, options or other
rights to participate in the capital of the Issuer, and there is no current or
proposed arrangement which would create any such rights.

110

11. Operating and Financial Review of InnovaDerma
Financial Condition
The following discussion and analysis of the Issuer’s financial condition and results
of operations should be read in connection with the financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with IFRS and are included in Section 13 and form
part of this Prospectus.

11.1 Overview
11.1.1. The Company’s current trading information is summarised in Section 1 of this
document. Descriptions of the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations for each financial year and interim period required to be disclosed in
this document under the Prospectus Rules are further referred to in Section 13
below.
The last audited accounts issued cover the nine-and-a-half-month period to 30
June 2015. The company has also issued accounts covering the six-month period
from 1 July 2015 to 31 December 2015 however these have not been audited and
prospective investors are reminded that the contents of those accounts should not
be relied on to the same degree as if they were audited.
As the Issuer was only incorporated in September 2014 its financial information
provides a robust view into the InnovaDerma Business and the Group as a whole.
InnovaDerma ANZ (the active trading subsidiary of the Issuer) predates the Issuer
but only acquired the InnovaDerma Business on 31 August 2013, and so has a
limited financial history to draw on.
Prior to being acquired by InnovaDerma ANZ, the Leimo Business had been in
decline because the attention of the former owners had moved to other business
interests of theirs. However, it had (and has) clients in over 40 countries, and was
expected to provide a stable base revenue for the InnovaDerma Group with the
injection of new energy and capital. In the period following the acquisition of the
Leimo Business it has been stabilised, transitioned to new management and has
shown consistent and growing revenues from the initial post-acquisition revenue
level.
On 29 May 2015 InnovaDerma PLC acquired 100% of the issued share capital of
Skinny Tan Pty Ltd (it should be noted that on 1 December 2015 the Issuer
disposed of 20% of its holding in Skinny Tan to third parties, and accordingly the
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Issuer now owns 80%). As with the Leimo Business, Skinny Tan had been in
decline because the business was not being managed effectively. Like Leimo it
had clients in many countries and it was hoped this would assist to grow the core
InnovaDerma business by increasing distribution opportunities for Leimo,
particularly in Europe.

In the 31 December 2015 accounts the revenue figures indicate an average
monthly revenue of $543,398 which is a substantial increase from the $110,279
average recorded in the preceding nine-month period. The Board attributes the
change to a greatly increased use of social media (such as Facebook) in the
Company’s marketing campaigns and the considerable increase in the distribution
network which came with the Skinny Tan acquisition. The social media campaign
is relatively costly and this is reflected in the increase in marketing expenses from
averaging under $90,000 per month in the period to 30 June 2015 to over
$175,000 in the period to 31 Dec 2015, however the cost is more than
compensated by the increased revenue which has resulted.
The Leimo Business and the Skinny Tan Business have proven highly synergistic,
and have contributed to one another’s growth, particularly through the overall
increase in the distribution network that has resulted. Businesses that separately
generated $287,000 per month (Leimo) and $110,000 (Skinny Tan) in their best
historical trading periods prior to being acquired by the Issuer have together
generated $543,398 per month in the period to 31 December 2015 (according to
the unaudited Company accounts). This is particularly noteworthy given that
neither business was at its peak when it was acquired by InnovaDerma. Note that
the Leimo pre-acquisition revenue figures were extracted from the unaudited
management accounts for Leimo International Australia Pty Ltd and Norman
Enterprises Pty Ltd (the vendors of the Leimo Business) and have been
independently audited and confirmed by the InnovaDerma ANZ auditors, Somes
Cooke. The Skinny Tan pre-acquisition revenue figures were extracted from the
unaudited management accounts for Skinny Tan Pty Ltd but have not been
independently audited or verified.
While profits in the period to 31 December 2015 remain modest with a net profit
after tax of only $238,200, this is a significant improvement on the $908,001 loss
in the period to 30 June 2015. The Board is confident that the Company is now
well positioned to maximise the potential of those businesses and continue to
grow both revenue and profit figures.
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11.2 Changes in financial condition after the period ending 31 December
2015
11.2.1. There has been no significant change to the financial or trading position of the
Group since 31 December 2015, the last financial period for which interim financial
information has been published.

11.3 Summary of Operating and Financial Review
11.3.1. The financial periods for which information is provided in Section 13 have seen
InnovaDerma take a significant step forward by acquiring the subsidiaries and
being successfully admitted to the GXG Main Quote (an exchange which has
since closed) and the Marché Libre. As part of the listing process the company
has also implemented a high level or corporate compliance by engaging and
assembling an experienced corporate team, board of directors and advisors as
well as an independent company secretary. These are all essential elements for
laying a strong foundation for the company’s future success and overall global
growth strategy.
Group revenue for the period 19 September 2014 to 30 June 2015 was
$1,047,651, resulting in a net loss (after tax) of $900,294 for that period. This
compares to the preceding twelve months revenues for InnovaDerma Aus &NZ
Pty Ltd (the Group’s principal operating subsidiary) with revenue of $654,139 and
a net loss (after tax) of $7,707. The most recent accounts, while unaudited, show
the Group revenue for the six months to 31 December 2015 to have risen to
$3,260,387 with a modest operating profit (after tax) of $238,200.
Using average monthly revenue for comparison the average Group revenue for
the six months to 31 December ($543,398) shows an increase of nearly 500% to
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the 9.6 months to 30 June 2015 ($108,753) which in turn shows an increase of
approximately 100% to the InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd revenue for the twelve
months to 30 June 2014 ($54,511). In addition, the group has moved to its first
profit in the period ending 31 December 2015 which is extremely pleasing.
The periods prior to 30 June 2015 developed the infrastructure, systems, market
position and other matters necessary to increase business revenue and business
efficiency. Putting in place the necessary infrastructure of a new public company
resulted in the company incurring significantly more expenses ‘above and beyond’
its normal operational costs. Added to this the company aggressively marketed its
product range in the period leading up to 30 June 2015 in order to progressively
grow revenues to levels the InnovaDerma Business has previously achieved and
beyond. Any attendant increase in revenues was delayed as a result of the usual
marketing/sales cycle of the InnovaDerma Business such that much of the impact
fell into the six months to 31 December 2015.

Whilst the Board acknowledges the accounts do not yet reflect strong results, the
Board also firmly believes that the annual accounts do not fully value the
foundation which has been laid over the past period to 30 December 2015 and
what it hopes to achieve subsequently.

11.4 Liquidity and Capital Resources
11.4.1.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The Group’s main sources of liquidity in the periods for which financial statements
have been produced (up to 31 December 2015) have been from:
a) Its cash flows from operational revenues;
b) Its borrowings from related parties to the Group; and
c) Equity issue, in certain circumstances.
The Group’s use of available funds has been to fund operational costs, pay for
marketing as the Group expands its footprint in various international markets, and
fund expansions in internal capacity to meet demand (through investment in
inventory stock). To the date of this prospectus, borrowings from related parties to
the Group have expanded as needed, to provide the Group with sufficient liquidity
to meet its spending requirements.
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Finance Facilities
As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s main source of finance is from a variety of
loans advanced to the Group by the following persons/entities:
At 31 December 2015
Mr Haris Chaudhry

$173,757

Zaymar Investments

$631,886

Farris Marketing Concepts Pty Ltd

$151,495

Mr Joe Bayer

$25,000

To the date of this prospectus, borrowings from related parties to the Group have
expanded as needed, to provide the Group with sufficient liquidity to meet its
spending requirements.
In the year to 30 June 2015, the Group also received monies from the issue of
equity instruments, totalling AUD $1,391,162. This money was utilised in providing
liquidity for ongoing operations and funding expansion of the Group’s operating
locale.
Cash Flows
For the period to 31 December 2015, and the period to 30 June 2015, the following
cashflows were observed within the Group:
31 December 2015

30 June 2015

AUD $

AUD $

(352,400)

(843,653)

Net cash used by investing activities

-

(67,494)

Net cash from financing activities

456,383

1,123,765

Increase in cash during period

103,983

212,618

Net

cash

used

by

operating

activities

The cashflows for both periods shown are quite distinctive and have very different
drivers, reflecting the changing circumstances of the Group over time.
Period to 30 June 2015
These figures reflect the Group in its early startup phase, spending heavily relative
to its income, to grow the footprint of the business and become listed. This is
reflected in almost AUD $1 million of expenses relating to marketing of products
and the listing of InnovaDerma PLC.
During this phase, the cashflows from financing enabled the Group to maintain
suitable liquidity, raising funds initially through a convertible note issue that was,
shortly thereafter, converted into shares in InnovaDerma PLC.
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Period to 31 December 2015
By comparison with the previous period, these figures show substantial changes in
the underlying drivers of the cashflows.
Cashflows used by operations is still at a deficit. However, for this period, the main
drivers are:
a) Receivables increased by AUD $968,527 between 1 July 2015 and 31
December 2015, which represents a cashflow deficit – sales made but not
collected.
b) Inventory increased by AUD $304,019 between 1 July 2015 and 31
December 2015, which again represents a cashflow deficit – money
invested in goods not yet sold.
However, both of these factors are positive in the longer term. At 31 December
2015, there is AUD $1.08 million in cash receivable from previous sales, which will
provide a boost to the Group’s liquid resources. Further, the inventory held at that
date can then facilitate immediate sales post 31 December 2015, which gives the
Group the ability to meet more orders quickly.
Evaluating the amounts receivable, if the Group had collected those amounts within
this period, then it would be cashflow positive from operations. Even if they had only
collected a third of the amounts receivable, the Group would be cashflow positive
from operations.
This shows two things, first the growing strength of operations when, even with
more than AUD $1 million outstanding, the group was close to break-even on
operating cashflows; and second, the growing volume of month to month sales.
Given standard payment terms of 30 days, the total value of receivables gives a
good indication of the volume of sales made in the month before 31 December
2015, and shows the increasing growth of sales for the Group.
Cashflows from investing in this period were mainly driven by funds acquired when
InnovaDerma PLC acquired Skinny Tan Pty Ltd, which held a balance on cash on
acquisition.
In this period, the Group’s working capital deficit was funded by cash from financing
activities, through the loans from various parties as outlined in the previous section:
Financing Facilities.
Future Requirements
The Group has made no commitments or substantial expansion plans outside of
their present business, hence, beyond normal operations, there are no atypical
cash outflows (or large investments) expected.
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12. Capitalisation and Indebtedness Statement
12.1 Working Capital Statement
12.1.1

In the opinion of the Issuer the Group does not have sufficient working capital
to meet its present requirements, that is for at least the next 12 months
following the date of this Prospectus. The Issuer requires the proceeds of the
Subscription Offer to fully implement the strategy detailed in this Prospectus.
If the Issuer raises insufficient capital pursuant to the capital raising process
outlined in this Prospectus it will slow the expansion of the InnovaDerma
Business by decreasing the funds available for product development,
marketing and sales expenditure. This is likely to have a detrimental effect
on the revenue and profits of the issuer.
The Issuer has sufficient capital to ensure it can continue to operate at its
current level of activity for at least twelve months, and to pay the costs
associated with the Offer and listing process as and when they fall due,
however it requires the full proceeds of the Subscription to provide the
business with the capital for the Issuer to fully execute the growth strategy
that is detailed in this prospectus.
The Issuer has no currently available funding that would allow it to replace
the capital to be raised under the Offer and proceed to fully execute its
growth strategy.
The Offer is not conditional on a minimum amount being raised, and
accordingly it is possible that the Offer will close without being fully
subscribed. In the event that the Offer is not fully subscribed the funds will be
allocated first to the offer and the listing process. Once these expenses have
been paid the allocation of funds will be subject to Board discretion but is
expected to be distributed between all of the categories listed in the Use of
Funds table below broadly in accordance with their proportions.
All of the categories in the Use of Funds table can be implemented to a
greater or lesser degree, so investment in them is scalable and will have a
correspondingly proportional impact on the business. The R&D function in
particular can be undertaken directly or through collaborative processes with
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partner organisations whereby the funds required can be reduced if this
proves necessary.
In the event that the Offer is not fully subscribed the funds will be allocated
first to the offer and the listing process. Once these expenses have been paid
the allocation of funds will be subject to Board discretion but is expected to
be distributed between all of the categories listed in the Use of Funds table
set out at item 9.1.1 broadly in accordance with their proportions.

12.2 Capitalisation and Indebtedness
12.2.2
Information about the capitalisation and indebtedness of the Issuer and
other members of the Group up to 30 April 2016 are included in the
financial information set out in Section 13 of this Prospectus.

The following table sets out the indebtedness of the Issuer as at 30 April
2016. This statement of indebtedness has been extracted without material
adjustment from the Group’s unaudited management accounts as at that
date:
30 April 2016
Current Debt
Guaranteed

Nil

Secured

Nil

Unguaranteed/ Unsecured

(1,356,46
6)

Total Current Debt

(1,356,46
6)

Non-Current Debt (excluding current portion of longterm debt)
Guaranteed

Nil

Secured

Nil

Unguaranteed/Unsecured

(1,065,69
7)
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Total Non-Current Debt

(1,065,69
7)

The following table sets out the summary capitalisation of the Issuer to 31
December 2015 based on the interim financial statements prepared as at
that date, and included within this Prospectus:
12.2.3

31 December 2015

1

Shareholders’ Equity
1.

Share Capital

2,628,409

2.

Share Premium

2,492,674

3.

Other Reserve

(1,315,76
4)

4.

Retained Earnings

(720,312)

Total Shareholders Equity
1

3,085,007

Please note, there has been no material change in the capitalisation of the

Issuer since 31 December 2015.
The following table sets out the net financial indebtedness of the Issuer as
at 30th April 2016. This statement of net financial indebtedness has been
extracted without material adjustment from the Group’s unaudited
management accounts as at that date:
30 April 2016
A Cash

144,101

B Cash equivalent

Nil

C Trading Securities

Nil

D Liquidity (A)+(B)+(C)

144,101

E Current Financial Receivable

Nil

F Current Bank Debt

Nil

G Current portion of non current debt

Nil

H Other current financial debt

(1,356,466)

I Current Financial Debt (F)+(G)+(H)

(1,356,466)

J Net Current Financial Indebtedness (I)-(E)-(D)

(921,596)

K Non current Bank loans

Nil

L Bonds issued

Nil

M Other non current loans

(1,065,697)

N Non current Financial Indebtedness (K)+(L)+(M)

Nil

O Net Financial Indebtedness

(2,422,163)
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13. Historical Financial Information
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements as at 30 June 2015
The consolidated financial statements for the period 19 September 2014 through 30 June 2015 and
associated notes represent those of InnovaDerma PLC and its subsidiaries (“the consolidated group”
or “group”).
All references to monetary amounts in this section [the numeral ‘1’ is deleted, word did not mark the
change the error message came up] are to Australian Dollars.

INNOVADERMA PLC
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2015
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INNOVADERMA PLC
STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE PERIOD 19 SEPTEMBER 2014 TO 30 JUNE 2015

The directors present their strategic report on InnovaDerma PLC and its controlled entities (hereafter
“the Group” or “InnovaDerma”) for the period ended 30 June 2015.
Principal activity
InnovaDerma specialises in a range of male and female hair loss and anti-ageing treatments, and is
aggressively growing its existing markets and expanding into new ones. In addition to a well-established
customer base, brand recognition, intellectual property and a robust operating platform, it has the
necessary clinical and regulatory approvals, ongoing research and development work and strategic
marketing initiatives to provide it with a solid platform for rapid and sustained growth.
Review of the business, performance & position
A successful year for shareholders from start to finish, CY 2015 was a year of strong growth and
expansion for the Group.
The Group acquired the Intellectual Property for Leimo in the second half of the year from PROS Korea
enabling it to expand the product line through the development of new products and in setting plans for
the global distribution of the core Leimo product range to multiple markets.
During the first quarter of CY 2015, the Group developed a new product line “Leimo Instant Hair”
allowing it to expand its product suite for the hair loss treatment and enhancing its capability to target a
wider retail market of resellers.
The Group successfully listed the Leimo Hair Growth System on the WAND database of New Zealand
for the treatment of hair loss in men and women. WAND database operates under Ministry of Health in
New Zealand and regulates distribution of therapeutic products throughout the country. The core
product Leimo has already been approved by KFDA (Korea Food and Drugs Agency) to treat male and
female hair loss and with TGA (Therapeutic Goods Administration) listing the product on its therapeutic
goods database for the hair loss treatment.
More importantly InnovaDerma acquired Skinny Tan™ in Q2 2015, an all natural self-tan products brand
that has seen meteoric growth in sales and retail distribution since its launch. It is of the opinion of the
entire board of InnovaDerma that this acquisition is going to provide the scalability that InnovaDerma
seeks in increasing its top line revenues and in acquisition of retail distribution network globally to
channel the products to build that revenue base until it releases the next generation of hair loss devices
in Q1 of 2016.
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InnovaDerma PLC was incorporated to head the Group. It appointed three independent non-executive
directors with significant executive experience in executive management, compliance, legal and retail
sectors to its board along with a new and highly experienced Chief Operating Officer strengthening its
board and management in order to significantly grow its revenues and earnings throughout 2015.
A successful capital raising exercise through IPO Capital Partners in UK provided significant financial
resources to the Group enabling it to develop and execute new marketing campaigns, add additional
staff and fund its listing program on GXG Main Quote exchange in London and the Marché Libre in
Paris.

All of these efforts have led to new investors and a significant increase in the product portfolio,
intellectual property and enhanced revenue and earnings generation plans during the CY 2015. The
company is well positioned to dramatically increase its top line revenue and profit throughout 2015.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks the company faces relate to a) the regulatory requirements in each country to which
it exports and b) cash flow. If those regulations change, the company will need to quickly adapt its
strategy to ensure compliance and facilitate continuing sales. At this stage, because Australia operates
very stringent policies on all products, the company does not view this as very likely to occur, but have
nonetheless recognised the potential risk.
Cash flow is another principal risk as, while the company is in its growth phase, revenues are low vs.
costs. However, the company has support from its shareholders for funding and is anticipating sales
growth in the coming twelve months to improve cash flow substantially.
Consideration of future developments likely to affect performance & position of the Group
As part of this ongoing expansion, the Group is focused on gaining a stronger foothold into the lucrative
European and U.S. markets with the Leimo product range. Additionally, the company is in negotiations
to acquire a weight loss/ appetite suppressant product company and another company with all natural
spray-on tanning products which has been a great success in Europe and Australia.
The Group has also been in discussions with a US based developer of complimentary products in
designing, developing and distributing a new and highly effective range of hair loss products which it
believes will deliver it significant new IP, revenue and earnings globally. The aim is to secure the FDA
(Food and Drugs Administration) in USA during Q1 of 2016 for global launch in the same quarter.
The Group will continue to enhance its board of directors, management team and key advisors while
working towards the goal of becoming a truly global personal-care company.

Environmental matters
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There are no environmental issues arising from the Group’s business that might affect the future
strategic direction or results of our group.
Employees
In line with Companies Act 2006 requirements, we present the following breakdown of our employee
structure:
Role

Number of Men

Number of Women

Directors

5

-

Senior Managers

2

0

Other Employees

6

15

In conjunction with our aforementioned plans to expand into the USA, it is expected that our staff will
expand in the coming calendar year as revenues grow, that the Group will be better able to service our
customers and partners.
By order of the Board

Haris Chaudhry
Executive Chairman
25 July 2016

INNOVADERMA PLC
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE PERIOD 19 SEPTEMBER 2014 TO 30 JUNE 2015
The Directors present their report and financial statements of the Group for the period ended 30 JUNE
2015.
Directors
The Directors who served the Group during the period are as follows:
Mr Haris Chaudhry
Mr Joseph Bayer
Mr Rodney Turner
Mr Geert Lemair
Mr Clifford Giles (appointed 16 June 2015)
Unless otherwise disclosed, all directors were appointed at the time the company was incorporated on
19 September 2014 and have remained on the board since that time.
All directors were appointed at the time the company was incorporated on 19 September 2014 and
have remained on the board since that time.
Company Secretary
The following served as Company Secretary during the period:
Mr Nick Lindsay, Elemental CoSec Limited, London.
Meetings of the Directors
During the period to 30 June 2015, the directors attended the following meetings of the board of
directors:
Meetings eligible to attend

Meetings attended

Haris Chaudhry

3

3

Garry Lemair

3

3

Joseph Bayer

3

3

Rodney Turner

3

3

Review of the Business
Please refer to the Strategic Report for information on the Group, its strategic direction, this year’s
results, and plans for the future.

Dividends
At this stage of the Group’s development, no dividends have been recommended. All monies generated
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by the Group’s operations are to be retained for the future growth and development of the Group’s
offerings to market.
Research and Development
The Group undertakes a variety of research activities into potential new products and new technologies
that could form part of their future offerings to customers. The Group classifies all such spending as
research and expenses the costs accordingly.
It is the view of the directors at this stage that the Group is unable to confirm the potential flow of
benefits from new products until they arrive to market. Given that, it is not possible to capitalise these
expenditures as development.
Financial Instruments
Information regarding the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies, including
exposure to market, credit and liquidity risks, are presented in Note 23 to these financial statements.
Post Balance Sheet Events
The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period.
Indemnification of Officers
No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial
period, for any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the consolidated group.
Proceedings on Behalf of the Group
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in
any proceedings to which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the
Group for all or any part of those proceedings.
The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the period.

Director’s Interests
At the period end date, the directors of the company had the following interests in the shares of the
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company, through both direct and indirect holdings:
Director

Shares acquired on

Shares

Shares disposed

Shares held

incorporation

acquired during

during the period

on 30 June

(19 September 2014)

the period

2015

Haris Chaudhry

1

6,911,649

Nil

6,789,291

Garry Lemair

1

46,666

Nil

46,667

Joseph Bayer

1

93,332

Nil

93,333

Rodney Turner

1

46,666

Nil

46,667

Clifford Giles

-

25,000

-

25,000

Remuneration Report (audited)
Policy & Practice
The Group operates on a strictly ‘capital efficient’ approach and therefore directors remuneration has
been based on conservative market matching rates in order to act in the best interest of the company
during the company’s growth phase. During the current period no payments were made to directors. At
this time, outside of existing shareholdings, there are no performance components included in directors
remuneration. A remuneration committee was formed on 15 Jan 2015 to oversee this aspect of the
Group’s operations.
Contracts
Directors’ remuneration in its various forms was agreed by the Executive Chairman and relevant
contracts have been executed prior to the appointment.
Mr Chaudhry’s contract is for a fixed term of four years, and may be terminated with sixteen weeks
notice, given in writing.
All other director’s contracts are for a fixed term of three years, and may be terminated with four weeks
notice, given in writing.

Amount of emoluments & compensation
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Period 19 September

Salary

Superannuation

Consultancy

2014 – 30 June 2015

Fees

Haris Chaudhry
Geert Lemair
Joseph Bayer

$47,475

9% of Salary

Nil

$51,985

-

-

Nil

-

-

-

Nil

-

-

-

Nil

-

1
1

Rodney Turner
1

Total

1

30 June 2015

These directors have agreed to forego any remuneration for this period.
Following incorporation, the 2016 calendar year will be the first full year of operation for InnovaDerma
PLC. The following table reflects the contractually agreed salaries with all directors.
2015

Salary

Superannuation

Consultancy

Total

Fees
Haris Chaudhry

$150,000

9% of Salary

Nil

$163,500 p.a.

Geert Lemair

$35,000

9% of Salary

Nil

$38,150 p.a.

Joseph Bayer

$35,000

9% of Salary

Nil

$38,150 p.a.

Rodney Turner

$30,000

9% of Salary

Nil

$32,700 p.a.

-

-

Nil

-

Clifford Giles
End of audited section.
Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year or
period. Under that law the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with
applicable United Kingdom law and those International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as
adopted by the European Union. Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the
Directors are required to:

•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted
by the European Union;

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
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presume the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Group’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of the financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
Directors’ statement as to disclosure of information to the auditor
The Directors at the date of approval of this report confirm that:

•

to the best of their knowledge and belief, there is no relevant audit information of which the
Group’s auditor is unaware; and

•

the Directors have taken all the steps that that might reasonably be expected to have taken as
a Director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Group’s auditor is aware of that information.

On behalf of the Board

Haris Chaudhry
Executive Chairman
25 July 2016

INNOVADERMA PLC
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
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FOR THE PERIOD 19 SEPTEMBER 2014 TO 30 JUNE 2015

We have audited these financial statements of InnovaDerma PLC for the period 19 September 2014 to
30 June 2015. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and,
as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 2006.
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the directors and auditors
As explained more fully in the Director’s Responsibilities Statement in the Directors’ Report, the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical
Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all financial and
non-financial information in the Directors’ Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited
financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we
become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies, we consider the implications
for our report.
Opinion on financial statements
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In our opinion:
•

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent
company’s affairs as at 30 June 2015 and of the group’s profit for the period then ended;

•

the group’s financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union; and

•

the parent company’s financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with provisions of the
Companies Act 2006; and

•

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

Remuneration Report
We have audited the remuneration report, shown within the Directors’ Report, for the period 19
September 2014 to 30 June 2015. The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation and
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 421 of the Companies Act 2006.
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit, in
accordance with section 497 of the Companies Act 2006.
Opinion on Remuneration Report
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report complies with the requirements of section 421 of the
Companies Act 2006.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial
period for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires
us to report to you if, in our opinion:

•

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us; or

•

the parent company’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns; or

•

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
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•

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Nicholas Hollens – Senior Statutory Auditor
For and on behalf of KSI (WA) – Statutory Auditors
35 Outram Street
West Perth WA 6005
Australia
Date: 3 December 2015
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INNOVADERMA PLC
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

Note

Revenue

7

Period from 19
September 2014 to
30 June 2015
(Audited)
$

1,047,651

Cost of sales

(345,734)

Gross profit

701,917

Marketing expenses

(849,347)

Administrative expenses

(432,190)

Wages and salaries

(184,947)

Listing expenses

(136,056)

Operating loss

(900,623)

Loss before tax

(900,623)

Tax expense

-

Net loss for the period attributable to members of the
Company

(900,623)

Other comprehensive income

(7,707)

Total comprehensive loss for the period attributable to
members of the Company

Basic & diluted loss per share

(908,330)

24

(0.12)
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INNOVADERMA PLC CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2015
Note

30 June 2015
$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

8

212,618

Trade and other receivables

9

112,142

Inventory

10

341,794

Other assets

69,411

Total current assets

735,965

Non-current assets
Property, Plant and Equipment

16,509

Intangible assets

11

Other assets

3,418,479
3,298

Total non-current assets

3,438,286

Total assets

4,174,251

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

788,322

Borrowings

13

688,063

Total current liabilities

1,476,385

Total liabilities

1,476,385

Net assets

2,697,866

Equity
Shares

14

Share Premium

2,479,468
2,492,674

Merger reserve

15

Foreign exchange reserve

(1,308,057)
(7,707)

Accumulated losses
Total equity and reserves

16

(958,512)
2,697,866

These financial statements were approved and authorised for release by the Directors on 3 December
2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

Haris Chaudhry
Executive Chairman

Company Number: 09226823
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INNOVADERMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD 19 SEPTEMBER 2014 TO 30 JUNE 2015
Ordinary Share
Capital

Share Premium

Merger Reserve

$

$

$

Foreign
Exchange
Reserve
$

Accumulated
Losses

Total Equity

$

$

5

-

-

-

-

5

-

-

-

-

(900,294)

(900,294)

-

-

-

(7,707)

-

(7,707)

-

-

-

(7,707)

(900,294)

(908,001)

1,308,157

-

(1,308,057)

-

-

100

91,362

2,492,674

-

-

-

2,584,036

-

-

-

-

(58,218)

(58,218)

1,391,162

-

-

-

-

1,391,162

Cost of shares issued

(311,218)

-

-

-

-

(311,218)

Total transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners

2,479,463

2,492,674

(1,308,057)

-

(58,218)

3,605,862

Balance at 30 June 2015

2,479,468

2,492,674

(1,308,057)

(7,707)

(958,512)

2,697,866

Balance on Incorporation (19 September 2014)

Comprehensive income
Loss for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the period

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners
Share for share exchange on acquisition of the subsidiaries
Acquisition of intellectual property
Accumulated losses of subsidiaries at acquisition
Shares issued on exercise of convertible notes
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INNOVADERMA PLC CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD 19 SEPTEMBER 2014 TO 30 JUNE

Note

Period from 19 September
2014 to 30 June 2015
$

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers

1,000,968

Payments to suppliers and employees

(1,708,565)

Payments for corporate listing (non-repeating)
Net cash used by operating activities

(136,056)
22

(843,653)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(18,343)

Payments for product development

(31,922)

Net cash received on acquisition of subsidiaries

32,771

Purchase of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd

(50,000)

Net cash used by investing activities

(67,494)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings

22,838

Repayments of borrowings

(106,527)

Proceeds from convertible notes

13

127,510

Proceeds from shares issued

14

1,391,162

Transaction costs for shares issued

14

(311,218)

Net cash from financing activities

1,123,765

Increase/(decrease)in cash and cash equivalents

212,618

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

8

212,618
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INNOVADERMA PLC PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2015

Note

30 June 2015
(Audited)
$

17

1,157,379

Non-current assets
Intercompany receivable
Investment in subsidiaries

50,175

Intangible assets

3,892,098

Total non-current assets

5,099,652

Total assets

5,099,652

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

14,363

Convertible notes

127,510

Total current liabilities

141,873

Total liabilities

141,873

Net assets

4,479,779

Equity
Shares

14

2,479,468

Share premium

2,492,674

Retained earnings
Total equity and reserves

(14,363)
4,957,779

In accordance with section 408 of the UK Companies Act 2006, the company is availing itself of the
exemption from presenting its individual statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
The company’s profit / (loss) for the financial period as determined in accordance with IFRS’s is
$14,363. The company had no cash flow in the period, and therefore no cash flow statement has been
prepared.
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INNOVADERMA PLC
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD 19 SEPTEMBER 2014 TO 30 June 2015

Ordinary Share
Capital
$
Opening balance on incorporation

5

Share Premium
$
-

Retained
Earnings
$

Total Equity
$
-

5

Comprehensive income
Loss for the period

-

(14,363)

(14,363)

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

(14,363)

(14,363)

1,308,157

-

1,308,157

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as
owners
Share for share exchange on acquisition of the
subsidiary
Acquisition of intellectual property
Shares issued on exercise of convertible notes
Cost of shares issued
Total transactions
capacity as owners

with

Balance as at 30 June 2015

owners,

in

their

91,362

2,492,674

2,584,036

1,391,162

-

-

1,391,162

(311,218)

-

-

(311,218)

2,479,463

2,492,674

-

4,957,779

2,479,468

2,492,674

(14,363)

4,957,779
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INNOVADERMA PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD 19 SEPTEMBER 2014 TO 30 JUNE 2015
1. Accounting Policies
1.1

Basis of Preparation

The condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and with those
parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The condensed
consolidated financial statements are drawn up under the historical cost convention, except for the
revaluation of financial assets.
IFRS, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) set out accounting policies that
the IASB has concluded would result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information
about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless
otherwise stated.
1.2

Going Concern

This report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuation of
normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal
course of business.
1.3

Principles of Consolidation

The condensed consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of
entities controlled by InnovaDerma PLC at 30 June 2015. A controlled entity is any entity over which
InnovaDerma PLC has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits
from its activities.

In preparing the condensed consolidated financial statements, all intragroup balances and transactions
between entities in the consolidated group have been eliminated in full on consolidation.
Pooling of Interests on Incorporation of Parent Entity
On 28 November 2014, InnovaDerma PLC acquired 100% of the shares of InnovaDerma AUS & NZ
Pty Ltd, InnovaDerma International Limited, InnovaDerma NZ Limited, and ID Philippines, Inc. As all
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parties were under common control before and after the transaction, the acquisitions were scoped out
of IFRS 3, and thus accounted for using the pooling of interests method.
Under this method the assets and liabilities of the acquiree are recorded at book value and intangible
assets and contingent liabilities are only recognised if they were previously recognised by the acquiree.
No goodwill is recorded and expenses of the combination are written off immediately in profit or loss.
The difference between the consideration paid/transferred and the nominal value of the share capital in
the acquired companies has been reflected as a Merger Reserve within equity.
After the acquisition, the consolidation is processed as normal, on a line by line basis for revenue,
expenses, assets and liabilities.

Subsequent Business Combinations
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses.

A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination
involving entities or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted for
from the date that control is attained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed is recognised (subject to certain limited exceptions).
When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial
recognition, contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
remeasured in each reporting period to fair value, recognising any change to fair value in profit or loss,
unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date.
All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations are expensed to the statement of
comprehensive income. The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain
from a bargain purchase.
Goodwill
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Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the
excess of the sum of:
(i)

the consideration transferred;

(ii)

any non-controlling interest (determined under either the full goodwill or proportionate
interest method); and

(iii)

the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest;

over the acquisition date fair value of net identifiable assets acquired.
The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the
acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the investment in
the separate consolidated financial statements.
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of
associates is included in investments in associates.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units or
groups of cash-generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored being not
larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill related to the entity disposed of.
Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions and do not affect the carrying amounts of goodwill.
1.4

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes. The
group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the group’s activities, as described below. The group bases its estimate of return on historical
results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.
Sales of goods – wholesale
The group manufactures and sells a range of health and beauty products in the wholesale market.
Sales of goods are recognised when a group entity has delivered products to the wholesaler, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the wholesaler’s acceptance of the products. Delivery does not occur until
the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the wholesaler, and either the wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance
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with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed or the group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied. The life science products are often sold with volume
discounts; customers have a right to return faulty products in the wholesale market. Sales are recorded
based on the price specified in the sales contracts, net of the estimated volume discounts and returns
at the time of sale. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts and
returns. The volume discounts are assessed based on anticipated annual purchases.
Internet revenue
Revenue from the provision of the sale of goods on the internet is recognised at the point that the risks
and rewards of the inventory have passed to the customer, which is the point of dispatch. Transactions
are settled by credit or payment card. Provisions are made for internet credit notes based on the
expected level of returns, which in turn is based upon the historical rate of returns.
1.5

Finance income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield
on the financial asset.
1.6

Intangible Assets

Trademarks and licences
Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licences
acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Once utilisation
commences, trademarks and licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks
and licences over their estimated useful lives of 15 to 20 years.
Brands
Externally acquired brands, where identifiable, are capitalised as assets of the group. Brands are initially
capitalised at historical cost, or attributable value, when acquired as part of a business combination.
Brands have a limited legal life, however the Group monitors global expiry dates and renews
registrations where required. Brands recorded in the financial statements are not currently associated
with products which are likely to become commercially or technically obsolete. Accordingly, the
Directors are of the view that brands have an indefinite life.
Brands are tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment charges.
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1.7

Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset
may be impaired. The assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of
information. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use, to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable
amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in
accordance with another Standard. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation
decrease in accordance with that other Standard.

1.8

Research and Development

Expenditure during the research phase of a project is recognised as an expense when incurred.
Development costs are capitalised only when technical feasibility studies identify that the project is
expected to deliver future economic benefits and these benefits can be measured reliably.
Capitalised development costs have a finite useful life and are amortised on a systematic basis based
on the future economic benefits over the useful life of the project.

1.9

Cash & Cash Equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated balance sheet, bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities.

1.10 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the firstin, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design costs,
raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. Costs of inventories include
the transfer from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges for purchases of raw
materials.
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1.11 Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as noncurrent assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
1.12

Trade Payables

Trade and other payables are recognised when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments
resulting from the purchase of goods and services. They are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Current liabilities represent
those amounts falling due within one year.
1.13

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable and payable. The net
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with the receivables or payables
in the statement of financial position.
1.14 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
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1.15 Income Tax
Income tax expense or benefit represents the sum of current corporation tax payable and provision
for deferred income taxes.
Current income tax payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net
profit as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current corporation tax is calculated using tax rates and
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the period-end date.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at
the date of the statement of financial position where transactions or events have occurred at that
date that will result in an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay less or to receive more tax, with the
following exceptions:
Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the Directors consider that it is probable that
there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences
can be deducted.
Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
periods in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the period-end date.

1.16

Post Retirement Benefits

For salaries paid (all by the Australian subsidiary):
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity. Superannuation – the Australian defined contribution pension scheme – is mandated
by Australian law and presently set at 9.5% of gross salary payable to an employee.
The group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory basis. The group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.
1.17 Foreign Currencies
Functional and presentation currency

149

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates (‘the functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group’s functional
and presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting date are translated at the exchange
rate existing at the reporting date. Exchange differences are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
1.18

Contributed Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part
of the purchase consideration.
If the Company reacquires its own equity instruments, e.g. as the result of a share buy-back, those
instruments are deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is
recognised in the profit or loss and the consideration paid including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes) is recognise directly in equity.
1.19

Segment Reporting

Operating segments were reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the steering
committee that makes strategic decisions.
The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation or future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the Group.
Estimation of useful lives of assets
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The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for
its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation
charge will increase where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.
Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets
The Group tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment,
whether goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance
with the accounting policies described in Note 1.6 and Note 1.7. The recoverable amounts of cashgenerating units (required to determine fair value less costs to sell) have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions, including estimated
discount rates based on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows.

1.20 New accounting standards for application in future periods
(a)

New and amended standards adopted by the group

There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial period
beginning on 1 July 2014 that would be expected to have a material impact on the group.
(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated
financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements
of the group, except the following set out below:
IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and October 2010. It replaces the
parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9
requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories:
1) those measured as at fair value and 2) those measured at amortised cost. The determination is
made at initial recognition.
The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard retains
most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken
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for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in
other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this creates an accounting
mismatch. The group is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact. The group will also consider the impact of
the remaining phases of IFRS 9 when completed by the Board.

2.

Parent Information

Guarantees
InnovaDerma PLC has not entered into any guarantees, in the financial period, in relation of the debts
of its subsidiary.
Contingent Liabilities
At 30 June 2015, InnovaDerma PLC did not have any contingent liabilities.
Contractual Commitments
At 30 June 2015, InnovaDerma PLC had not entered into any contractual commitments.
Consolidation of subsidiaries
Following the incorporation of InnovaDerma PLC, the following subsidiaries: InnovaDerma AUS and
NZ Pty Ltd, InnovaDerma International Limited, InnovaDerma NZ Limited, and ID Philippines, Inc were
acquired through a share for share exchange. The subsidiaries have been consolidated using the
pooling of interest method on the basis that the entities being combined were ultimately controlled by
the same party, both before and after the combination. Under this method the assets and liabilities of
the acquiree are recorded at book values and intangible assets and contingent liabilities are only
recognised if they were previously recognised by the acquiree. No goodwill is recorded and expenses
of the combination are immediately written off in the profit or loss.

Net Assets
Acquired
$
The carrying value of the subsidiaries’ net assets at the date of
combination were as follows:
InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd
InnovaDerma International Limited
InnovaDerma NZ Limited
ID Philippines Inc

(58,118)
-
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The shares in InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd, InnovaDerma International Limited, InnovaDerma NZ
Limited, and ID Philippines, Inc were exchanged for 8,969,960 Ordinary £0.10 shares in InnovaDerma
PLC.
3. Operating segments
Operating segments must be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the
consolidated entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to
allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance.
As a new group, currently in its growth phase, the Board (the group’s chief operating decision maker)
believe that, at 30 June 2015, there was only one business segment, the hair and beauty division.
The revenue and results of this segment are those of the consolidated entity as a whole and are set
out in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The segment assets and
liabilities of this segment are those of the consolidated entity and are set out in the statement of
financial position.

4. Operating profit/(loss)
The following items have been included in arriving at the operating profit/(loss):
Period from 19
September to 30 June
2015
$
Gains on foreign exchange

-

Expenses:
Directors’ remuneration
Depreciation
-

Auditor’s remuneration

-

As auditors (for parent company and consolidation)
As tax agents (for parent company and
subsidiaries)

47,475
1,834
16,000
5,000

All remuneration payable to the auditors has been disclosed above. No other non-audit services have
been provided. No benefits in kind are payable to the auditors.
Contributions to superannuation (money purchase pension schemes) are made on behalf of one
director of the group.
153

5. Employees
Period from 19
September to 30 June
2015
Staff costs for the Group during the period:
Wages and salaries

184,947
184,947

The average monthly number of staff (including executive Directors) employed by the Group during
the period amounted to:

Period from 19
September to 30 June
2015
Management staff

4

Other employees

21
25

6. Taxation
Period from 19
September to 30 June
2015
$
Current Tax
Current tax on profits in the period

-

Income Tax Expense

-
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Factors affecting current tax charge
The effective rate of tax for the period is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of
22.5%. The differences are explained below:
Period from 19
September to 30 June
2015
$
Profit/(Loss) before taxation
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard
rate of tax in the UK of 20%
Excluded (gain)/loss (incurred solely in Australia)
Losses carried forward

(900,294)

(180,059)
177,186
2,873
-

Total current tax

7. Revenue
Period from 19
September
2014 to 30
June 2015
$
Haircare Products

922,113

Skin & Beauty Products

125,538

1,047,651

8. Cash and cash equivalents
30 June 2015
$
Cash at bank

212,618

Cash at bank is included as cash and cash equivalents in connection with the statement of cash flows.
When in overdraft, this balance is included in trade and other payables.
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9.

Trade and other receivables
30 June 2015
$
Trade Receivables

10.

112,142

Inventory
30 June 2015
$

Finished goods (Leimo)

248,532

Finished goods (Stop and Pose)

10,886

Finished goods (Skinny Tan)

82,376
341,794

11. Intangible Assets

30 June 2015
$
Brands (Skinny Tan)
Brands (Leimo)
Brands (Stop & Pose)
Development Costs

444,202
2,794,024
148,331
31,922
3,418,479
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12. Trade and other payables
30 June 2015
$
Trade payables

687,608

Other payables

100,714

Deferred income

788,322

13. Borrowings
30 June 2015
$
General Borrowings

560,553

Convertible Notes

127,510
688,063

Convertibles
During the period to 30 June 2015, the Group issued convertible notes worth a total of $127,510. The
bonds mature two years from the issue date (29 May 2015) at their nominal value, or can be converted
into shares at the holder’s option at any point between the date of the group’s public listing and the
maturity date. If exercised, the number of shares issued will be calculated based on the group’s share
price at the exercise date.
Given the number of shares issued is variable, depending on the share price at that time, governing
accounting standards categorise the entire convertible note as a liability, with no equity component.
Upon conversion, the borrowings balance will be cleared and a corresponding balance of the same
value will be created in equity.
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14. Contributed equity
30 June 2015
No. of shares
Shares issued on incorporation
Share for share exchange to acquire subsidiaries
Shares issued to complete brand acquisition

1

4

5

8,969,960

1,308,157

626,400

91,362

36

-

613,520

1,391,162

-

(311,218)

10,209,920

2,479,468

Share split (original incorporation shares)
Shares issued on exercise of convertible notes
Share issue costs

1

30 June 2015
$

The subsidiaries acquired were InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd, InnovaDerma International Limited,

InnovaDerma NZ Limited, and ID Philippines Inc.
The holder of the ordinary shares is entitled to one vote per share at any meeting of the Company
whether in person or by proxy. The holder is entitled to receive dividends declared from available
profits and to the surplus of assets on a winding up.

15. Merger reserve
InnovaDerma PLC acquired 100% of the share capital of InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd,
InnovaDerma International Limited, InnovaDerma NZ Limited, and ID Philippines, Inc, on 28 November
2014.
These transactions are noted as being completed under common control – all companies involved in
the deal were controlled by Mr Haris Chaudhry before and after the transaction was processed.
This condition falls under a scope exemption for IFRS 3. Per IAS 8.12, the company may, in this
circumstance, utilise pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies that use a similar conceptual
framework to develop accounting standards.
As a UK company, the directors decided to apply UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, which
make provision for Pooling of Interests in a common control situation, also commonly referred to as
Merger Accounting.
In this circumstance, the difference between the consideration transferred and the nominal value of
share capital acquired is taken to equity, creating a Merger Reserve.
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28 November Acquisitions:
$
Consideration transferred (8,969,960 shares)
Value of share capital acquired

1,308,157
(100)

Value of Merger Reserve

1,308,157

16. Accumulated losses
30 June 2015
$
Acquisition of subsidiaries (pooling of interests)

(58,218)

Loss for the period

(900,294)

Balance carried forward

(958,512)

17. Intercompany loan – parent company
30 June 2015
$
Balance brought forward

-

Funds advanced

1,157,379

Balance carried forward

1,157,379
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18. Investment in subsidiaries
During the year, the Company acquired interests in the following subsidiaries:
Company Name

Date of Acquisition
1

InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd
InnovaDerma International Limited
1
InnovaDerma NZ Limited
1
ID Philippines Inc
InnovaScience Inc
Skinny Tan Pty Ltd
Skinny Tan UK Limited
1

1

28
28
28
28
31
28
28

November 2014
November 2014
November 2014
November 2014
March 2015
May 2015
May 2015

Percentage Holding (30 June
2015)
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Please see notes 1.3 and 15 for further detail on the method of accounting applied for the acquisitions.

The results of these subsidiaries have been consolidated on a line by line basis into the consolidated
financial statements.

19. Business Combination
On 28 May 2015, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd, in exchange
for cash consideration of $50,075. The acquisition expands the range of products the Group can offer
in the hair and beauty sector and is anticipated to facilitate scalability in the Group’s offerings for the
coming financial year, as expansion continues into new markets.
The following table shows the allocation of consideration paid for Skinny Tan Pty Ltd, the fair value of
assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and the non-controlling interest at the acquisition date.

Consideration
Cash Consideration

50,075

Total Consideration

50,075

Recognised fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other assets
Brand
Intellectual property
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Total fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

5,444
72,023
16,299
431,515
12,687
(240,373)
(247,520)
50,075
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20. Related party transactions
Name

1

Transaction

Farris Marketing
Concepts Pty Ltd

Loan payable

Farris Marketing
Concepts Pty Ltd

Acquisition of
Stop & Pose
Brand

Zaymar
Investments

Loan payable

Mr Haris Chaudhry

Loan payable

Amount received
from / (paid to) in
year
2015
$
1

Amount due from/(to)
related party
2015
$

151,495

(151,495)

(200,000)

-

1

60,000

(60,000)

1

173,757

(173,757)

These loans are interest free and unsecured.

Common control acquisition of subsidiaries
As more fully discussed in Note 15, InnovaDerma PLC acquired several subsidiaries via a share for
share exchange. These subsidiaries were majority controlled by Mr Haris Chaudhry, a director of
InnovaDerma PLC; hence, the majority of shares issued for the acquisition were issued to Mr
Chaudhry.
Nature of related parties
Farris Marketing Concepts Pty Ltd and Zaymar Investments are related parties of Mr Haris Chaudhry,
the Executive Chairman.
Key Management Personnel
All transactions with key management personnel (the directors) during the period 19 September 2014
to 30 June 2015 are disclosed below:
Salary
Haris Chaudhry
1

1

Superannuation
47,475

Consultancy
Fees

4,510

Total
-

51,985

– Haris Chaudhry employment terms, as formalised by board resolution, specify a salary of $150,000

per year. During the period 19 September 2014 to 30 June 2015, only $47,475 was paid. For the year
commencing 1 July 2015, full director’s fees will be paid to all directors.
During the period, there were no advances, credits or guarantees subsisting on behalf of the directors.
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21. Commitments and contingencies
At 30 June 2015 the Group did not have any contingencies.
At 30 June 2015 the Group had no obligations under non-cancellable finance leases.

22. Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash outflow from operations
Period from 19
September to 30 June
2015
$
Operating loss

(900,294)

Depreciation

1,834

(Increase) in trade and other receivables

(46,683)

(Increase) in inventory

(203,891)

(Increase) in other assets

(71,082)

(Increase) in trade and other payables

376,463

Net cash outflow from operations

(843,653)

23. Financial risk management
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and
payable & loans from related parties.
The Group’s financial instruments at 30 June 2015 were classified as follows:
Note

30 June 2015
$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

8

212,618

Trade and other receivables

9

112,412
325,030

Trade and other payables

12

788,322

Borrowings

13

688,063

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities

1,476,385
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Fair value versus carrying amounts
All items shown in the preceding table as either financial assets or financial liabilities are short term
instruments whose carrying value is equivalent to the fair value. There is not considered to be a
material difference between the fair value and the carrying value.

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management
The Group’s activities expose it to a number of financial risks that include market risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk.
(a) Market Risk
i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s does not hold any financial assets denominated in a foreign currency at the period
end, hence it is not experiencing to foreign exchange risk.
ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group had interest-bearing liabilities during the period, but is not exposed to interest rate risk
because the interest rates on their liabilities are set by private agreement, not by reference to market
rates. The group does not have any liabilities to financial institutions as at 30 June 2015. As such,
sensitivity analysis with regard to movements in interest rates would not be meaningful.

(b) Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance of counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to financial losses to the group.
Credit risk exposures
The Group had no significant concentrations of credit risk. For loans receivable and payable, please
refer to Note 10 – Trade and Other Receivables & Note 14 - Borrowings. Loans are unsecured and
have no fixed repayment date.
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The group manages this risk through
careful cash management policies. In order to meet its short term obligations, the group has the
support of several key shareholders who are willing to provide funds to the group on an as-needed
basis.
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24. Share Based Payments

No share options have been granted to employees or directors.
25.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.
The following reflects earnings and share data used in the earnings per share calculation.

Period from 19
September to 30 June
2015
$
Loss for the year

(900,294)

Weighted average number of shares

7,449,281

As the Group has made a loss for the year ended 30 June 2015, all options on issue are considered
antidilutive and have not been included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. These options
could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future.
26. Subsequent Events

The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period.
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27. Company Details
The registered office of InnovaDerma PLC is:
27 Old Gloucester Street
London
United Kingdom
WC1N 3AX

The principal place of business is:
46 Syon Lane
Isleworth TW7 5NQ
United Kingdom
Ph: +44 20 7097 3951
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13.2:
INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
ABN: 47 165 472 015
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 JUNE 2014
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
DIRECTOR’S REPORT
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

The director presents his report on InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd (“the Company”) for the financial
period 26 August 2013 to 30 June 2014. The Company was incorporated on 26 August 2013.
Director
The name of the director in office at any time during, or since the end of, the period is:
⎯ Mr Haris Chaudhry
The director has been in office since the start of the financial period to the date of this report unless
stated otherwise.

Principal Activities
The Company’s principal activity is the marketing and distribution/sale of health and beauty products.
There were not significant changes in the nature of the activities of the Company during the period.

Review of Operations
The loss of the Company for the period was $7,707.
This was the Company’s first period of operation. Your director has taken steps to secure the future of
the Company, via a global distribution deal with the PROS Company, which controlled the Leimo hair
product brand during the period, and acquisition of the Stop & Pose beauty product brand.
Revenues are growing steadily via direct to consumer sales facilitated by the Company’s branded
websites, and have provided a platform for future growth.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
Aside from developments in the ordinary course of business, as described in the Review of Operations,
there have been no significant changes in the Company’s state of affairs occurred during the financial
period.

Events Subsequent to the End of the Reporting Period
On 28 November 2014, the Company was acquired by InnovaDerma PLC, via a share for share
exchange.
167

On 9 April 2015, InnovaDerma PLC acquired the Leimo brands outright (which the Company had
previously acquired global distribution rights to) for the benefit of the new Group’s operations.
Other than as above disclosed, no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial
period which significant affected or could significantly affect the operations of the company, the results
of those operations or the state of affairs of the company in future financial years.
Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations
Likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results of those operations in
future financial years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is likely
to results in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.
Environmental Regulation
The Company’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law
of the Commonwealth or of a state of territory.

Dividends
The Company has paid no dividends during the financial period.

Options
No options over issued shares of interests in the Company were granted during or since the end of the
financial period and there were no options outstanding at the date of this report.
No shares were issued during or since the end of the period as a result of the exercise of an option over
unissued shares or interests.

Indemnification of Officers
No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial
period, for any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the Company.

Proceedings on Behalf of the Company
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in
any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purposes of taking responsibility on behalf of
the Company for all or any part of those proceedings.
The company was not a party to any such proceedings during the period.
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations
Act 2001 is set out on the following page.

This Director’s Report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Haris Chaudhry
Executive Director
25 July 2016
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
To those charged with the governance of InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd

As auditor for the audit of InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd for the period ended 30 June 2014, I declare
that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

i)

no contraventions of the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation
to the audit; and

ii)

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Somes Cooke

Nicholas Hollens
Partner
Perth
25 July 2016
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
Note
Revenue

2

Period 26 August
2013 to 30 June
2014
$
654,139

Cost of sales

(195,282)

Gross profit

458,857

Marketing expenses

(201,823)

Administrative expenses

(250,279)
(14,462)

Other expenses
Loss before tax

4

(7,707)

Tax expense

5

-

Loss for the period attributable to members of the
Company

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the period attributable to
members of the Company

Basic & diluted loss per share

(7,707)

(7,707)

(77)
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

Note

30 June 2014
$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

42,507

Trade and other receivables

21,064

Inventory

7

Total current assets

97,930
161,501

Non-current assets
Intangible assets

8

358,319

Total non-current assets

358,319

Total assets

519,820

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

9

(99,077)

10

(428,350)

Total current liabilities

(527,427)

Total liabilities

(527,427)

Net (liabilities)/assets

(7,607)

Equity
Issued Capital
Accumulated Losses
Total Equity

11

100
(7,707)
(7,607)
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD TO 30 JUNE 2014

Ordinary
Share Capital
$

Accumulated
Losses
$

100

-

100

Profit for the period

-

(7,707)

(7,707)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

(7,707)

(7,707)

100

(7,707)

(7,607)

Balance at Incorporation (26 August 2013)

Total Equity
$

Comprehensive income

Balance at 30 June 2014
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD TO 30 JUNE 2014
Note

Period from 26
August 2013 to 30
June 2014
$

Cash flows from operating activities
633,075

Receipts from customers

(660,699)

Payments to suppliers and employees
Net cash used by operating activities

14

(27,624)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangibles

(158,319)

Net cash used by investing activities

(158,319)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from related party borrowings
Proceeds from share issues
Net cash used by financing activities
Increase/(decrease)in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

228,350
100
228,450

42,507
42,507
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD TO 30 JUNE 2014

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards
Board. The company is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting
Standards.
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the Australian Accounting Standards
Board has concluded would result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information
about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
the financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated
otherwise.
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have ben prepared on the accruals basis
and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of
selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.
a) Income Tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associated operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses
only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
b) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design
costs, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. Costs
of inventories include the transfer from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges
for purchases of raw materials.
c) Impairment of Assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation
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and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

d) Intangibles other than Goodwill
Patents & Trademarks
Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and
licences acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Once utilisation commences, trademarks and licences have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the cost of trademarks and licences over their estimated useful lives of 15 to 20 years.
Brands
Externally acquired brands, where identifiable, are capitalised as assets of the group. Brands are
initially capitalised at historical cost, or attributable value, when acquired as part of a business
combination.
Brands have a limited legal life, however the Group monitors global expiry dates and renews
registrations where required. Brands recorded in the financial statements are not currently
associated with products which are likely to become commercially or technically obsolete.
Accordingly, the Director is of the view that brands have an indefinite life.
Brands are tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment
charges.

e) Employee Benefits
Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of
employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled.
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f)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of
past events, for which it is probably that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow
can be reliably measured. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period.

g) Cash and cash equivalents
For statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

Bank

overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

h) Revenue and Other Income
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes.
The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Company’s activities, as described below. The Company bases its
estimate of return on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective
yield on the financial asset.

i)

Trade and Other Receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

j)

Trade and Other Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the
end of the financial period which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing
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and are paid on normal commercial terms.

k) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan
to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the
fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
l)

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the
GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority,
are presented as operating cash flows.

m) Critical Accounting Estimates & Judgements
The director evaluates estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based
on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation or future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the Group.
Estimation of useful lives of assets
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges
for its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and
amortisation charge will increase where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or
written down.
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Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets
The Group tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
impairment, whether goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1.c and Note 1.d. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units (required to determine fair value less costs to sell)
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the current cost of capital and growth
rates of the estimated future cash flows.
n) Comparatives
As the Company has been incorporated on 23 August 2013, there are no comparatives figures
presented in these financial statements.
o) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory
for 30 June 2014 reporting periods. The Company has assessed these standards and determined
that they have negligible, if any, impact on the Company and its financial statements, thus they
have not been disclosed here.
2. Operating segments
Operating segments must be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the
Company that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate
resources to the segment and to assess its performance.
As a company, currently in its growth phase, the Board (the Company’s chief operating decision
maker) believe that, at 30 June 2014, there was only one business segment, the hair and beauty
division.
The revenue and results of this segment are those of the Company as a whole and are set out in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The segment assets and liabilities of this
segment are those of the Company and are set out in the statement of financial position.
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3. Revenue
Period from 26
August 2013 to
30 June 2014
$
Haircare Products

563,130

Skin & Beauty Products

91,009
654,139

4. Operating profit/(loss)

The following items have been included in arriving at the operating profit/(loss):

Period from 26
August 2013 to 30
June 2014
$
Gains on foreign exchange

4,137

5. Tax expense

(a) Income tax expense
Current tax
Deferred tax

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie
tax payable
Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense
Prima facie tax benefit at the Australian tax rate of 30%
Movements in unrecognised temporary differences
Tax effect of current period tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has
been recognised:
Income tax expense

Period from 26 August
2013 to 30 June 2014
$
-

(7,708)
(2,312)

2,312
-

Net deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as it is not probably within the immediate
future that tax profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences and tax losses
can be utilised.
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6. Auditor’s remuneration

During the period the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the
Company, its related practices and non-related audit firms:

Audit services
Somes Cooke – audit of financial report
7.

Period from 26
August 2013 to 30
June 2014
$
7,000

Inventory
30 June 2014
$
Finished goods (Leimo)

70,729

Finished goods (Stop and Pose)

27,201
97,930

8.

Intangible Assets
30 June 2014
$
Brand (Leimo)

209,988

Brand (Stop & Pose)

148,331
358,319

9.

Trade and other payables – current
30 June 2014
$
Trade payables

38,132

GST Payable

13,780

Other payables

47,165
99,077
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10.

Borrowings
30 June 2014
$

Related Party Loans (Note 15)

405,882

Other Borrowings

22,468
428,350

11.

Contributed equity
30 June 2014
$

Ordinary shares of $1 each

100
100

The holder of the ordinary shares is entitled to one vote per share at any meeting of the Company
whether in person or by proxy. The holder is entitled to receive dividends declared from available
profits and to the surplus of assets on a winding up.

12.

Commitments and contingencies

At 30 June 2014 the Company did not have any contingencies.
At 30 June 2014 the Company had no obligations under non-cancellable finance leases.

13.

Post balance sheet events

On 28 November 2014, the Company was acquired by InnovaDerma PLC, via a share for share
exchange.
On 9 April 2015, InnovaDerma PLC acquired the Leimo brands outright (which the Company had
previously acquired global distribution rights to) for the benefit of the new Group’s operations.
Other than as above disclosed, no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial
period which significant affected or could significantly affect the operations of the company, the results
of those operations or the state of affairs of the company in future financial years.
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14.

Cash flow information
Period from 26 August
2013 to 30 June 2014
$

Operating loss

(7,707)

(Increase) in trade and other receivables

(21,064)

(Increase) in inventory

(97,930)

Increase in trade and other payables

99,077

Net cash outflow from operations

(27,624)

Non-cash investing and financing activities
During the period, the Company acquired the Stop & Pose brand from Farris Marketing Concepts Pty
Ltd (see note 15) for $200,000. At the period end, the full amount of this balance was unpaid,
standing as a loan payable to Farris Marketing Concepts Pty Ltd (see Note 15).

15.

Related party transactions

Name

Transaction

Amount (paid)/
received in period
2014
$

Amount due from/(to)
related party
2014
$

Farris Marketing
Concepts Pty Ltd

Loan payable

6,308

(6,308)

Farris Marketing
Concepts Pty Ltd

Acquisition of
Stop & Pose
brand

(200,000)

(200,000)

Mr Haris Chaudhry

Loan payable

199,574

(199,574)

Nature of related parties
Farris Marketing Concepts Pty Ltd is a related party of Mr Haris Chaudhry, the Executive Chairman
and, as at 30 June 2014, sole owner of the Company.

Loan Terms
All loans listed above are unsecured and not subject to the charge of interest.
Transactions with related parties
All transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more
favourable than those available to other parties.
Key Management Personnel
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All transactions with key management personnel (the director) during the period 26 August 2013 to 30
June 2014 are disclosed below:
Salary
Haris Chaudhry

Superannuation
32,672

Consultancy
Fees

3,104

Total
-

35,776

During the period, there were no advances, credits or guarantees subsisting on behalf of the director.
16. Earnings per share

30 June 2014
Loss for the period

7,708

Weighted average number of shares in period

100

17. Financial risk management
The Company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and
payable & loans from related parties.
The Company’s financial instruments at 30 June 2014 were classified as follows:
Note

30 June 2014
$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

42,507

Trade and other receivables

21,064
63,571

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

9

99,077

Borrowings

10

428,350
527,427

Fair value versus carrying amounts

All items shown in the preceding table as either financial assets or financial liabilities are short term
instruments whose carrying value is equivalent to the fair value. There is not considered to be a
material difference between the fair value and the carrying value.

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management
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The Company’s activities expose it to a number of financial risks that include market risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk.
(a) Market Risk
i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Company does not hold any financial assets denominated in a foreign currency at the period
end, hence it is not experiencing to foreign exchange risk.
ii)

Interest rate risk

The Company had interest-bearing liabilities during the period, but is not exposed to interest rate
risk because the interest rates on their liabilities are set by private agreement, not by reference to
market rates. The Company does not have any liabilities to financial institutions as at 30 June 2014.
As such, sensitivity analysis with regard to movements in interest rates would not be meaningful.
(b) Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance of counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to financial losses to the Company.
Credit risk exposures
The Company had no significant concentrations of credit risk.
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Company might encounter difficulty in settling its debts
or otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Company manages this risk
through careful cash management policies. In order to meet its short term obligations, the Company
has the support of several key shareholders who are willing to provide funds to the Company on an
as-needed basis.
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
DIRECTOR’S DECLARATION
FOR THE PERIOD TO 30 JUNE 2014

In accordance with a resolution of the director of InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd, the director
declares that:
1. The financial statements and notes, as set out within this report, are in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 and:
a. Comply with Australian Accounting Standards, which, as stated in accounting policy
Note 1 to the financial statements, constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and
b. Give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of the
performance for the period ended on that date of the Company.
2. In the director’s opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be
able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Haris Chaudhry
Executive Director
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

The Board of Directors
InnovaDerma PLC
27 Old Gloucester Street
London
United Kingdom
WC1N 3AX
25 July 2016

Dear Sirs
We report on the financial information of your trading subsidiary, InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd, for
the period ended 30 June 2014, set out in 13.2 in the Prospectus. This financial information has been
prepared for inclusion in the Prospectus dated 25 July 2016 of InnovaDerma PLC on the basis of the
accounting policies set out in Note 1 to the financial information. This report is required by item 20.1 of
annex I of the Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 (the “PD Regulation”) and is given for the
purpose of complying with those items and for no other purpose.
Responsibilities
The Directors of InnovaDerma PLC are responsible for preparing the financial information on the basis
of preparation set out in Note 1 to the financial information.
It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the financial information and to report our opinion to you.
Save for any responsibility arising under Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) to any person as and to the extent
there provided and which we may have to those persons to whom this report is expressly addressed
and which we may have to shareholders of the Company as a result of the inclusion of this report in the
Prospectus, to the fullest extent permitted by the law we do not assume any responsibility and will not
accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a result of,
arising out of, or in connection with this report or our statement, required by and given solely for the
purposes of complying with item 23.1 of annex I of the PD Regulation consenting to its inclusion in the
Prospectus.
Basis of opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the Auditing
Practices Board in the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the
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amounts and disclosures in the financial information. It also included an assessment of significant
estimates and judgments made by those responsible for the preparation of the financial information and
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the entity’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that
the financial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity
or error.
Opinion on financial information
In our opinion, the financial information gives, for the purposes of the Prospectus, a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd as at 30 June 2014 and of its profits, cash flows
and changes in equity for the period then ended, in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in
note 1 and has been prepared in a form that is consistent with the accounting policies adopted in
InnovaDerma PLC’s most recent financial statements.
Declaration
For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) we are responsible for this report as part of the
Prospectus and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information contained
in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission
likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Prospectus in compliance with item 1.2 of
annex 1 of the Prospectus Regulation.
Yours faithfully

Somes Cooke

Nicholas Hollens
Audit Partner
25 July 2016
Perth
Western Australia
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13.3:
INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
ABN: 47 165 472 015

AUDITED HALF YEAR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014
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INNOVADERMA PLC
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd, the directors declare
that:

1.

The financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and:
a.

comply with Australian Accounting Standards which, as stated in accounting policy Note 1 to
the financial statements, constitutes explicit and unreserved compliance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS); and

b.

give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2014 and of
its performance for the six months ended on that date.

2.

In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Haris Chaudhry
Director

25 July 2016
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Note
Revenue

Period 26 August
2013 to 30 June
2014 (Audited)
$

400,172

654,139

Cost of sales

(127,367)

(195,282)

Gross profit

272,805

458,857

Marketing expenses

(280,730)

(201,823)

Administrative expenses

(290,239)

(250,279)

(977)

(14,462)

Operating (loss)/profit

(299,141)

(7,707)

(Loss)/profit before tax

(299,141)

(7,707)

-

-

Net (loss)/profit for the period
attributable to members of the
Company

(299,141)

(7,707)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

Total comprehensive
(loss)/profit for the period
attributable to members of the
Company

(299,141)

(7,707)

(2,991)

(70)

Other expenses

Tax expense

Basic & diluted (loss)/profit per
share

2

Period 1 July 2014 to
31 December 2014
(Audited)
$
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Note

31 December 2014
(Audited)
$

30 June 2014
(Audited)
$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

3

872,412

42,507

63,401

21,064

204,912

97,930

37,742

-

1,178,467

161,501

Other assets

2,642

-

Property, plant & equipment

5,986

-

449,681

358,319

458,309

358,319

1,636,776

519,820

Trade and other receivables
Inventory

4

Other assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets

Intangible assets

5

Total non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

6

427,231

99,077

Borrowings

7

1,515,663

428,350

Total current liabilities

1,942,894

527,427

Total liabilities

1,942,894

527,427

Net (liabilities)/assets

(306,118)

(7,607)

100

100

(306,218)

(7,707)

(306,118)

(7,607)

Equity
Shares
Accumulated losses
(Deficit in shareholders funds)/
Total equity and reserves

8
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE SIX MONTHS TO DECEMBER 2014

Ordinary
Share
Capital
$

Accumulated
Losses

Total Equity

$

$

100

(7,077)

(7,607)

Loss for the period

-

(299,141)

(299,141)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

(299,141)

(299,141)

Share issues

-

-

-

Total transactions with owners, in their
capacity as owners

-

-

-

100

(306,218)

(306,118)

Balance at 1 July 2014
Comprehensive income

Transactions with owners, in their capacity
as owners

Balance at 31 December 2014
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Ordinary
Share Capital
$

Accumulated
Losses
$

100

-

100

Loss for the period

-

(7,077)

(7,077)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

(7,077)

(7,077)

Share issues

-

-

-

Total transactions with owners, in their
capacity as owners

-

-

-

100

(7,077)

(7,607)

Balance at Incorporation (26 August 2013)

Total Equity
$

Comprehensive income

Transactions with owners, in their capacity
as owners

Balance at 30 June 2014
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Period from 1
July 2014 to 31
December 2014
(Audited)
$

Period from 26
August 2013 to 30
June 2014
(Audited)
$

364,576

611,197

(525,951)

(638,820)

1,611

-

(159,764)

(27,623)

(91,362)

(358,319)

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest income
Net cash used by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of intangibles
Purchase of property, plant & equipment

(6,183)

Net cash used by investing activities

(97,545)

(358,319)

Monies received from parent company

1,140,015

428,400

Repayment of related party borrowings

(52,752)

-

Net cash used by financing activities

1,087,263

428,400

829,954

42,458

42,458

-

872,412

42,458

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase/(decrease)in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
period
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INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
NOTES TO THE HALF YEAR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards
Board and International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board.
These financial statements are fully compliant with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
The accounting policies applied are identical to those applied for InnovaDerma PLC, the Company’s
new parent entity.
The Company is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting
Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are
presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have ben prepared on the accruals basis
and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of
selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities.
a) Income Tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the year is the tax payable on the current year’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associated operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the
reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the
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timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
b) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the
first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design
costs, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. Costs
of inventories include the transfer from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges
for purchases of raw materials.
c) Property, Plant & Equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight line method, on the following bases:
Plant & equipment

25-50%

d) Impairment of Assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
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other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

e) Intangibles other than Goodwill
Patents & Trademarks
Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and
licences acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Once utilisation commences, trademarks and licences have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate the cost of trademarks and licences over their estimated useful lives of 15 to 20 years.
f)

Employee Benefits
Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of
employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled.

g) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of
past events, for which it is probably that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow
can be reliably measured. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required
to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period.
h) Cash and cash equivalents
For statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.

Bank

overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

i)

Revenue and Other Income
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes.
The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Company’s activities, as described below. The Company bases its
estimate of return on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
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transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective
yield on the financial asset.
j)

Trade and Other Receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed
in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

k) Trade and Other Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the
end of the financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and
are paid on normal commercial terms.

l)

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan
to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the
fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

m) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the
GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of
the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
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investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority,
are presented as operating cash flows.
n) Comparative Figures
When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to
changes in presentation for the current financial year.
o) Critical Accounting Estimates & Judgements
Estimates – Impairment
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may
be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is
required, the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value in use cannot be
estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cashgenerating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are
recognised in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset unless
the asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease).
An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such a reversal is 201 recognised in profit or loss
unless the asset is carried at its revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a
revaluation increase. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to
allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over
its remaining useful life.
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p) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory
for 31 December 2014 reporting periods. The Company has assessed these standards and
determined that they have negligible, if any, impact on the Company and its financial statements,
thus they have not been disclosed here.

2. Revenue

Haircare Products

6 months
ended 31
December 2014
$

Period from 26
August 2013 to
30 June 2014
$

385,604

597,438

14,568

43,175

400,172

640,613

Skin & Beauty Products

3.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

a) Year end position
31 December
2014
$
Cash at bank

872,412

330 June 2014
$
42,458

Cash at bank is included as cash and cash equivalents in connection with the statement of cash flows.
When in overdraft, this balance is included in trade and other payables.
b) Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash outflow from operations
Half-year to 31
December 2014
$
(299,141)

Year to 30 June
2014
$
7,190
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-

(Increase)/decrease in Receivables & Prepayments

(33,985)

(29,416)

(Increase)/decrease in Current Other Assets

(37,359)

(282)

Operating (loss)/profit
Depreciation
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Increase/(decrease) in Payables

314,848

98,116

(Increase)/decrease in Inventory

(101,682)

(103,230)

(2,642)

-

(159,764)

(27,622)

(Increase)/decrease in Non-Current Other Assets
Net cash outflow from operations

4.

Inventory
31 December
2014
$
Finished goods (Leimo)
Finished goods (Stop and Pose)

5.

192,170

89,330

12,742

13,900

204,912

103,230

Intangible Assets
31 December
2014
$

6.

30 June 2014
$

30 June 2014
$

Goodwill

223,319

223,319

Intellectual Property

226,362

135,000

449,681

358,319

31 December
2014
$

30 June 2014
$

Trade and other payables – current

Trade payables (USD)

49,103

-

Trade payables (AUD)

283,478

98,116

Trade payables (GBP)

17,460

-

Other payables

77,190

-

427,281

98,116

203

7.

Borrowings
31 December
2014
$
Related Party Loans
Advance from InnovaDerma PLC

8.

30 June 2014
$

375,648

428,400

1,140,015

-

1,515,663

428,400

31 December
2014
$

30 June 2014
$

100

100

100

100

Contributed equity

Ordinary shares of $1 each

The holder of the ordinary shares is entitled to one vote per share at any meeting of the Company
whether in person or by proxy. The holder is entitled to receive dividends declared from available
profits and to the surplus of assets on a winding up.

204

INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF
INNOVADERMA AUS & NZ PTY LTD
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

The Board of Directors
InnovaDerma PLC
27 Old Gloucester Street
London
United Kingdom
WC1N 3AX
25 July 2016
Dear Sirs
We report on the financial information of your trading subsidiary, InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd, for
the half year ended 31 December 2014, set out in Part 13.3 in the Prospectus. This financial information
has been prepared for inclusion in the Prospectus dated 25 July 2016 of InnovaDerma PLC on the basis
of the accounting policies set out in Note 1 to the financial information. This report is required by item
20.1 of annex I of the Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 (the “PD Regulation”) and is given
for the purpose of complying with those items and for no other purpose.
Responsibilities
The Directors of InnovaDerma PLC are responsible for preparing the financial information on the basis
of preparation set out in Note 1 to the financial information.
It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the financial information and to report our opinion to you.
Save for any responsibility arising under Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) to any person as and to the extent
there provided and which we may have to those persons to whom this report is expressly addressed
and which we may have to shareholders of the Company as a result of the inclusion of this report in the
Prospectus, to the fullest extent permitted by the law we do not assume any responsibility and will not
accept any liability to any other person for any loss suffered by any such other person as a result of,
arising out of, or in connection with this report or our statement, required by and given solely for the
purposes of complying with item 23.1 of annex I of the PD Regulation consenting to its inclusion in the
Prospectus.
Basis of opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the Auditing
Practices Board in the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence relevant to the
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amounts and disclosures in the financial information. It also included an assessment of significant
estimates and judgments made by those responsible for the preparation of the financial information and
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the entity’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that
the financial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other irregularity
or error.
Opinion on financial information
In our opinion, the financial information gives, for the purposes of the Prospectus, a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd as at 31 December 2014 and of its profits, cash
flows and changes in equity for the half year then ended, in accordance with the basis of preparation
set out in note 1 and has been prepared in a form that is consistent with the accounting policies adopted
in InnovaDerma PLC’s most recent financial statements.
Declaration
For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f) we are responsible for this report as part of the
Prospectus and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information contained
in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission
likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Prospectus in compliance with item 1.2 of
annex 1 of the Prospectus Regulation.
Yours faithfully

Somes Cooke

Nicholas Hollens
Audit Partner
25 July 2016
Perth
Western Australia
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13.4:
INNOVADERMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE HALF YEAR
PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

207

INNOVADERMA PLC
DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

The directors of InnovaDerma PLC and its controlled entities (“the Group”) confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge:

a) The interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and
with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.
b) The consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position
as at 31 December 2015 and of its performance for the half year period ended on that date.
c) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable.

By order of the Board,

Haris Chaudhry
Executive Chairman
25 July 2016
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INNOVADERMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note

Half year
ended
31 December
2015
$

7

3,260,387

217,914

Cost of sales

(1,118,831)

(70,419)

Gross profit

2,141,556

147,495

(1,055,026)

(187,568)

(344,215)

(151,827)

(917)

(198)

(462,473)

-

-

(57,117)

Other expenses

(40,725)

(1,748)

Operating Profit/(Loss)

238,200

(250,963)

Profit/(Loss) before tax

238,200

(250,963)

-

-

238,200

(250,963)

238,200

(250,963)

0.02

(0.03)

Revenue

Marketing expenses
Administrative expenses
Depreciation expenses
Wages and salaries
Listing expenses

Tax expense

6

Net Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable
to members of the Company
Total comprehensive loss for the period
attributable to members of the Company

Basic & diluted Profit/(Loss) per share

25

Period from 19
September 2014
to 31 December
2014
$
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INNOVADERMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015
Note

31 December
2015
$

30 June
2015
$

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

8

316,601

212,618

Trade and other receivables

9

1,080,669

112,142

Inventory

10

645,813

341,794

-

69,411

2,043,083

735,965

15,592

16,509

3,427,879

3,418,479

10,258

3,298

Total non-current assets

3,453,729

3,438,286

Total assets

5,496,812

4,174,251

Other assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, Plant and Equipment
Intangible assets

11

Other assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

1,416,300

788,322

Borrowings

13

995,505

688,063

Total current liabilities

2,411,805

1,476,385

Total liabilities

2,411,805

1,476,385

Net assets

3,085,007

2,697,866

2,628,409

2,479,468

2,492,674

2,492,674

(1,308,057)

(1,308,057)

(7,707)

(7,707)

(720,312)
3,085,007

(958,512)
2,697,866

Equity
Shares

14

Share premium
Merger reserve

15

Foreign exchange reserve
Accumulated losses
Total equity and reserves

16
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INNOVADERMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Consolidated

Ordinary
Share Capital

Share
Premium

Merger
Reserve

$

$

$

Foreign
Exchange
Reserve
$

Accumulated
Losses

Total Equity

$

$

2,479,468

2,492,674

(1,308,057)

(7,707)

(958,512)

2,697,866

Profit for the period

-

-

-

-

238,200

238,200

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

-

-

-

238,200

238,200

148,941

-

-

-

-

148,941

148,941

-

-

-

-

-

2,628,409

2492,674

(1,308,057)

(7,707)

(720,312)

3,085,007

Balance 1 July 2015
Total Comprehensive income for the period

Transactions with owners as owners, recorded
directly as equity
Shares issued on exercise of convertible notes
Total transactions with owners, in their capacity
as owners

At 31 December 2015

INNOVADERMA PLC
211

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
Ordinary Share
Capital
$

Merger
Reserve
$

Accumulated
Losses
$

Total Equity
$

5

-

-

5

Loss for the period

-

-

(250,963)

(250,963)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

-

(250,963)

(250,963)

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners
Share for share exchange on acquisition of the
subsidiaries
Accumulated losses of subsidiaries at acquisition

1,399,519

(1,308,062)

-

91,457

-

-

(66,625)

(66,625)

Total transactions with owners, in their capacity as
owners

1,399,519

(1,308,062)

(66,625)

24,832

Balance at 31 December 2014

1,399,524

(1,308,062)

(317,588)

(226,126)

Balance on Incorporation (19 September 2014)
Comprehensive income
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INNOVADERMA PLC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
Half Year
Ended
31 December
2015
$

Period from 19
September 2014
to 31 December
2014
$

2,025,831

218,361

(2,414,598)

(261,717)

-

(57,117)

36,367

1,611

(352,400)

(98,862)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

-

(6,184)

Net cash received on acquisition of subsidiaries

-

32,766

Net cash used by investing activities

-

26,582

307,442

84,670

-

-

148,941

1,171,240

Transaction costs for shares issued

-

(311,218)

Net cash from financing activities

456,383

944,692

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

103,983

872,412

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

212,618

-

316,601

872,412

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Payments for corporate listing (non-repeating)
Interest received
Net cash used by operating activities

20

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from related parties
Repayments of borrowings
Proceeds from convertible notes

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

8

213

INNOVADERMA PLC
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note

31 December
2015
$

30 June
2015
$

Non-current assets
Intercompany receivable

1,105,510

1,157,379

50,175

50,175

Intangible assets

3,892,098

3,892,098

Total non-current assets

5,047,783

5,099,652

Total assets

5,047,783

5,099,652

30,689

14,363

-

127,510

Total current liabilities

30,689

141,873

Total liabilities

30,689

141,873

5,017,094

4,957,779

2,628,409

2,479,468

Share premium

2,492,674

2,492,674

Retained earnings
Total equity and reserves

(103,989)
5,017,094

(14,363)
4,957,779

Investment in subsidiaries

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Convertible notes

Net assets
Equity
Shares

14

In accordance with section 408 of the UK Companies Act 2006, the company is availing itself of the
exemption from presenting its individual statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
The company’s loss for the financial period as determined in accordance with IFRS’s is $89,626. The
company had no cashflow in the period, and therefore no cashflow statement has been prepared.
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INNOVADERMA PLC
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD 31 DECEMBER 2015
Ordinary
Share Capital
$

Share
Premium
$

Accumulated
Losses
$

Total Equity
$

2,479,468

2,492,674

(14,363)

4,957,779

Profit/(Loss) for the period

-

-

(89,626)

(89,626)

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

-

(89,626)

(89,626)

148,941

-

-

148,941

148,941

-

-

148,941

2,628,409

2,492,674

(103,989)

5,017,094

Balance 1 July 2015
Total Comprehensive income for the period

Transactions with owners as owners, recorded
directly as equity

Shares issued on exercise of convertible notes
Cost of shares issued
Total transactions with owners, in their capacity
as owners
At 31 December 2015
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INNOVADERMA PLC
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD 31 DECEMBER 2015

Ordinary
Share Capital
$

Retained
Earnings
$

Total Equity
$

-

-

-

Profit for the period

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

-

-

1,399,519

-

1,399,519

Total transactions with owners, in their
capacity as owners

1,399,519

-

1,399,519

Balance as at 31 December 2014

1,399,519

-

1,399,519

Opening balance on incorporation
Comprehensive income

Transactions with owners, in their capacity
as owners
Share for share exchange on acquisition of the
subsidiary
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INNOVADERMA PLC
PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD 31 DECEMBER 2015
Ordinary
Share Capital
$

Retained
Earnings
$

Total Equity
$

-

-

-

Profit for the period

-

-

-

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

-

-

Transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners
Share for share exchange on acquisition of the subsidiary

1,399,519

-

1,399,519

Total transactions with owners, in their capacity as owners

1,399,519

-

1,399,519

Balance as at 31 December 2014

1,399,519

-

1,399,519

Opening balance on incorporation
Comprehensive income
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INNOVADERMA PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
1. Accounting Policies

1.1

Basis of Preparation

The condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and with those
parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The condensed
consolidated financial statements are drawn up under the historical cost convention, except for the
revaluation of financial assets.
IFRS, issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) set out accounting policies that
the IASB has concluded would result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information
about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless
otherwise stated.
1.2

Going Concern

This report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuation of
normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal
course of business.
1.3

Principles of Consolidation

The condensed consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of
entities controlled by InnovaDerma PLC at 31 December 2015. A controlled entity is any entity over
which InnovaDerma PLC has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.
In preparing the condensed consolidated financial statements, all intragroup balances and transactions
between entities in the consolidated group have been eliminated in full on consolidation.
Pooling of Interests on Incorporation of Parent Entity
On 28 November 2014, InnovaDerma PLC acquired 100% of the shares of InnovaDerma AUS & NZ
Pty Ltd, InnovaDerma International Limited, InnovaDerma NZ Limited, and ID Philippines, Inc. As all
parties were under common control before and after the transaction, the acquisitions were scoped out
of IFRS 3, and thus accounted for using the pooling of interests method.
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Under this method the assets and liabilities of the acquiree are recorded at book value and intangible
assets and contingent liabilities are only recognised if they were previously recognised by the acquiree.
No goodwill is recorded and expenses of the combination are written off immediately in profit or loss.
The difference between the consideration paid/transferred and the nominal value of the share capital in
the acquired companies has been reflected as a Merger Reserve within equity.
After the acquisition, the consolidation is processed as normal, on a line by line basis for revenue,
expenses, assets and liabilities.
Subsequent Business Combinations
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses.
A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination
involving entities or businesses under common control. The business combination will be accounted for
from the date that control is attained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed is recognised (subject to certain limited exceptions).
When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement is also included. Subsequent to initial
recognition, contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
remeasured in each reporting period to fair value, recognising any change to fair value in profit or loss,
unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date.
All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations are expensed to the statement of
comprehensive income. The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain
from a bargain purchase.
Goodwill
Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the
excess of the sum of:
(i)

the consideration transferred;

(ii)

any non-controlling interest (determined under either the full goodwill or proportionate
interest method); and

(iii)

the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest;

over the acquisition date fair value of net identifiable assets acquired.
The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the
acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the investment in
the separate consolidated financial statements.
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Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of
associates is included in investments in associates.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units or
groups of cash-generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored being not
larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill related to the entity disposed of.
Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions and do not affect the carrying amounts of goodwill.

1.4 Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes. The
group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the group’s activities, as described below. The group bases its estimate of return on historical
results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.
Sales of goods – wholesale
The group manufactures and sells a range of health and beauty products in the wholesale market.
Sales of goods are recognised when a group entity has delivered products to the wholesaler, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the wholesaler’s acceptance of the products. Delivery does not occur until
the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the wholesaler, and either the wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed or the group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied. The life science products are often sold with volume
discounts; customers have a right to return faulty products in the wholesale market. Sales are recorded
based on the price specified in the sales contracts, net of the estimated volume discounts and returns
at the time of sale. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and provide for the discounts and
returns. The volume discounts are assessed based on anticipated annual purchases.

Internet revenue
Revenue from the provision of the sale of goods on the internet is recognised at the point that the risks
and rewards of the inventory have passed to the customer, which is the point of dispatch. Transactions
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are settled by credit or payment card. Provisions are made for internet credit notes based on the
expected level of returns, which in turn is based upon the historical rate of returns.
1.5

Finance income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield
on the financial asset.
1.6

Intangible Assets

Trademarks and licences
Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licences
acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Once utilisation
commences, trademarks and licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks
and licences over their estimated useful lives of 15 to 20 years.
Brands
Externally acquired brands, where identifiable, are capitalised as assets of the group. Brands are initially
capitalised at historical cost, or attributable value, when acquired as part of a business combination.
Brands have a limited legal life, however the Group monitors global expiry dates and renews
registrations where required. Brands recorded in the financial statements are not currently associated
with products which are likely to become commercially or technically obsolete. Accordingly, the
Directors are of the view that brands have an indefinite life.
Brands are tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment charges.
1.7

Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset
may be impaired. The assessment will include the consideration of external and internal sources of
information. If such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use, to the asset’s carrying amount. Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable
amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in
accordance with another Standard. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation
decrease in accordance with that other Standard.
1.8

Research and Development
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Expenditure during the research phase of a project is recognised as an expense when incurred.
Development costs are capitalised only when technical feasibility studies identify that the project is
expected to deliver future economic benefits and these benefits can be measured reliably.
Capitalised development costs have a finite useful life and are amortised on a systematic basis based
on the future economic benefits over the useful life of the project.
1.9

Cash & Cash Equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated balance sheet, bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities.
1.10 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the firstin, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design costs,
raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. Costs of inventories include
the transfer from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges for purchases of raw
materials.
1.11

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as noncurrent assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

1.12 Trade Payables
Trade and other payables are recognised when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments
resulting from the purchase of goods and services. They are initially recognised at fair value and
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subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Current liabilities represent
those amounts falling due within one year.
1.13 Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable and payable. The net
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with the receivables or payables
in the statement of financial position.
1.14 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.
1.15 Income Tax
Income tax expense or benefit represents the sum of current corporation tax payable and provision
for deferred income taxes.
Current income tax payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net
profit as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current corporation tax is calculated using tax rates and
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the period-end date.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at
the date of the statement of financial position where transactions or events have occurred at that
date that will result in an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay less or to receive more tax, with the
following exceptions:
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Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the Directors consider that it is probable that
there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences
can be deducted.
Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
periods in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the period-end date.
1.16

Post Retirement Benefits

For salaries paid (all by the Australian subsidiary):
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity. Superannuation – the Australian defined contribution pension scheme – is mandated
by Australian law and presently set at 9.5% of gross salary payable to an employee.
The group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory basis. The group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.
1.17 Foreign Currencies
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates (‘the functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group’s functional
and presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting date are translated at the exchange
rate existing at the reporting date. Exchange differences are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
1.18

Contributed Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
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Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options for the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part
of the purchase consideration.
If the Company reacquires its own equity instruments, e.g. as the result of a share buy-back, those
instruments are deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is
recognised in the profit or loss and the consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental
costs (net of income taxes) is recognise directly in equity.
1.19 Segment Reporting
Operating segments were reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the steering
committee that makes strategic decisions.
The directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation or future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the Group.
Estimation of useful lives of assets
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for
its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation
charge will increase where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.
Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets
The Group tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment,
whether goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance
with the accounting policies described in Note 1.6 and Note 1.7. The recoverable amounts of cashgenerating units (required to determine fair value less costs to sell) have been determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions, including estimated
discount rates based on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows.
1.20

New accounting standards for application in future periods
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(a) New and amended standards adopted by the group
There are no IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are effective for the first time for the financial period
beginning on 1 July 2014 that would be expected to have a material impact on the group.
(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated
financial statements. None of these is expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements
of the group, except the following set out below:
IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and October 2010. It replaces the
parts of IAS 39 that relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. IFRS 9
requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement categories:
1) those measured as at fair value and 2) those measured at amortised cost. The determination is
made at initial recognition.
The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing its financial instruments and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. For financial liabilities, the standard retains
most of the IAS 39 requirements. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken
for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in
other comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this creates an accounting
mismatch. The group is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact. The group will also consider the impact of
the remaining phases of IFRS 9 when completed by the Board.
2. Parent Information
Guarantees
InnovaDerma PLC has not entered into any guarantees, in the financial period, in relation of the debts
of its subsidiary.
Contingent Liabilities
At 31 December 2015, InnovaDerma PLC did not have any contingent liabilities.
Contractual Commitments
At 31 December 2015, InnovaDerma PLC had not entered into any contractual commitments.
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Consolidation of subsidiaries
Following the incorporation of InnovaDerma PLC, the following subsidiaries: InnovaDerma AUS and
NZ Pty Ltd, InnovaDerma International Limited, InnovaDerma NZ Limited, and ID Philippines, Inc were
acquired through a share for share exchange. The subsidiaries have been consolidated using the
pooling of interest method on the basis that the entities being combined were ultimately controlled by
the same party, both before and after the combination. Under this method the assets and liabilities of
the acquiree are recorded at book values and intangible assets and contingent liabilities are only
recognised if they were previously recognised by the acquiree. No goodwill is recorded and expenses
of the combination are immediately written off in the profit or loss.

Net Assets
Acquired
$
The carrying value of the subsidiaries’ net assets at the date of
combination were as follows:
InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd
InnovaDerma International Limited
InnovaDerma NZ Limited
ID Philippines Inc

(58,118)
-

The shares in InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd, InnovaDerma International Limited, InnovaDerma NZ
Limited, and ID Philippines, Inc were exchanged for 8,969,960 Ordinary Euro 0.10 shares in
InnovaDerma PLC.
3. Operating segments
Operating segments must be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the
consolidated entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to
allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance.
As a new group, currently in its growth phase, the Board (the group’s chief operating decision maker)
believe that, at 31 December 2015, there was only one business segment, the hair and beauty division.
The revenue and results of this segment are those of the consolidated entity as a whole and are set
out in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The segment assets and
liabilities of this segment are those of the consolidated entity and are set out in the statement of
financial position.

4. Operating profit/(loss)
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The following items have been included in arriving at the operating profit/(loss):

Gains on foreign exchange

Half year
ended
31 December
2015
$

Period from
19 September
2014 to
31 December
2014
$

35,851

1,748

80,667

42,329

-

13,000

Expenses:
Directors’ remuneration
Auditor’s remuneration
-

As auditors (for parent company and consolidation)

All remuneration payable to the auditors has been disclosed above. No other non-audit services have
been provided. No benefits in kind are payable to the auditors.
Contributions to superannuation (money purchase pension schemes) are made on behalf of one
director of the group.
5. Employees
Half year
ended 31
December
2015
$

Period from 19
September
2014 to 31
December 2014
$

462,473

33,262

462,473

33,262

Staff costs for the Group during the period:
Wages and salaries

The average monthly number of staff (including executive Directors) employed by the Group during
the period amounted to:
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Half year
ended 31
December
2015
$

Period from 19
September
2014 to 31
December 2014
$

Management staff

4

2

Other employees

21

19

25

21

6. Taxation
Half year
ended 30
December
2015
$

Period from 19
September
2014 to 31
December 2014
$

Current tax on profits in the period

-

-

Income Tax Expense

-

-

Current Tax

Factors affecting current tax charge
The effective rate of tax for the period is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of
20%. The differences are explained below:

Profit/(Loss) before taxation
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of tax in the UK
of 20%
Excluded (gain)/loss (incurred in foreign jurisdictions)
Losses carried forward
Total current tax

Half year

Period from 19

ended 31

September

December

2014 to 31

2015

December 2014

$

$

238,200

(250,963)

47,640

(50,193)

(67,688)

50,193

20,048

-

-

-
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7. Revenue
Half year
ended
31 December
2015
$

Period from 19
September 2014
to 31 December
2014
$

461,624

203,345

2,762,396

12,958

36,367

1,611

3,260,387

217,914

Haircare products
Skin & Beauty products
Interest income

8. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank

31 December
2015
$

30 June
2015
$

310,953

212,618

5,648

-

316,601

212,618

Undeposited funds

Cash at bank is included as cash and cash equivalents in connection with the statement of cash flows.
When in overdraft, this balance is included in trade and other payables.
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9. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables

31 December
2015
$

30 June
2015
$

1,080,669

112,142

1,080,669

112,142

31 December
2015
$

30 June
2015
$

410,539

248,532

4,428

10,886

230,846

82,376

645,813

341,794

31 December
2015
$

30 June
2015
$

431,515

444,202

2,794,024

2,794,024

148,331

148,331

54,009

31,922

3,427,879

3,418,479

10. Inventory

Finished goods (Leimo)
Finished goods (Stop and Pose)
Finished goods (Skinny Tan)

11. Intangible Assets

Brands (Skinny Tan)
Brands (Leimo)
Brands (Stop & Pose)
Development costs

12. Trade and other payables

Trade payables

31 December
2015
$
833,744

30 June
2015
$
687,608

Other payables

582,556

100,714

1,416,300

788,322
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13. Borrowings

Convertible notes
General borrowings

31 December
2015
$

30 June
2015
$

-

127,510

995,505

560,553

995,505

688,063

14. Contributed equity
31 December
2015
No. of shares
Shares at 1 July 2015
Shares issued on exercise of convertible notes

31Dec 2015
$

10,209,920

2,479,468

29,050

148,941

10,238,970

2,628,409

The holder of the ordinary shares is entitled to one vote per share at any meeting of the Company
whether in person or by proxy. The holder is entitled to receive dividends declared from available
profits and to the surplus of assets on a winding up.

15. Merger reserve
InnovaDerma PLC acquired 100% of the share capital of InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd,
InnovaDerma International Limited, InnovaDerma NZ Limited, and ID Philippines, Inc, on 28 November
2014.
These transactions are noted as being completed under common control – all companies involved in
the deal were controlled by Mr Haris Chaudhry before and after the transaction was processed.
This condition falls under a scope exemption for IFRS 3. Per IAS 8.12, the company may, in this
circumstance, utilise pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies that use a similar conceptual
framework to develop accounting standards.
As a UK company, the directors decided to apply UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, which
make provision for Pooling of Interests in a common control situation, also commonly referred to as
Merger Accounting.
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In this circumstance, the difference between the consideration transferred and the nominal value of
share capital acquired is taken to equity, creating a Merger Reserve.

28 November 2014 Acquisitions:

Consideration transferred (8,969,960)
Loss for the period

31 December
2015
$

30 June
2015
$

1,308,157

1,308,157

(100)

(100)

1,308,057

1,308,057

16. Accumulated losses

Opening balance
Acquisition of subsidiaries (pooling of interests)
Profit/(Loss) for the period
Balance carried forward

31 December
2015
$

30 June
2015
$

(958,512)

-

-

(58,218)

238,200

(900,294)

(720,312)

(958,512)

17. Investment in subsidiaries
During the previous financial year, the Company acquired interests in the following subsidiaries:

Company Name

Date of Acquisition
1

InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd
InnovaDerma International Limited
1
InnovaDerma NZ Limited
1
ID Philippines Inc
Bach Health Pty Ltd
InnovaScience Inc
Skinny Tan Pty Ltd
Skinny Tan UK Limited
1

1

28
28
28
28
23
31
28
28

November 2014
November 2014
November 2014
November 2014
January 2015
March 2015
May 2015
May 2015

Percentage Holding
(31December 2015)
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
80%
80%

Please see notes 1.3 and 15 for further detail on the method of accounting applied for the acquisitions.
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The results of these subsidiaries have been consolidated on a line by line basis into the consolidated
financial statements.

18. Related party transactions
As at 31 December 2015
Name

Transaction

Amount received from
/ (paid to) during the
half year period to 31
December 2015
$

Amount due
from/(to) related
party as
at 31 December 2015
$

Farris Marketing
Concepts Pty Ltd

Loan payable

1

-

(151,495)

Zaymar
Investments

Loan payable

1

571,886

(631,886)

Mr Haris Chaudhry

Loan payable

1

-

(173,757)

Loan payable

1

(25,000)

(25,000)

Mr Joe Bayer

As at 30 June 2015
Name

Transaction

Amount received
from / (paid to)
during the period
to 30 June 2015
$

1

Farris Marketing
Concepts Pty Ltd

Loan payable

Farris Marketing
Concepts Pty Ltd

Acquisition of
Stop & Pose
Brand

Zaymar
Investments

Loan payable

Mr Haris Chaudhry

Loan payable

1

Amount due
from/(to) related party
as
at 30 June 2015
$

151,495

(151,495)

(200,000)

-

1

60,000

(60,000)

1

173,757

(173,757)

These loans are interest free and unsecured.

Common control acquisition of subsidiaries
As more fully discussed in Note 15, InnovaDerma PLC acquired several subsidiaries via a share for
share exchange. These subsidiaries were majority controlled by Mr Haris Chaudhry, a director of
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InnovaDerma PLC; hence, the majority of shares issued for the acquisition were issued to Mr
Chaudhry.
Nature of related parties
Farris Marketing Concepts Pty Ltd and Zaymar Investments are related parties of Mr Haris Chaudhry,
the Executive Chairman.
Key Management Personnel
All transactions with key management personnel (the directors) during the half year period ended 31
December 2015 are disclosed below:

Salary
Haris Chaudhry

1

Joe Bayer

1

Superannuation

Consultancy Fees

Total

75,000

7,125

-

82,125

47,667

4,528

-

52,195

– Haris Chaudhry employment terms, as formalised by board resolution, specify a salary of $150,000

per year.
During the period, there were no advances, credits or guarantees subsisting on behalf of the directors.
19. Commitments and contingencies
At 31 December 2015 the Group did not have any contingencies.
At 31 December 2015 the Group had no obligations under non-cancellable finance leases.

20. Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash outflow from operations
Half year ended

Period from 19 September

31 December 2015
$

2014 to 31 December 2014
$

238,200

(250,963)

917

198

(Increase) in trade and other receivables

(968,527)

2,058

(Increase) in inventory

(304,019)

(67,009)

(Increase) in intangibles

(9,400)

(38,756)

Decrease in other assets

62,451

-

627,978

255,610

(352,400)

(98,862)

Operating profit/(loss)
Depreciation

Increase in trade and other payables
Net cash outflow from operations
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21. Financial risk management
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and
payable & loans from related parties.
The Group’s financial instruments at 31 December 2015 were classified as follows:
Note

Half year ended 31
December 2015
$

30 June
2015
$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

8

316,601

212,618

Trade and other receivables

9

1,080,669

112,412

1,397,270

325,030

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

1,416,300

788,322

Borrowings

13

995,505

688,063

2,411,805

1,476,385

Fair value versus carrying amounts
All items shown in the preceding table as either financial assets or financial liabilities are short term
instruments whose carrying value is equivalent to the fair value. There is not considered to be a
material difference between the fair value and the carrying value.
Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management
The Group’s activities expose it to a number of financial risks that include market risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk.
(a) Market Risk
i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s does not hold any material financial assets denominated in a foreign currency at the
period end, hence it is not exposed to foreign exchange risk.
ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group had interest-bearing liabilities during the period, but is not exposed to interest rate risk
because the interest rates on their liabilities are set by private agreement, not by reference to market
rates. The group does not have any liabilities to financial institutions as at 30 June 2015. As such,
sensitivity analysis with regard to movements in interest rates would not be meaningful.
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(b) Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance of counterparties of contract obligations that could lead to financial losses to the group.
Credit risk exposures
The Group had no significant concentrations of credit risk.
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or
otherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The group manages this risk through
careful cash management policies. In order to meet its short term obligations, the group has the
support of several key shareholders who are willing to provide funds to the group on an as-needed
basis.
For loans receivable and payable, please refer to Note 9 – Trade and Other Receivables, Note 12 –
Trade and Other Payables & Note 13 - Borrowings. Loans are unsecured and have no fixed repayment
date.
22. Share Based Payments
No share options have been granted to employees or directors.
23. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period.
The following reflects earnings and share data used in the earnings per share calculation.

Profit/(loss) for the year
Weighted average number of shares

Half year ended
31 December
2015
$

Period from 19
September to 31
December 2014
$

238,200

(250,963)

10,215,812

9,596,400

24. Subsequent Events
The directors are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period.
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25. Company Details

The registered office of InnovaDerma PLC is:
27 Old Gloucester Street
London
United Kingdom
WC1N 3AX
The principal place of business is:
Level 17, 31 Queen Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
Australia
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14.

InnovaDerma PLC Pro Forma
Financial Information

25 July 2016
The Directors
InnovaDerma PLC
27 Old Gloucester Street
London
WC1N 3AX
United Kingdom

Dear Sirs
InnovaDerma PLC
We report on the pro forma financial information (the ‘Pro forma financial information’) set out in Part
14 of the prospectus dated 25 July 2016, which has been prepared on the basis described in Part 14
of this prospectus, for illustrative purposes only, to provide information about how:
a) The acquisition of the assets of the PROS International Company Limited by InnovaDerma
PLC; and
b)

the acquisition of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd,

might have affected the financial information presented, on the basis of the accounting policies
adopted by the Group in preparing the financial statements for the period ending 30 June 2015. This
report is required by paragraph 20.2 of Annex I of the Prospectus Directive Regulation and is given for
the purpose of complying with that paragraph and for no other purpose.

Responsibilities
It is the responsibility of the directors of InnovaDerma PLC to prepare the Pro forma financial
information in accordance with paragraph 20.2 of Annex I of the Prospectus Directive Regulation. It is
our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by paragraph 7 of Annex II of the Prospectus
Directive Regulation, as to the proper compilation of the Pro forma financial information and to report
that opinion to you.
In providing this opinion, we are not updating or refreshing any reports or opinions previously made by
us on any financial information used in the compilation of the Pro Forma Financial Statements, nor do
we accept responsibility for such reports or opinions beyond that owed to those to whom those
reports or opinions were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.
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Basis of Opinion
We conducted our work in accordance with the Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the
Auditing Practices Board in the United Kingdom. The work that we performed for the purpose of
making this report, which involved no independent examination of any of the underlying financial
information, consisted primarily of comparing the unadjusted financial information with the source
documents, considering the evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the Pro forma
financial information with the directors of InnovaDerma PLC.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we considered
necessary in order to provide us with reasonable assurance that the Pro forma financial information
has been properly compiled on the basis stated and that such basis is consistent with the accounting
policies of InnovaDerma PLC.

Opinion
In our opinion:
- the Pro forma financial information has been properly compiled on the basis stated; and
- such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of InnovaDerma PLC.

Declaration
For the purposes of Prospectus Rule 5.5.3R (2)(f) we are responsible for this report as part of the
Prospectus and declare that we have taken all reasonable care to ensure that the information
contained in this report is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no
omission likely to affect its import. This declaration is included in the Prospectus in compliance with
paragraph 1.2 of Annex I of the Prospectus Directive Regulation.

Yours faithfully
KSI (WA)
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Pro Forma Financial Information
The unaudited pro forma Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income set out below
have been prepared to illustrate the effects of:
a) The acquisition of the assets of PROS International Company Limited, and
b) The acquisition of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd
on the financial performance of the Group.
The assets of the PROS International Company Limited are considered to include intellectual property
assets for the Leimo treatment, including patents, clinical test results, trademarks and know-how, as
described in Section 15.4.1.
For the purposes of the pro-forma Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, the
th

transactions are treated as though they occurred on the first day of the period shown (19 September
2014), to show the effect of the acquisitions on the financial activity of InnovaDerma PLC.
No pro-forma Statement of Financial Position has been prepared as both transactions occurred before
the 30 June 2015 reporting date for InnovaDerma PLC, and hence their effect is already shown in the
30 June 2015 Statement of Financial Position.
The pro forma financial statements are based on the audited historical financial information of
InnovaDerma PLC for the period 19 September 2014 to 30 June 2015 and have been prepared in a
manner consistent with the accounting policies applied by the Group in preparing the audited historical
financial information.
The unaudited pro forma Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income has been
prepared for illustrative purposes only, and by its nature addresses a hypothetical situation and,
therefore, does not reflect the Group’s actual financial results. The unaudited consolidated pro forma
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income has been compiled on the basis set out
in the notes below and in accordance with the requirements of item 20.2 of Annex I and items 1 to 6 of
Annex II to the Prospectus Rules. No account has been taken of any results or other activity since 30
June 2015.
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Unaudited pro forma Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income for the period 19 September 2014 to 30 June 2015
Historical P&L
for the period
from 19
September
2014 to 30
June 2015
(Audited)

Pro forma
adjustment
for
acquisition
of assets of
PROS
International
Company
Limited

Pro forma
adjustment
for Skinny
Tan Pty Ltd
results 19
September
2014 – 28
May 2015

Pro forma
adjustment
for Skinny
Tan Pty
Ltd
acquisition
costs

Pro forma
adjustments
for
consolidation
of Skinny
Tan Pty Ltd

$

$

4

5

Pro forma
P&L for the
period from
19 September
2014 to 30
June 2015

$
$

Note references

1.a)

$

$

1.b), 2

1.c), 3

Revenue

1,047,651

-

402,578

-

-

1,450,229

Cost of sales

(345,733)

-

(325,002)

-

-

(670,735)

Gross profit

701,918

-

77,576

-

-

779,494

Marketing expenses

(849,347)

-

(36,857)

-

-

(886,204)

Administrative
expenses

(431,862)

-

(110,846)

-

-

(542,708)

Depreciation
expense

(184,947)

-

-

-

-

(184,947)

Listing expenses

(136,056)

-

-

-

-

(136,056)

Operating loss

(900,294)

-

(70,127)

-

-

(970,421)

Loss before tax

(900,294)

-

(70,127)

-

-

(970,421)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(900,294)

-

(70,127)

-

-

(970,421)

(7,707)

-

-

-

-

(7,707)

Total
comprehensive
income for the
period attributable
to members of the
Company

(908,001)

-

(70,127)

-

-

(978,128)

Basic & diluted loss
per share

(0.12)

-

(70)

-

-

(0.13)

Tax expense
Net loss for the
period attributable
to members of the
Company

Other
comprehensive
income
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Notes to the Pro Forma Financial Statement
1) Sources of Financial Information
a) The first column of the pro-forma Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income for InnovaDerma PLC is extracted from the financial statements of InnovaDerma
PLC for the period 19 September 2014 to 30 June 2015, included in Part 13.1 of this
Prospectus.
The 30 June 2015 financial statements of InnovaDerma PLC included the financial results
of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd from 28 May 2015 (the date of acquisition) through to 30 June 2015.

b) The second column in the pro-forma Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income shows the adjustments for the acquisition of the assets of PROS International
Company Limited. Please see Note 2 for the calculation of these adjustments, based on
the contract for acquisition between InnovaDerma PLC and PROS International Company
Limited.
c) The third column in the pro-forma Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income shows the adjustments for the acquisition of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd, as though it had
occurred at the start of the accounting period – its performance for the period 19 September
2014 through 28 May 2015. These figures for Skinny Tan Pty Ltd have been extracted on
an accruals basis from the internal financial records of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd.
As noted under 1.a), the financial performance of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd between 28 May 2015
and 30 June 2015 is already included in the consolidated financial results of InnovaDerma
PLC, as audited (first column).
2) The second column presented reflect the acquisition of the assets of PROS International
Company Limited by InnovaDerma PLC – the transfer of 626,400 shares in exchange for
intangible assets in the form of intellectual property and patents relating to the Leimo brand.
These assets will form a cornerstone of the Group’s future product range and associated sales
growth.
3) There are no adjustments arising to the Profit and Loss from the transaction described in Note
2 because the transaction was an equity issue only, and the sole item acquired was an
intangible asset – the Leimo brand. As such, there are no profit and loss transactions or effects
to document.
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4) The third column presented shows the adjustments reflecting the acquisition of 100% of the
ordinary share capital of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd by InnovaDerma PLC, accounted for as though
the acquisition had occurred on 19 September 2014 – the first day of the accounting period of
InnovaDerma PLC.
This column only shows activity of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd up to 28 May 2015. On that date,
InnovaDerma PLC acquired the company; its results after that date have been included in the
consolidated financial results of InnovaDerma PLC, as audited (first column).
All adjustments to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income are
expected to have a continuing impact, as they reflect the ongoing trade of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd.
5) There are no costs for the acquisition for Skinny Tan Pty Ltd which affect the Statement of Profit
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income; hence there are no adjustments in the fourth
column.
6) There are no consolidation adjustments arising from the inclusion of the activity of Skinny Tan
Pty Ltd for the period 19 September 2014 – 28 May 2015; hence there are no adjustments in
the fifth column.
7) This pro forma Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income do not constitute
financial statements within the meaning of section 434 of the Companies Act 2006.

8) No adjustment has been made to reflect the trading results of the Group, or Skinny Tan Pty Ltd,
since 30 June 2015 or any other change in its financial position in that period.

9) The transaction executed by InnovaDerma PLC on 28 May 2015 was to acquire 100% of the
share capital of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd. After six months of trading, on 1 December 2015, InnovaDerma
PLC transferred 20% of the shares in Skinny Tan Pty Ltd to third parties. This transfer reduced
InnovaDerma PLC’s voting rights in Skinny Tan Pty Ltd to 80%. From an accounting perspective, this
has no effect on the presentation of the InnovaDerma PLC’s consolidated trading results.
InnovaDerma PLC retains control of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd (control requires greater than 50% of the
voting rights in a subsidiary), and hence can include 100% of the subsidiary’s trading results in the
InnovaDerma PLC consolidated profit and loss. Please note, this share transfer also has no impact on
the above presented pro-forma document.
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15. Dividend Policy and Legal Proceedings
15.1 Dividend Policy
15.1.1

The Issuer has no dividend policy at the submission date of this
document. The Board will determine what, if any, dividends are to be
distributed to shareholders from time to time taking into account the
profitability and strategic direction of the Issuer, and such other matters as
the Board may consider relevant. The Board has no restrictions on its
ability to determine a dividend policy.

15.1.2

No dividends have been paid by the Issuer as of the submission date of
this document.

15.2 Legal and Arbitration Proceedings
15.2.1

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such
proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware),
during a period covering at least the 12 months preceding the date of this
Prospectus which may have, or have had in the recent past, significant effects
on the Issuer's and/or the InnovaDerma Group's financial position or
profitability.
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16. Additional Information
16.1 Share Capital
16.1.1

Share Capital

31 December

31

2015

December

No. Securities

2015
$

Ordinary shares of £1 issued on
incorporation
Ordinary shares of £0.05 issued
to acquire subsidiaries
Ordinary shares of £0.05 issued
to complete brand acquisition
1:10 shares split (original
incorporation shares)
Ordinary shares of £0.05 issued
on exercise of convertible notes
Share issue costs

4

5

8,969,960

1,308,157

626,400

91,362

36

-

642,570

1,540,103

-

(311,218)

10,238,970

2,628,409

The Issuer was incorporated as InnovaDerma PLC in England and Wales on 19
September 2014. The principal legislation under which the Issuer operates is
the Companies Act 2006, to the extent in force, and regulations made
thereunder. The liability of the members is limited. The Issuer complies with its
obligations required by English law or by any regulatory authority. The Issuers
shares comply with English law, and are duly authorised by the Issuer’s
constitution. The current authorised share capital of the Issuer is 10,238,970. All
of the Issuers Existing shares are fully paid.
Providing the offer is fully subscribed the expected share capital of the Issuer
will be 12,238,970.
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The Issuers shares are fully paid and free from all liens and free any restriction
on the right of transfer (except general restrictions applicable to all imposed for a
failure to comply with a notice under section 793 of the Companies Act 2006.)

16.2 History of Share Capital
16.2.1

The share capital of the Issuer was finalised shortly after the company was
incorporated and has only been subject to a single change since that time. In
particular the Issuer converted a number of convertible notes into Shares in the
Issuer on 21 March 2015 which resulted in the issue of an additional 613,520
Shares to the holders of those convertible notes.
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16.3 Articles of Association

16.3.1

The Articles of Association of the Issuer are available for inspection at the
registered office of the Issuer.
Significant provisions of the Articles of Association include the following:
Provisions regarding directors and managers of the Issuer
The number of directors must be at least two and may not exceed 10; and
Directors may be appointed by the Directors or by an ordinary resolution at a
meeting of the members. Directors are not required to retire by rotation at any
annual general meeting or general meeting of the Company.
The Directors have full authority to conduct the affairs of the Issuer in
compliance with the
provisions of the Articles of Association. The members of the Issuer may direct
the Directors
to take or refrain from taking certain action. However, such special resolution
does not
invalidate any action already taken by one or more Directors.
Decisions of the Directors are to be taken at a Directors meeting or in the form
of a written
resolution; and the Directors may delegate certain powers to other parties as
they see fit,
including one or more of the Directors.
The Directors may appoint local boards or management groups to manage the
affairs of the Issuer, and this would include appointing the board of any wholly
owned subsidiary.
Existing share rights, preferences and restrictions
Your attention is drawn to the risks outlined in Section 2.2 of this Prospectus,
especially in relation to the limitation on the rights of electronic shareholders,
whose shares are held by the UK Custodian.
Subject to limitations of electronic trading platforms and custodian
arrangements, each
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shareholder of the Issuer who has fully paid Shares has the following rights as
determined by
the Articles of Association and the laws of England and Wales:
(a) Right to attend and speak at a general meeting;
(b) Right to vote at a meeting of members;
(c) Right to receive dividends.
The Issuer has only issued ordinary shares, and as such there are no
preferences or
restrictions that distinguish the shares in the company.
Conditions governing shareholder meetings
The following should be read in conjunction with each of the sections relating to
CREST and the resultant variation of shareholder rights, including Sections
5.1.2.5 to 5.1.1.6 of this Prospectus.
Subject to some specific cases where notice periods may vary including
provisions of the Act
which require “special notice”, the Directors may call a general or extraordinary
meeting to
obtain a vote of the members in the following circumstances with the requisite
amount of
notice:
(a) for an annual general meeting at least 21 days’ notice;
(b) for any other general meeting other than an adjourned meeting, the
directors must give
shareholders at least 14 days’ notice.
In the case where there are less than 2 directors, or one or more of the
directors are unable
or unwilling to call a meeting of members, 2 members may call such a meeting
for the
purpose of appointing one or more directors.
To attend and vote at a meeting of members, a shareholder must:
(a) be a “Qualifying Person”, who is defined as “an individual who is a Member,
or a person
authorised under section 323 of Companies Act 2006 to act as a representative
of a
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Member (such Member being a corporation) in relation to a meeting, or a
person
appointed as proxy of a Member in relation to a meeting”; and
(b) not have any amounts owing to the Issuer.
Change of control provisions – City Code on Takeovers and Mergers
In addition to the Articles and associated resolutions which determine how a
change of control may happen, as a public company incorporated and
registered in England and Wales and with its place of central management and
control in the UK, the Issuer is currently subject to the provisions of the City
Code on Takeovers and Mergers (Takeover Code) issued and
administered by the UK panel on Takeovers and Mergers (Takeover Panel).
The Takeover Code contains certain provisions concerning mandatory takeover
bids. Under Rule 9 of the Takeover Code, if any person (with its concert
parties) acquires an interest in
the Shares carrying 30% or more of the voting rights in a company, the acquirer
and its
concert parties would be required, except with the consent of the Takeover
Panel, to make a
cash offer for the remaining shares in the company at a price not less than the
highest price
paid by the acquirer or any of its concert parties during the previous 12 months.
A cash offer
would also be required if a person (with its concert parties) holding shares
carrying between
30% and 50% of the voting rights in a company increases its percentage
interest in the total
voting rights in the company.
Disclosure of shareholding provisions
A member is not required to notify the Issuer of the percentage of voting rights
in the Issuer held by that member unless required to do so by the rules of any
stock exchange, equity market or other similar organisation on which the Issuer
has any of its securities listed or under any applicable law, enactment or
regulation.

16.3.2 The Issuer is not subject to any specific purposes or objects which would limit
the scope of its activities or power to act.
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16.4 Material Contracts
16.4.1

The Issuer has entered into the following material contracts:
Leimo Distribution
This agreement was entered into on 30 October 2013 with PROS International
Company Limited (a Korean entity) and granted the InnovaDerma ANZ the
exclusive right to import, promote, market and sell the Leimo product range in
Australia and New Zealand. Since the acquisition of the intellectual property
underlying the Leimo Business on 23 July 2014 (see contract below), as formalised
on 9 April 2015 after the last condition to transfer was satisfied, this distribution
agreement became redundant and was terminated.
Leimo IP Agreement
On 23 July 2014 the Issuer agreed to purchase assets from PROS International
Company Limited (a Korean entity) consisting of intellectual property assets for the
Leimo treatment, including patents, clinical test results, trademarks and know-how.
The purchase price for those assets was US$2,000,000 payable in Shares in the
Issuer with the price of the Shares fixed as the issue price of the Shares on the
first listing date of the Company. The Shares constituting the purchase price were
to be issued to PROS International Company Limited within seven days of the
listing of the Issuer. That transfer was completed on 9 April 2015.
Skinny Tan Share Sale Agreement
On 17 June 2015 InnovaDerma PLC executed a Share Sale Agreement with the
shareholders of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd (an Australian entity) to acquire 100 per cent
of the issued capital in Skinny Tan Pty Ltd. The purchase price for the shares was
$50,000. The transaction was completed on 29 May 2015 (it should be noted that
on 1 December 2015 the Issuer disposed of 20% of its holding in Skinny Tan to
third parties, and accordingly the Issuer now owns 80% of the issued share
capital).
Related Party Loan Agreements
As at the date of this Prospectus the related party loan agreements entered into
with the Issuer are as set out below:
Haris Chaudhry is a director of the Issuer and controls a major shareholder of the
Issuer. Working capital finance has from time to time been provided by Haris
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Chaudhry totalling $78,088 as at the date of this Prospectus. The total amount of
the loan is unsecured, there is no interest payable, there is no term on the loan
amount, and the loan is repayable on demand.

Zaymar Investments Pty Ltd is a related entity of Haris Chaudhry, a director of
the Issuer. Zaymar Investments Pty Ltd is a major shareholder of the Issuer. It
has advanced $631,866 to the Issuer. The total amount of the loan is unsecured,
and there is no interest payable.
Farris Marketing Concepts Pty Ltd is a related entity of Haris Chaudhry, a
director of the Issuer. Farris Marketing Concepts Pty Ltd has advanced
$151,495 to the Issuer. The total amount of the loan is unsecured, there is no
interest payable, there is no term on the loan amount, and the loan is repayable
on demand.

Mr Joseph Bayer Agreement
Mr Joseph Bayer is a director of the Issuer. The amount advanced by Mr Joseph
Bayer is AUS $25,000 on 1 November 2015.
The total amount of the loans is $25,000 unsecured;
There is no interest payable;
There is no term of the loan amount; and
The loan is repayable on demand.

16.5 Third Party Information and Statement by Experts and Declarations of
Interests
16.5.1
KSI(WA) – the Issuer’s UK Auditors – have given and not withdrawn consent to
the inclusion in this Prospectus of their report on the pro forma financial
information of the issuer, taking account of the acquisition of the assets of the
PROS International Company Limited, and the acquisition of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd,
by InnovaDerma PLC. KSI (WA) has given and not withdrawn this consent,
including for references to the report in the form and context in which they
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appear, and has authorised use of the contents of that report for the purpose of
the Prospectus Rules.
Somes Cooke – the Issuer’s Australian Auditors – have given and not withdrawn
consent to the inclusion in this Prospectus of the audited financial statements of
InnovaDerma AUS & NZ Pty Ltd for the period 26 August 2013 through 30 June
2014, and for the inclusion of the audited financial statements for InnovaDerma
AUS & NZ Pty Ltd for the period 1 July 2014 through 31 December 2014.
Somes Cooke has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion in
this prospectus of the reports in the form and context in which they appear, and
has authorised use of the contents of those reports for the purpose of this
Prospectus as comprise Somes Cooke InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd for the
period 26 August 2013 through 30 June 2014; and InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty
Ltd for the half-year to 31 December 2014 reports on the company for the
purpose of Rule 5.5.3R(2)(f).KSI(WA), whose details are set out in section 3, is
responsible for the financial information included in section 14 of this
Prospectus: the accountants’ report on the pro forma financial statement
regarding the acquisition of the assets of PROS International Company Limited
by InnovaDerma PLC on 9 April 2015 and the acquisition of Skinny Tan Pty Ltd
on 29 May 2015. It is the responsibility of KSI(WA) to form an opinion, as
required by paragraph 7 of Annex II of the Prospectus Directive Regulation, as
to the proper compilation of the pro-forma financial information and to report that
opinion to the company. To the best of its knowledge (having taken all
reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in
these parts of this Prospectus for which it is responsible is in accordance with
the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import.
Somes Cooke is responsible for their opinion on the financial information
included in section 13.2 of this Prospectus: the audited financial statements for
InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd for the period 26 August 2013 through 30 June
2014; and in section 13.3 of this Prospectus: the audited financial statements for
InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd for the half-year to 31 December 2014. To the
best of its knowledge (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is
the case), the information contained in these parts of this Prospectus for which it
is responsible is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to
affect its import.

16.5.2

Where information contained in this document originates from a third party
source, it is identified where it appears in this document together with the name
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of its source. Such third party information has been accurately reproduced and,
so far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published
by the relevant third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the
reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

16.6 Documents on Display
16.6.1

For the period that the Offer under this Prospectus remains open, the following
documents (or
copies thereof) will be available for inspection

at the Issuer's registered

office:
(a) The memorandum and articles of association of the Issuer;
(b) All reports, letters and other documents, historical financial information,
valuations and
statements prepared by any expert at the Issuer’s request, and any part of
which is
included or referred to in this Prospectus, if any; and
(c) The historical financial information of the Issuer, InnovaDerma ANZ and the
InnovaDerma Group.
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17. Definitions
Act means the Companies Act 2006 and the Companies Act 1985 (as amended) and to the
extent in force.
AMF means the Autorité Des Marchés Financiers (the French Financial Market Authority)
Application Form means the application form which accompanies this Prospectus.
Board means the board of directors of the Issuer.
Business Hours means 9am to 5pm Monday to Friday in London, but excluding any public
holidays, bank holidays or other official holidays of a similar nature.
Company means InnovaDerma PLC, UK Company Number 9226823.
Corporate Directory means the information contained in the table in section 3 of this
Prospectus.
Corporate Governance Code means the UK Corporate Governance Code published by the
Financial Reporting Council.
Directors or Board means the directors of the Issuer at the date of this Prospectus, whose
names are set out in Section 8.
Euroclear means the real time gross settlement system and central securities depository for
France operated by Euroclear Bank SA/NV, a Belgian incorporated company.
FCA means the UK Financial Conduct Authority.
French Custodian means the entity that holds the registered title to the Shares on behalf of
Euroclear.
FSMA means the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended from time to time.
Group means the InnovaDerma Group.
GXG Main Quote means the GXG Main Quote multilateral trading facility operated by GXG
Global Exchange Group under supervision of the Danish Supervisory Authority,
Finanstilsynet, and a trading facility which ceased operation on 18 August 2015.
IFRS means the International Financial Reporting Standards.
InnovaDerma ANZ means InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd, Australian Coy No 165 472 015.
InnovaDerma Business means the business operated by the InnovaDerma Group.
InnovaDerma Group means and includes: InnovaDerma PLC (UK Coy No 9226823),
InnovaDerma Aus & NZ Pty Ltd (Australian Coy No 165 472 015), InnovaDerma NZ Ltd (NZ
Coy No 5056800), InnovaDerma Philippines Inc (Philippine Coy No CS201434020),
InnovaDerma UK Limited (UK Coy No 9028508), and Skinny Tan Pty Ltd (Australian Coy No
156 002 103)
InnovaDerma PLC means InnovaDerma PLC (UK Coy No 9226823), a public company
limited by shares and incorporated in England and Wales, whose registered address is 27
Old Gloucester Street, London WC1N 3AX England.
ISIN means the international securities identification number.
Issuer means InnovaDerma PLC, UK Coy No 9226823.
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Leimo means the Leimo hair-loss treatment system for ‘at home’ treatment of male and
female hair-loss consisting of the following products:
-

Leimo Therapy

-

Leimo Thickening Conditioner

-

Leimo Vitality Shampoo

-

Leimo Instant Hair

-

Leimo Personal Hair Laser

-

Scalp and Body Exfoliating Spa

Leimo Business means the Leimo marketing and sales business acquired from Brand
Nation Group Pty Ltd on 31 August 2013 and operated by InnovaDerma ANZ since that time.
Marché Libre means the multilateral trading facility operated by Euronext Paris SA.
Offer means the offer of Shares contained in this Prospectus.
Offer Close Date is the date described as such in the Offer for Subscription table on page 4
of this prospectus.
Offer Open Date is the date described as such in the Offer for Subscription table on page 4
of this Prospectus.
Offer Price is the price described as such in the Offer for Subscription table on page 4 of this
Prospectus.
Offer Proceeds means any funds raised through issue of Shares pursuant to the Offer.
Offer Shares means the Shares available under the Offer.
Offer Size means the number of Ordinary Shares to be sold pursuant to the Offer.
Offer Size Range means the range within which the Offer Size is currently expected to be
set, being between 666,667 Ordinary Shares and 2,000,000 Ordinary Shares.

Pollogen means Pollogen Ltd, an Israeli company, of 6 Kaufman St., Tel-Aviv, Israel.
Pounds or £ or Pounds Sterling means the lawful currency of the UK.
Price Range means the range within which the Offer Price is currently expected to be set,
being between 150 pence to 450 pence per Ordinary Share.
Pricing Statement means the statement expected to be published by the Company on or
around 31 August 2016, in which the Offer Price and the Offer Size will be announced.
Proceeds means the application monies received by the Issuer in relation to an application
which is accepted by the Issuer.
Prospectus Date means the date as set out on p.2 of this Prospectus.
Prospectus Rules means the prospectus rules issued by the Financial Conduct Authority
pursuant to Part VI of FSMA.
Receiving Agent means the entity described as such in the Corporate Directory.
Share or Shares means an ordinary share or shares in the Issuer as the context requires.
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Shareholder means a holder of Shares in the Issuer as at the date of issue of the
Prospectus.
Skinny Tan Business means the business operated by Skinny Tan Pty Ltd, ACN 156 002
103
Takeover Code means the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers.
UK means the United Kingdom.
UK Companies Act means the UK Companies Act 2006 as amended from time to time.
Website means http://www.innovadermaplc.com
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